

Microscopic Simulations of Electrochemical Double-Layer Capacitors

Guillaume Jeanmairet, Benjamin Rotenberg, Mathieu Salanne

▶ To cite this version:

Guillaume Jeanmairet, Benjamin Rotenberg, Mathieu Salanne. Microscopic Simulations of Electrochemical Double-Layer Capacitors. Chemical Reviews, 2022, 122 (12), pp.10860 - 10898. 10.1021/acs.chemrev.1c00925. hal-03701462

HAL Id: hal-03701462 https://hal.sorbonne-universite.fr/hal-03701462v1

Submitted on 22 Jun2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



pubs.acs.org/CR

Microscopic Simulations of Electrochemical Double-Layer Capacitors

Guillaume Jeanmairet,* Benjamin Rotenberg,* and Mathieu Salanne*

-						
	Cite Th	is: Chem.	Rev.	2022.	122.	10860-10898
~						



ACCESS | |III Metrics & More

ABSTRACT: Electrochemical double-layer capacitors (EDLCs) are devices allowing the storage or production of electricity. They function through the adsorption of ions from an electrolyte on high-surface-area electrodes and are characterized by short charging/ discharging times and long cycle-life compared to batteries. Microscopic simulations are now widely used to characterize the structural, dynamical, and adsorption properties of these devices, complementing electrochemical experiments and *in situ* spectroscopic analyses. In this review, we discuss the main families of simulation methods that have been developed and their application to the main family of EDLCs, which include nanoporous carbon electrodes. We focus on the adsorption of organic ions for electricity storage applications as well as aqueous systems in the context of blue energy harvesting and desalination. We finally provide perspectives for further improvement of the predictive power of simulations, in particular for future devices with complex electrode compositions.



Article Recommendations

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	10860
2. Molecular-Scale Simulation Methods for Capaci-	10060
tors	10862
Explicit Molecules	10863
2.2. Classical Density Functional Theory for the	
EDL	10863
2.3. Force Fields for Supercapacitor Electrolytes	10864
2.4. Modeling the Correct Electrode Structure	10864
2.5. Simulating Systems under Electrochemical	
Conditions	10866
2.6. Interfacial Capacitance	10869
3. The Electrochemical Double Layer beyond Dilute	
Electrolytes	10870
3.1. The Kornyshev Paradigm Shift	10870
3.2. From a Double-Layer to a Multilayer Picture	10870
3.3. Two-Dimensional Structural Transitions	10872
4. Molecular Origin(s) of Supercapacitive Effects	10874
4.1. An Anomalous Increase of the Capacitance	10874
4.2. Ion Layering Inside Nanotubes and Nano-	
metric Slit-Pores and Curvature Effects	10874
4.3. Mechanisms for Charging Nanopores	10876
4.4. Ionic Interactions Across Pores	10876
4.5. Beyond Pore Size Effects	10878
4.6. Effect of the Electrolyte on the Capacitance	10879
5. Blue Energy Harvesting and Water Desalination	
Using Capacitors	10880
5.1. Capacitive Mixing and Capacitive Deion-	
ization	10880
5.2. Challenges for Modeling	10881

5.3. Molecular Dynamics	10882
5.4. Density Functional Theory	10882
6. Dynamical Processes in Supercapacitors	10883
6.1. Continuous Models	10884
6.2. Time-Dependent cDFT	10885
6.3. Molecular Dynamics	10885
7. Concluding Remarks	10887
Author Information	10888
Corresponding Authors	10888
Notes	10888
Biographies	10888
Acknowledgments	10889
Abbreviations	10889
References	10889

1. INTRODUCTION

Spurred by the need for mobile electric power sources, electrochemical energy storage devices have become increasingly important over the past decades. They were required for the development of portable electronics (smartphones, laptops, etc.) and are now expected to play a pivotal role in the energy transition. By efficiently powering electric vehicles they mitigate the use of gasoline. They may also be used in stationary

Special Issue: Computational Electrochemistry

Received: November 3, 2021 Published: April 7, 2022





applications, by buffering the integration of renewable electricity sources, which are intermittent by nature, in the power grid. The most important family of devices is the Li-ion battery, which is now produced in large quantities in gigafactories. Then come electrochemical double-layer capacitors (EDLCs), or supercapacitors, which play a complementary role to batteries. They are involved in applications requiring high power deliveries and extremely long cycle-lifes¹ (defined as the number of complete charge/discharge cycles that the device can support before the amount of stored energy becomes insufficient).

Capacitors are systems in which the charge is stored at the surface of electrodes. Among this family, supercapacitors differ markedly from conventional capacitors in the energy storage mechanism and consequently in the performance. Conventional capacitors involve two metallic plates facing each other and separated by a dielectric medium. Opposite charges are accumulated on the two electrodes, and the energy stored is proportional to its capacitance *C*, which follows the relation

$$C = \frac{Q}{V} = \frac{\epsilon_0 \epsilon_r A}{d} \tag{1}$$

where Q is the charge on the positive electrode, V the applied potential difference, ϵ_0 the vacuum permittivity, and ϵ_r the dielectric constant of the medium between the two electrodes; A and d account for the electrodes' surface area and the distance between them, respectively. There are therefore three parameters that can be tuned to optimize their performance, but the amount of stored energy is generally limited by the geometrical constraint of the two plates facing each other.

In supercapacitors, the dielectric medium is replaced by an ionic electrolyte, as presented in Figure 1. The presence of



Figure 1. Artistic view of a supercapacitor made of nanoporous carbon electrodes and an aqueous sodium chloride electrolyte. The carbon, chlorine, and sodium atoms are shown in gray, yellow, and blue, respectively; water is shown as a transparent fluid on the right-hand side and as explicit molecules (red, oxygen, white, hydrogen) on the left-hand side.

mobile charges allows local screening of the charge accumulated at the surface of the electrode upon charging the device. In the majority of cases, the electrolyte is liquid, and the region of the interface in which the charge distribution differs from the bulk is called the "electric double layer" (EDL) for historical reasons. While apparently simple, this change induces very different properties. A supercapacitor can be seen as two conventional capacitors (one for each electrode) in series, with a resistance (the bulk electrolyte) in between. However, eq 1 cannot be used because ϵ_n A, and d become ill-defined and/or impossible to measure. The main advantages of supercapacitors are that the distance between the two charged layers becomes microscopic and that the electrode does not need to be planar anymore; its surface area can be greatly increased through the use of porous materials.² The dielectric constant, or rather its local equivalent at the microscopic scale, was shown to be much lower than that of the bulk in the case of liquids (and it is also affected by confinement³), but this detrimental effect is largely overcome by the other advantages.

These capacitive effects can be used beyond electricity storage. For example, by harvesting the free energy lost during the mixing of rivers with seawater (which arises from the salinity gradient between them), it should be possible to generate large amounts of electricity.^{4–7} Several technologies exploit the osmotic pressure difference between the two water sources through the use of membranes.⁸ Recent developments include single nanotubes through membranes, which create a giant osmotic energy conversion,⁹ but the feasibility of capacitive mixing, from cycling charge/discharge of a supercapacitor at high/low salinity, has also been recently demonstrated.¹⁰ Such capacitors would largely differ from energy storage devices in terms of size, operating conditions, *etc.*, but the underlying physical phenomena are similar.

Supercapacitors have only two main components: the electrode and the electrolyte, but many choices for both are available. Concerning the electrode materials, they need to have good electronic conductivity and large surface area in order to maximize contact with the electrolyte.¹¹ Most commercial devices employ porous carbon materials.¹² For decades, the focus was limited to activated carbons, but the synthesis of new carbon materials with well-controlled porosities¹³ had a deep impact on the field.¹⁴ Materials such as carbon nanotubes¹⁵ or graphene¹⁶ are also full of promise for the possibility to fine-tune more and more efficiently the properties of the devices. Beyond carbon, it is also possible to build supercapacitors involving metallic oxides^{17–20} such as MnO₂, RuO₂, or Nb₂O₅. In addition to these two main families of materials, other conductive systems were used for supercapacitor electrodes, such as MXenes,^{21–23} nitrides,²⁴ metal organic frameworks,^{25,26} or polymers.^{27,28}

On the other side of the interface, the electrolyte generally consists of a liquid phase containing a solvent, ionic species, and possible additives that are used to tune the physical properties.²⁹ The solvent is either water or an organic molecule such as acetonitrile or propylene carbonate, although new families of electrolytes based on adiponitrile³⁰ or azepanium³¹ have recently been proposed. A notable exception is the family of ionic liquids, ^{32,33} which are solvent-free electrolytes. The ionic species and the additives depend strongly on the nature of the solvent; it is necessary to use salts with high solubility, and the choice of the ions is generally made in order to optimize the energy density of the device without sacrificing the power density.³⁴ An alternative to liquid electrolytes is the use of ionogels,35 which have been suggested for the development of all-solid state supercapacitors,³⁶ for example, for wearable applications.

Depending on the electrode/electrolyte combination, different charge storage mechanisms may occur.³⁷ The two limiting cases are, on the one hand, double-layer capacitance whereby the charge is stored by the separation of charge at the interface, and, on the other hand, pseudocapacitance achieved by Faradaic electron transfer (redox reactions) between the electrolyte and electrode surface atoms. In the former mechanism, which is expected to occur for electrodes with no redox sites (such as carbon), the charge builds up uniformly at the surface. The associated cyclic voltammogram presents a perfectly rectangular shape, i.e., the current remains constant among the whole range of applied potentials. In the case of pseudocapacitors, because of the Faradaic origin of the charge storage mechanism, the corresponding devices are more difficult to differentiate from batteries. They correspond to cases where the redox reaction takes place only at the surface of the material; hence, the charging rate is not limited by the diffusion of species inside the electrode, and no phase transition occurs in the bulk material. A typical example is MnO_{21} although materials such as $Ni(OH)_{21}$ and cobalt oxides are erroneously described as pseudocapacitive.³⁸ In such pseudocapacitive materials, the potential at which the reaction occurs depends on the redox state of the surrounding surface atoms, so that the electrochemical signature of pseudocapacitors can be decomposed in a series of successive oxidation/reduction waves that overlap. The resulting shape is rectangular and thus very similar to that of double-layer capacitors. Because of this resemblance, it is often difficult to assess whether a material behaves as a double-layer capacitor or as a pseudocapacitor. Note that another type of pseudocapacitive behavior, based on an intercalation mechanism, has been evidenced in materials such as Nb₂O₅;^{19,39} in such cases the electrochemical signature is much more battery-like. However, the distinction with the latter can easily be made by exploring the charging rate limitations of the systems.¹⁹

The difficulty in establishing the storage mechanisms in supercapacitors is due to the fact that most electrochemical techniques provide only a macroscopic perspective. However, the development of spectroscopic analysis tools and computational techniques over the past two decades has allowed for a much better understanding of the microscopic phenomena at play.

From the theoretical point of view, the historical picture of Gouy, Chapman, and Stern⁴⁰ (GCS) based on the Poisson-Boltzmann method is not suited for supercapacitors: such mean field theories become inadequate when the electrostatic correlations between ions and excluded volume effects can no longer be neglected.^{41,42} This is the case for supercapacitors because of the high concentrations, confinement effects, and high applied potentials. In this review we focus on the results provided by microscopic simulations, and we provide comparison to existing theories and experimental observations when they are available. Note that we limit the scope to the case of idealized electrode structure and carbon materials on which most of the simulation studies have been conducted to date. It is complementary to previous reviews on this topic, which rather focused on electrostatic models for the simulation of electrodesolution interfaces⁴³ or the use of mean-field theories.⁴⁴ Another review was devoted to the molecular simulations of capacitive energy storage devices.⁴⁵ However, the field has remained very active during the past five years, and the present review also accounts for these latest developments.

We first discuss in section 2 the technical hurdles for the accurate molecular simulations of supercapacitors, which are numerous. In short, the objective of these simulations is to compute structural, thermodynamic, and transport properties using the principles of statistical mechanics. It is necessary to correctly *sample* the various configurations of the systems at finite temperature and consequently to know their chemical composition and to choose correctly the initial structure. We then describe the principles of classical density functional theory, an alternative method that does not require sampling of the configurations but readily provides average properties. In a nutshell, the electrolyte is now described by density fields and the thermodynamic properties of the system are obtained by

minimizing a functional depending on those fields. Having a realistic description of the electrode structure is key to carry out reliable calculations, and we discuss how experimental information was compulsory by focusing on structural models for porous carbon materials. Another difficulty in the simulation of supercapacitors resides in the potential difference applied between the electrode, and we review the various approaches introduced to account for it.

We then focus in section 3 on the use of molecular simulations to understand supercapacitors for energy storage applications. First, we discuss the simple case of planar interfaces and in particular why the canonical Gouy–Chapman–Stern theory of the double layer does not apply due to the use of highly concentrated electrolytes. The interfacial structure is instead characterized by the formation of multilayers, which could be investigated using a wide range of experimental techniques in parallel with simulation studies. In addition, some systems display signs of interfacial ordering in the first adsorbed layer, which can lead to slow dynamics and hysteresis effects in electrochemistry experiments.

Section 4 details the structural features which are induced by the confinement in nanometric-sized pores. We discuss simulation studies performed on model porous geometries, such as carbon nanotubes or slit pores, as well as on much more complex carbon structures. Among the various effects revealed over the past decade, some play a key role for increasing the capacitance of devices. For example, the desolvation of ions in nanopores, which strongly depends on the degree of confinement of the ions, may lead to an increased packing of countercharges.^{46,47} Strong features of concentrated liquids also vanish, such as Coulombic ordering, with the formation of a superionic state. We also detail the main charging mechanisms, such as voltage-induced ion exchange between the porous structure and the bulk electrolyte.

Section 5 is dedicated to the study of capacitors for blue energy harvesting and water desalination (which is the reverse phenomenon). After introducing the capacitive mixing and capacitive deionization processes, we discuss the challenges for modeling before turning to the contributions of molecular simulations and classical density functional theory in these contexts.

Section 6 addresses some dynamic aspects associated with supercapacitors and blue energy/desalination devices. In particular, we review how the confinement inside porous materials can lead to important effects on the microscopic (diffusion coefficients) as well as the macroscopic (charging time) transport properties.

Finally, we provide concluding remarks in which we discuss future directions in the field, both for enhanced studies of carbon-based supercapacitors as well as for an accurate modeling of more complex electrode materials and reactive electrolytes.

2. MOLECULAR-SCALE SIMULATION METHODS FOR CAPACITORS

Compared to batteries, in which it mostly serves as a lithium charge carrier between the electrodes, the electrolyte plays a much more active role in supercapacitors. Most simulation works reported to date targeted liquid electrolytes, for which many atomic configurations can be adopted at the molecular scale; therefore, the simulations required appropriate methods to sample the phase space. Three main approaches are used to model the systems at the molecular scale. In the following we introduce these methods, splitting them into two categories: on the one hand molecular dynamics and conventional Monte Carlo, which are based on an explicit sampling of the phase space, and on the other hand classical density functional theory in which thermodynamic properties of the system are computed by functional minimization. We then discuss the difficulties in obtaining correct electrode structures in the case of complex nanoporous carbon materials. Finally, we discuss the technical aspects involved in the simulations of supercapacitors due to the need to consider electrochemical conditions.

2.1. Sampling Efficiently the Phase Space with Explicit Molecules

The first method, and by far the most used, is molecular dynamics (MD). All the atoms are generally included explicitly, even though an alternative consists in coarse-graining them in order to decrease the computational cost of the simulations.⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ The trajectories of these atoms are computed by integration of Newton's equations of motion, so that the main ingredient of the simulations is the interaction potential between the atoms, from which the forces are derived. The reason for the popularity of molecular dynamics for simulating supercapacitors mainly lies in its practicality (many codes are freely available and well-documented) and its efficiency. From the trajectories of the atoms, it is possible to extract many structural, thermodynamic, and dynamical features of the system using the tools of statistical mechanics. In its simplest implementation, MD samples the microcanonical ensemble in which the number of atoms (N), the volume (V), and the total energy (E) of the system are fixed (the microcanonical ensemble is often called the NVE ensemble). However, for most practical applications it is necessary to fix the temperature (T), which is made by coupling the molecular system with a thermostat. Energy exchanges occur, so that E is not conserved anymore, leading to the canonical ensemble (NVT). In many other MD applications, it is also compulsory to fix the pressure of the system, which leads to volume fluctuations. In the present case, this is rendered difficult by the geometry of the electrochemical cell, so that simulations in this NPT ensemble are very scarce for capacitors.

The second approach to sample phase space is classical Monte Carlo (MC), in which the central quantity is the potential energy of the system. The most widely used algorithm is the one of Metropolis et al.,⁵¹ in which a new atomic configuration is generated randomly from the previous one and is then accepted if the new energy is lower or with a probability equal to $\exp(-\Delta E/k_{\rm B}T)$ where ΔE is the energy difference between the two configurations instead (and $k_{\rm B}$ the Boltzmann constant). Any type of moves may be performed to generate new configurations, but it is generally not necessary to go beyond the translation of an atom or of a molecule and the rotation of a molecule. Because of the use of a fixed T to define the probability of acceptance of the moves, it is not possible to sample the NVE ensemble and simulations are generally performed in the NVT ensemble. MC shares most of its analysis tools with MD, the only difference being that they are used on a series of configurations that do not correspond to a trajectory because there is no notion of time. A consequence is that dynamical properties such as diffusion coefficients or adsorption lifetimes cannot directly be determined in MC. However, this comes with an advantage: there is no need of continuity in the presence of the atoms, so it is possible to perform additional MC moves in which specific atoms or molecules may be removed from/added to the simulation cell. It is thus possible to fix the chemical potential of the concerned species (instead of their number) by

exchanging the molecules with another cell in which this quantity is known, which allows sampling the grand canonical ensemble (μVT).⁵² Such simulations are termed grand canonical Monte Carlo and are widely used to study the adsorption properties of fluids.^{53,54} This method is therefore appealing for the study of the adsorption of electrolytes within porous materials, but these liquids are generally very dense and display specific interactions; this means the rate of acceptance of insertion moves becomes too small and more complex biasing techniques have to be used.⁵⁵

2.2. Classical Density Functional Theory for the EDL

Because MD and MC simulations require an extensive sampling to properly describe the equilibrium properties of the simulated system, they are computationally intensive. Classical density functional theory (cDFT) can be a numerically efficient alternative that allows circumventing these problems. cDFT is naturally formulated in the grand canonical ensemble, ^{56,57} and despite some attempts to do canonical calculations, ⁵⁸ the vast majority of cDFT studies are grand canonical. In the context of EDLs, cDFT describes each ionic species *i* by a density field $\rho_i(\mathbf{r})$. The solvent can be represented either implicitly as a dielectric medium or explicitly by introducing an additional density field.

The efficiency of cDFT results from the following ansatz:^{56,57} (1) For any external perturbation, there exists a unique functional of the densities. In the scope of supercapacitor studies, the external perturbation is due to the electrodes. (2) The ionic and solvent densities minimizing this functional are the (3D) equilibrium ones. (3) At its minimum, the functional is equal to the grand potential of the system (the thermodynamic potential in the grand canonical ensemble).

The free energy and the equilibrium density profiles at any point of the system can be obtained by functional optimization instead of an expensive sampling of the phase space. However, while the theory guarantees the existence of the functional, its expression remains unknown. Prior to any calculation, one therefore needs to choose an approximate functional. We describe here the functional form that is the most commonly employed to study EDL capacitors. It is a common practice to start by splitting the functional as^{57,59}

$$F[\{\rho_i\}] = F^{id}[\{\rho_i\}] + F^{ext}[\{\rho_i\}] + F^{exc}[\{\rho_i\}]$$
(2)

where $\{\rho_i\} = \{\rho_1, ..., \rho_N\}$ is the set of densities of the *N* considered species, with N = 2 for cations and anions in an implicit dielectric solvent and N = 3 when the solvent is accounted for explicitly. The first term of the right-hand side of eq 2 is an entropic contribution, while the second one accounts for the external perturbation created by the electrodes, described by a classical force field. Both terms can be computed exactly and efficiently. The last term of eq 2 is the excess functional that accounts for the interactions between particles constituting the electrolytic solution. There is no known practical expression for the exact excess functional, and various approximations have been proposed to study ionic systems. Because we are dealing with charged particles, it is convenient to separate the electrostatic mean-field Coulomb contribution from the remainder:^{60,61}

$$F^{\text{exc}}[\{\rho_i\}] = \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \frac{q_i q_j}{8\pi\epsilon_0 \epsilon_r} \iint \frac{\rho_i(\mathbf{r}_i)\rho_j(\mathbf{r}_j)}{|\mathbf{r}_i - \mathbf{r}_j|} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}_i \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}_j + F^{\text{cor}}[\{\rho_i\}]$$
(3)

Note that if the electrodes bear charges, their electrostatic contribution is already taken into account in the external term in eq 2. The second term in the right-hand side of eq 3, $F^{cor}[\{\rho_i\}]$, describes correlation effects. When this term is omitted, one recovers Poisson–Boltzmann theory.

In order to go beyond mean-field, an approximation should be proposed for $F^{\rm cor}$. Since the early 1980s⁶⁰ many studies have been carried out to address this issue. In most of these works, ions are described as charged hard spheres in which the correlations are due to both packing effects and electrostatics. Rosenfeld proposed an extremely precise density functional for the hard sphere fluid, the so-called fundamental measure theory (FMT).⁶² Alternative⁶³ or more accurate⁶⁴ formulations have been proposed, but we will not distinguish between the hard sphere functionals which will all be referred to as FMT in the present work. Because of the quality of the FMT functional, most of the studies dedicated to EDL systems with cDFT decompose the correlation part of eq 3 as the sum of a hard-sphere term modeled by FMT and one that is due to electrostatic correlations:

$$F^{\text{cor}}[\{\rho_i\}] = F^{\text{FMT}}[\{\rho_i\}] + F^{\text{cor}}_{\text{ES}}[\{\rho_i\}]$$

$$\tag{4}$$

Essentially, studies of EDL using DFT differ by their choice to describe the electrostatic correlation $F_{\rm ES}^{\rm cor}$. The objective of this section is to give an introduction to classical DFT for the study of EDL systems to nonspecialists; a more detailed description of the several existing approximations of F_{ES}^{cor} would be too technical to be included here. We refer interested readers to two recent publications comparing the performance of various electrostatic excess free-energy functionals against reference MC simulations.^{65,66} Since the early 1980s⁶⁰ a considerable number of studies has been dedicated to electrolytic solution using cDFT either with an explicit description of the solvent⁶⁷⁻⁷¹ or modeling it by a dielectric continuum.^{72,73} Most of these studies focused on predictions of the EDL structure $^{72-76}$ or on the impact of the ions on the wetting properties of the solvent.^{70,71} In the following, we focus on studies using cDFT to investigate electrochemical capacitors and particularly their capacitive properties.

The principal advantage of cDFT over MD and MC simulations is its computational efficiency. It allows carrying out systematic investigations that would be out of reach of molecular simulations. This is however at the cost of using basic models for both the electrode and the electrolyte. Because the functional in eq 3 is unknown, it also requires using approximations as opposed to MD which is essentially exact (provided of course that proper sampling can be achieved).

2.3. Force Fields for Supercapacitor Electrolytes

The force fields describing the potential energy of the system as well as the forces that act on all the atoms are generally wellestablished for the liquids relevant to supercapacitors. Most of the studies involve all-atom models, which account for intramolecular terms including bonding, bending, and torsion potentials, while the intermolecular term includes the Coulombic interactions (through the use of partial charges located on the atoms) supplemented by Lennard-Jones potentials. In general, many different force fields were already available in the literature for solvents, such as water, acetonitrile, or propylene carbonate, and simple inorganic ions. The different families (such as OPLS,⁷⁷ CHARMM,⁷⁸ AMBER,⁷⁹ COM-PASS,⁸⁰ etc.) differ through their analytical expression and/or their parametrization. Among the items in this list, OPLS is often selected for supercapacitor simulations because it was designed more specifically for liquids, while the other force fields are more oriented toward biological applications. However, a majority of works involved ionic liquids as electrolytes, for which a specific force field (CL&P) was developed by Canongia Lopes and Pádua^{81,82} based on the OPLS analytical form.

Over the past decade, more advanced force fields including explicit polarization effects have increasingly been used.^{50,83} In contrast to previous models, these models include explicit dipoles to account for polarization effects, while nonpolarizable force fields generally deal with them implicitly via the attractive term of the Lennard-Jones potentials or the charge-scaling approach.⁸⁴ In MD simulations, a generic option to handle the polarization of the molecules is to use core-shell models.⁸⁵ The most popular one is the Drude oscillator, in which the atoms bear two charges: The first one is located at the atomic position, while the second one is mobile and tethered to the other site by a harmonic potential. These models, often termed "charge-on-aspring", are very popular for the study of biomolecular systems,⁸⁶ but also for electrolytes such as ionic liquids.^{87,88} A second approach consists of using explicit induced dipoles, which are treated as additional degrees of freedom of the system.⁸⁶ They are located on the atomic site and are usually determined selfconsistently using an iterative procedure. This approach is more difficult to implement in MD codes because it requires using an Ewald summation for calculating the various terms up to the dipole-dipole interaction, but it can be generalized to higherorder multipoles if necessary.89

The main difficulty with using such polarizable force fields is that there are very few parameters available in the literature, and the parametrization from *ab initio* calculations may be very timeconsuming⁹⁰ in comparison to simpler systems such as molten salts.⁹¹ Goloviznina *et al.* recently proposed a solution by developing a simple procedure for parametrizing the Drude oscillator-based polarizable force field for any ionic species provided that CL&P parameters are already available, leading to the new CL&Pol force fields.^{92,93} In a nutshell, quantum chemistry calculations are performed to calculate atomic polarizabilities,⁹⁴ atomic dipoles, and energy decompositions between fragments. This allows parametrizing the Drude oscillator strength and the Lennard-Jones parameters of the force field.

Even though the increase in computational resources now allows the routine use of such costly polarizable force fields, initial studies on supercapacitors were more limited in system sizes and simulation durations. To overcome this limitation, many studies employed coarse-grained force fields instead of all-atom ones.⁹⁵ In such representations, several atoms are grouped together in a single interaction site, as shown in Figure 2 for a typical ionic liquid. The computational cost may be reduced by 1 order of magnitude at the expense of losing atomic resolution for the study of adsorption mechanisms.

2.4. Modeling the Correct Electrode Structure

In contrast to crystalline materials, which have a wellcharacterized structure, porous carbons are much less easily defined. They are generally ordered at the local scale only; each carbon atom adopts either sp^2 or sp^3 hybridization, with a ratio depending on the synthesis pathway. Many porous carbons formed in the Earth crust, such as kerogen,⁹⁶ display a large amount of sp^3 carbon atoms, but the materials used in supercapacitors need to have good electrical conductivity, which is achieved only with sufficiently high sp^2 proportion.¹⁴



Figure 2. Coarse-graining of the EMIM⁺-BF₄⁻ ionic liquid. (a) Electron density isosurface mapped with the corresponding electrostatic potential. (b) All-atom representation of the ionic liquid. (c) Coarse-grained representation. Reproduced with permission from ref 50. Copyright 2015 PCCP Owner Societies.

This leads to the formation of locally planar, graphene-like sheets. However, the size, arrangement, and packing of these sheets is very disordered and thus difficult to describe in atomistic models. The challenge to obtain a correct structure is reminiscent of the case of glasses. Inspired by earlier studies performed on such disordered systems, two main approaches can be adopted.

First, one can use reverse MC, by moving the atoms with a MC procedure in which the cost function is the difference between calculations and experimental data such as X-ray or neutron diffraction patterns.97 However, it is necessary to introduce structural constraints in order to enhance the efficiency of the algorithm. A first example was proposed by Pikunic et al., who constrained the bond angle distribution and the average carbon coordination number.98 Their obtained disordered porous structures of saccharose-based carbon are in good agreement with experiments, both for the target diffraction data but also with transmission electron microscopy images. The protocol was further enhanced by using hybrid reverse MC, in which an energy penalty term is introduced in the acceptance criteria. This energy is calculated based on an interaction potential between the carbon atoms, namely, the reactive empirical bond order potential⁹⁹ in ref 100 (which again focused on saccharose-based porous carbons). It was then applied to a typical supercapacitor electrode material, carbide-derived carbons (CDCs, see below),¹³ leading to highly amorphous structures mostly made of twisted graphene sheets.¹⁰¹ Recently, another stochastic approach involving dynamic reactive transformations, global optimization, and an extensive set of descriptors¹⁰² showed very promising results for predicting the morphology of carbonaceous materials for arbitrary densities.

The second main approach consists of quenching liquid carbon using molecular dynamics simulations. This necessitates using an accurate and transferable interaction potential for carbon and correctly choosing the cooling rate. These two constraints lead to very high computational costs. Shi proposed using the reaction state scheme,¹⁰³ in which there is no explicit reactivity but each chemical state of the system is modeled separately. The composition of the system evolves by



Figure 3. Molecular models for complex nanoporous carbons. (A) Typical CDC structure generated from quenched molecular dynamics using the ReaxFF force field. (B) Comparison of the simulated pair distribution functions for various quench rates with experimental data. (C) Pore size distributions obtained for various quench rates. Reproduced from ref 107. Copyright 2017 MDPI under CC BY 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).



Figure 4. Schematic illustration of electrochemical boundary conditions. (A) Electrochemical system under constant applied voltage. The two electrodes are allowed to exchange charge in order to maintain the potential difference between them at a fixed value. (B) Electrochemical system under open-circuit conditions. The electrodes cannot exchange charge so the potential difference between them fluctuates over time. (C) Cartoon of the electrode/electrolyte interface: On the electrode side, the charge carriers are electrons and/or holes, in which the main physical effects occur at the quantum level, while on the electrolyte side the dynamics of the ions and of the solvent molecules are mainly described using classical physics and statistical mechanics.

minimizing a weight function, which was chosen to direct the system toward the formation of sp² carbon atoms.¹⁰⁴ The quenching rate then determines the number of nonhexagonal rings, leading to carbon with various densities, pore size distributions, pore connectivities, etc. The procedure developed by Shi was then extended to the case of CDCs.¹⁰⁵ The latter are synthesized by high-temperature chlorination of metallic carbides such as TiC.¹³ In experiments, the temperature was shown to be the key parameter for controlling the average pore size. Surprisingly, simulations showed that varying the quenching rate led to similar differences in the final structure, allowing systematic studies of these materials to be carried out. Finally, it is worth mentioning that a hybrid method combining hybrid reverse MC with MD simulations was also proposed, leading to the accurate prediction of activated sucrose coke¹⁰⁶ and kerogen⁹⁶ structures.

The increase in the performance of MD software and of available computational resources have allowed for the use of more involved carbon interaction potentials. For example, Thompson *et al.* were able to obtain very large CDC models (of more than 20 000 atoms) using a reactive force field¹⁰⁷ (ReaxFF) specifically designed for carbon materials.¹⁰⁸ An example of such carbon structures is shown in Figure 3A, together with a comparison of the pair distribution function of

several structures with typical experimental data and the pore size distributions obtained for different quenching rates. Another study employed the environment-dependent interatomic potential,¹⁰⁹ resulting in similar agreement with the structural data.¹¹⁰ Further improvement in the quality of the generated nanoporous carbon structures can be expected in the future through the use of highly accurate machine-learning potentials.¹¹¹

To conclude this section, we note that in cotnrast to MD and MC studies, the importance of a realistic representation of the structure is often overlooked in cDFT studies, in which electrodes are usually modeled by ideal geometries such as planar walls, cylinders, or spheres.¹¹²

2.5. Simulating Systems under Electrochemical Conditions

The simulation techniques described above (MD, MC, and cDFT) are very well-established for a large variety of chemical systems ranging from biology to material science. However, the case of capacitors is peculiar due to two main technical difficulties: first, electrochemical boundary conditions should be introduced for the electrodes; second, the interactions at the interface between the electrode and the electrolyte (Figure 4C) need special care.



Figure 5. Snapshots illustrating some of the simulation techniques. (A) Contour plot of the electron density of a copper electrode in contact with water molecules (the latter are shown with large or small circles corresponding to the oxygen and hydrogen atoms, respectively). Reproduced with permission from ref 116. Copyright 1995 AIP Publishing. (B) Induced atomic charges at the surface of typical electrodes. Left: graphite in contact with an organic electrolyte (represented using a coarse-grained model; blue spheres, acetonitrile molecules; red spheres, 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium (BMIM⁺) cations; and green spheres, hexafluorophosphate (PF_6^-) anions). Right: platinum in contact with pure water (red and white sticks: O–H bonds). Reproduced with permission from ref 117. Copyright 2013 the American Physical Society. (C) Simulation setup for image charge simulations of an ionic liquid (green, red, and blue sticks) between two MoS₂ electrodes (pink and yellow sticks). The purple points are the image charges. Reproduced with permission from ref 118. Copyright 2021 AIP Publishing.

As schematized in Figure 4A,B, the electrochemical boundary conditions can be cast into two categories. On the one hand, if a voltage is applied between the two electrodes, there exists a current in the external circuit and the two electrodes continuously exchange electrons. On the other hand, if the electrical circuit is open, the total charge of each electrode remains constant (but not necessary null) and the potential difference between the electrodes now fluctuates. When introducing the various methods we will discuss how such conditions can possibly be enforced.

From the point of view of intermolecular interactions, even though the carbon force fields mentioned above predict accurately the (meta)stability of the electrode materials, they do not account explicitly for their metallic character; the electron sharing effects are included in the bonded terms of the interaction potential. Similar conclusions may be drawn for other metals, which are well-simulated using bond order potentials that do not include electrostatic effects. This becomes problematic when these metals are put in contact with an electrolyte, because the ions and the solvent molecules exert an external perturbation to the electronic distribution. In principle, such effects would be better taken into account in electronic structure calculations, which is generally done at the DFT level in many fields, such as the study of catalytic effects on chemical reactions occurring at metallic surfaces.^{113,114} However, in the present case, the liquid properties need to be properly sampled, which leads to system sizes and simulation times that are almost out of reach of DFT-based *ab initio* MD. As an illustration, in a recent study devoted to the graphene—ionic liquid interface which provided interesting results on the structure and the polarization of the surface, the simulation time was less than 10 ps,¹¹⁵ *i.e.*, 3 orders of magnitude smaller than what is usually done in classical MD simulations. To circumvent this problem, many strategies were proposed in the literature. In the following we provide the generic ideas behind these approaches.

A first method was proposed by Price and Halley.¹¹⁶ In order to keep an explicit representation of the electronic structure, they proposed a quantum mechanics/molecular mechanics (QM/MM) approach, as illustrated in Figure 5A. The main difficulty with such models is that they require a very careful parametrization; therefore, the method was applied only to the study of the interaction between copper and an aqueous

electrolyte¹¹⁹ and was not further used for the study of complex capacitors. On the other side of the difficulty/accuracy spectrum, a second approach is based on the use of so-called image charges 120,121 (Figure 5C). The latter depend on the mismatch between the dielectric constants of the two phases which are put into contact. In the particular case of electrochemical cells, the dielectric constant is almost infinite for the metal, so in practice the image charges have the same magnitude as the "real" charge carried by the electrolyte atoms but an opposite sign. Although this formulation accounts for the polarization of the electrode due to the liquid, it initially lacked three key ingredients: (i) at a given time, this polarization should depend on the position of all the charges in a nonlinear way; (ii) the necessity to apply a voltage between the electrodes; and (iii) it cannot treat electrodes with nonplanar geometries. The two former items were overcome to simulate electrochemical systems through the introduction of additional uniform charges to the electrodes 122 and more recently by systematically controlling the effect of surface, solvent, and solute polarization.¹²³ However, the third ingredient is an intrinsic limitation of the method which cannot be overcome with current algorithms.

A more complex family of methods was introduced by Siepmann and Sprik in another context, to investigate the influence of surface topology and electrostatic potential when an atomic force microscopy probe is put in contact with liquid water.¹²⁴ Inspired by the Car-Parrinello method for DFT-based MD,¹²⁵ they introduced an extended Lagrangian in which the metal atomic charges are considered as additional degrees of freedom and are therefore allowed to fluctuate. Each electrode atom carries a Gaussian charge distribution (in contrast to the electrolyte, which is usually represented using point charges) and obeys a constraint of fixed electrostatic potential, allowing simulation of systems under applied potential very naturally. The method was further adapted to systems with electrochemical cell geometries.¹²⁶ The fluctuating charges (as shown in Figure 5B) resemble image charges and are sometimes referred to in this way, but they are not strictly equivalent. They result from the solution of the many-body electrostatic problem and should therefore represent more accurately the response of the electronic structure of the metal to the perturbation induced by the electrolyte.

Note that in this approach, the mathematical problem that is solved to obtain the partial charges is similar to the case of the charge equilibration method proposed for molecular systems by Rappé and Goddard.¹²⁷ As recently discussed in ref 128, the difference lies in the definition of the parameters, which are the atomic species' chemical potential and hardness in one case and the electrode potential and the Gaussian charge width in the other. Despite the similar expressions, the underlying models are different because the charge equilibration parameters are determined from the electronic affinity and ionization energy which are characteristic properties of atoms or molecules, rather than that of bulk materials such as the ones constituting the electrodes (in addition, using Gaussian charges does not have the same effect as simply introducing a hardness because their width also impacts all the electrostatic interactions involving electrode atoms; consequently the two models are not mathematically equivalent).

Recently, we proposed an extension of the Siepmann–Sprik model by introducing a computational Thomas–Fermi electrode.¹³⁰ The model is based on a reformulation of the Thomas–Fermi model^{131,132} based on a set of atomic charges instead of the electronic density. It accounts for the screening of the electrostatic potential through the introduction of an additional term involving a characteristic screening length as a parameter. This model should be more appropriate for systems such as carbon materials because their electronic structure deviates noticeably from the ones of typical metals. Another approach has also been proposed, which consists of using a "virtual" Thomas–Fermi fluid of charged particles to account for the screening.¹³³ It is also possible to go further in that direction by treating the electrode materials using the tight binding model,^{134,135} in which the electronic band structure is approximated using atomic wave functions. However, these enhanced electrode models have not yet been used to simulate supercapacitor devices with complex material structures.

The fluctuating charge models can also differ in some technical aspects. For example, the computation of electrostatic interactions has to include long-range effects due to the analytical expression of the Coulomb interaction potential. In MD and MC, this is generally made based on the Ewald summation technique,¹³⁶ but many different flavors have been introduced over the decades. In the specific case of electrochemical cells, it is necessary to adopt either a $2D^{126}$ or pseudo- $2D^{137}$ formulation. The latter corresponds to the conventional 3D case to which a vacuum slab is added between the two electrodes in the region with no electrolyte atoms; corrections to the energy and its derivative then need to be added,¹³⁸ although a recent approach combining finite fields with fluctuating charges allowed for the use of a 3D cell geometry with results similar to those of the 2D case for planar electrodes.^{139,140} The handling of the long-range part can also be formulated in different ways depending on the use of explicit reciprocal-space vectors¹²⁶ or of a particle-particle particle-mesh solver.¹

The fluctuating charges can also be determined using different methods. While the initial approach of Siepmann and Sprik¹²⁴ was based on the Car–Parrinello algorithm,¹²⁵ in which the additional degrees of freedom are attributed well-chosen fictitious masses, the majority of subsequent studies used a Born–Oppenheimer approach in which the set of self-consistent equations is solved at each time step of the simulation. The problem can be solved through many conventional techniques such as conjugate gradients or matrix inversion, the latter being much more efficient computationally if the electrode atoms do not move. A reformulation of the problem using constrained molecular dynamics¹⁴¹ was also recently shown to be efficient and computationally stable.

Another option is to avoid the use of fluctuating charges. As discussed above for the electrolyte force fields, in MD simulations, the most generic option to handle the polarization of the molecules is to use Drude oscillators. This method is implemented in many MD simulation packages, so it was naturally used to account for the polarization in metallic systems.¹⁴² An alternative to the spring was proposed in which the mobile charge rotates at a fixed distance around the atom.¹⁴³ It was used, for example, to study the solvation of nanoparticles in ionic liquids.¹⁴⁴ These approaches, however, do not allow charge to be transferred from one atom to another inside the electrode or between the two electrodes. They are therefore not well-suited for the study of supercapacitors.

Alternative approaches based on an explicit solution of the Poisson equation have also been proposed. In such cases, the charges are no longer placed on the electrode atomic sites, but rather on a grid. This method was introduced to compute induced charges on arbitrary dielectric boundaries through the



Figure 6. Constant potential classical DFT simulations. (A) Workflow to compute the equilibrium solvent density and the charge distribution within the electrodes under a fixed potential difference. In-plane averaged equilibrium densities of H (B) and O (C) of water along the direction perpendicular to the graphene planes. Slices of oxygen density computed by cDFT (D) and MD (E) in a plane parallel to the graphene at a distance of 2.5 Å; the purple balls represent the graphene carbon atoms. Reproduced with permission from ref 150. Copyright 2019 AIP Publishing.

introduction of a space-dependent dielectric constant for the dielectric medium.^{145,146} In another implementation, the electrode surface is modeled as an equi-potential smooth surface with a net charge.¹⁴⁷ The surface of the electrode acts as a metallic foil which separates the charges of the electrolyte (both from the solvent and from the ionic species) and a set of fixed charges located inside the electrode. In the latter approach, a voltage is applied by solving an auxiliary Laplace equation, following a method proposed by Raghunathan and Aluru.¹⁴⁸

Most of the developments introduced above were done for MD and MC simulations, and their application to cDFT is much more recent. Because cDFT aims solely at computing the equilibrium properties and the electrode models considered are ideal geometric objects, the problem is considerably simplified. Applying a constant potential as in Figure 4A simply requires the use of appropriate boundary conditions when solving the Poisson equation, while open-circuit conditions as in Figure 4B require the imposition of a uniform charge density on each electrode. The electrode polarizability is often neglected, but some studies account for it using mirror charges.¹⁴⁹ We implemented the Siepmann and Sprik¹²⁴ description of polarizability in our cDFT study of a water-graphene capacitor.^{150'} The algorithm used to self-consistently optimize the electrode charges and the water density is schematically represented in Figure 6A. The predicted densities are in quantitative agreement with MD simulations, as shown in Figure **6**B−E.

It is worth noting that all the methods described above aim at simulating a system under constant applied potential, i.e., the situation shown in Figure 4A only. However, in the field of electronic density functional theory, the possibility of simulating systems under open-circuit conditions (Figure 4B) has long been realized through the use of the electric displacement as a control variable.¹⁵¹ This gap has recently been filled in classical MD by using the same methodology.¹⁵² The main feature of the new approach is to replace the two-dimensional two-electrode setup with a single electrode in contact with a liquid on its two sides (and thus applying 3D periodic boundary conditions). This electrode is held at constant potential, and the whole system is subject to either a fixed electric field, which mimics the constant applied potential situation,¹³⁹ or a fixed electric displacement, which corresponds to fixing the total charge of the electrode, thus open-circuit conditions.¹⁴⁰ It is then even

possible to apply an electric displacement ramp in order to reproduce typical amperometry experiments. Although the proof of concept was validated, the method has not been applied to the case of supercapacitors yet.

In addition to electrostatics, the interaction between the electrodes and the electrolyte should also include short-range repulsion and dispersion effects. They are typically accounted for using Lennard-Jones potentials similar to the ones between the electrolyte atoms. Several parameters are available for typical materials, such as carbon,^{153,154} gold,^{142,155} platinum,¹⁵⁵ etc. However, most of these force fields were parametrized without considering in detail the above-mentioned metallicity of the materials, so cancellation errors have to be expected. We therefore expect that future works will focus on more accurate representations of the nonelectrostatic interactions. A major difficulty is the lack of experimental data focused on the interface at the molecular scale, and the difficulty of performing ab initio simulations on these systems. For example, in a recent study on the adsorption of water molecules on carbon surfaces, adsorption energies calculated at the DFT level showed a wide discrepancy.^{156,157} It is then necessary to use more accurate quantum chemistry methods, such as quantum Monte Carlo,¹⁵⁸ in order to obtain reliable results, but their high computational cost prohibits their systematic use to investigate a large variety of systems. Finally, from the modeling point of view, chemisorption effects are much more challenging to describe than nonbonding interactions and require, for example, resorting to reactive force fields. Fortunately, chemisorption generally does not play an important role in supercapacitors because it is avoided in order to maximize the performance in terms of power.

2.6. Interfacial Capacitance

As will be discussed in the next sections, molecular simulations provide important information on the structure and dynamics of electrolytes at electrochemical interfaces. Such quantities are rather standard to calculate as they are not specific to the case of supercapacitors. From the thermodynamic point of view, the main target quantity is the interfacial capacitance. The total capacitance of the interface (C_{tot}) is generally obtained by considering the EDL (C_{EDL}) and quantum (C_Q) capacitances in series¹⁵⁹ as

$$\frac{1}{C_{\text{tot}}} = \frac{1}{C_{\text{EDL}}} + \frac{1}{C_{\text{Q}}} \tag{5}$$

The EDL capacitance is the contribution due to the formation of the double layer at the surface of the electrode. It is worth noting that two definitions are encountered in the literature. On the one hand, the integral capacitance (C_{int}) is defined as

$$C_{\rm int} = \frac{\langle Q_+ \rangle}{\Delta \Psi} \tag{6}$$

where $\langle Q_{+} \rangle$ is the average charge on the positive electrode and $\Delta \Psi$ the potential difference. One can calculate the integral capacitance for the whole electrochemical cell, in which case $\Delta \Psi$ is the applied voltage, or for a specific electrode if it is possible to determine the potential difference between the latter and the electrolyte. This is generally feasible for planar electrodes only.¹⁶⁰

On the other hand, the differential capacitance $(C_{\rm diff})$ is defined as

$$C_{\rm diff} = \frac{\partial \langle Q_+ \rangle}{\partial \Delta \Psi} \tag{7}$$

It is complementary to the integral capacitance, because its variations often are signatures of the physical chemistry processes occurring at the interface.¹⁶¹ It is often obtained by computing $\langle Q_{\star} \rangle$ for several applied voltages and then differentiating an interpolated curve. However, a fluctuation–dissipation was recently derived, which expresses the differential capacitance from the fluctuations of the charge of the electrode.^{43,117} It is then possible to use histogram reweighting techniques^{117,162,163} to investigate correlations in the double layer and their impact on the charge accumulated at the interface over the whole range of interesting applied potentials with a limited set of simulations.

The quantum capacitance is an intrinsic property of the electrode. In computer simulations, it is generally calculated using electronic DFT from the density of state of the material around the Fermi level.^{164–166} It is important to account for this contribution for materials such as graphene, for which it dominates the total capacitance in the vicinity of the point of zero charge.¹⁶⁷ The introduction of the Thomas–Fermi electrode model (see section 2.5) provides a convenient approximation to include this contribution within classical MD simulations, but a wide majority of the studies discussed in the following either neglect the quantum capacitance (which is a good approximation for electrodes with a large number of electronic states available near the Fermi level) or simply add it to the EDL capacitance *a posteriori*. For simplicity, we will generally designate $C_{\rm EDL}$ as the capacitance in the remainder of the review.

3. THE ELECTROCHEMICAL DOUBLE LAYER BEYOND DILUTE ELECTROLYTES

3.1. The Kornyshev Paradigm Shift

Before focusing on the case of porous electrodes, which is the most relevant for applications in capacitive devices, it is important to discuss first the structure and the properties of the electrochemical double layer formed at planar electrode surfaces. The name "double layer" is a legacy from early theories aiming at depicting this interface. The first layer, called the Helmholtz layer, contains strongly adsorbed ions. The second one is a diffuse layer whose concentration decreases away from the surface of the electrode, as introduced in the works of Gouy and Chapman. A schematic representation of this GCS model is displayed in Figure 7. The distribution of ions and the



Figure 7. Schematic representation of the electrical double layer at a planar electrode according to the GCS model. Anions are displayed in yellow, and cations are in orange. They are immersed in a dielectric continuum of relative permittivity ϵ_r .

electrostatic potential profile in this diffuse layer can be described using Poisson–Boltzmann (PB) theory. The linearized version of this theory (Debye–Hückel) predicts an exponential decay of ionic and potential profiles, with a characteristic decay length called the Debye length that decreases with increasing concentration of the electrolyte. This theory is for example able to predict the minimum capacitance at the point of zero charge for simple salts in aqueous solution.

However, within PB theory ions interact with each other at the mean field level only and there is no limit for their concentration at the interface. Consequently, this theory is appropriate for dilute electrolytes only. In capacitive devices, the electrolytes display much larger ionic concentrations, typically above 1 mol/ L. At such concentrations, the hypotheses underlying PB theory do not hold anymore—in particular in the case of ionic liquids in which ion-ion correlations dominate the physicochemical properties of the system. Despite these limitations, very few studies have aimed at improving the simulation and the theory of capacitors for many years. The situation changed following the publication of a series of seminal works by Kornyshev, who introduced important additional ingredients to the Gouy-Chapman theory, such as the existence of a maximal ionic concentration at the interface¹⁶¹ (which lead to the prediction of a transition from "bell-shape" to "camel-shape" for the evolution of the capacitance with applied voltage), the existence of overscreening effects,¹⁶⁸ and even of short-range correlations.¹⁶⁹ Interestingly, after these publications, many experimental studies reported large deviations from Gouy-Chapman theory, showing a large variety of nontrivial capacitive behaviors.

3.2. From a Double-Layer to a Multilayer Picture

In parallel to these theoretical and experimental works, many MD simulation studies were also conducted. Note that at that time, most studies did not use a realistic metallic model for the electrodes but relied on simpler constant uniform charge distributions instead.¹⁷⁰ However, much of the structural results should not have been impacted by this choice.¹⁷¹ These studies

provided qualitatively similar results, indicating the formation of a layered structure for the liquid at the interface. Such a result is in fact very generic and has been consistently reported in numerous other studies involving interfaces of liquids in contact with vapor, biological systems, or solid materials. The definition of the "layers" is rather broad; in fact, this term is used whenever successive regions of high and low densities (with respect to the bulk) are observed.

In the specific case of ionic liquids in contact with charged surfaces, strong layering was also observed in surface-sensitive experiments. For example, in atomic force microscopy performed on metallic surfaces or in a surface force apparatus which uses charged mica surfaces, experiments performed with ionic liquids display similar patterns, with the presence of oscillations between repulsive and attractive forces up to as much as 10 nm away from the surface, with the period of the oscillations showing some commensurability with the dimensions of the ions. $^{172-177}$ Another proof of the layered structure was provided by high-energy X-ray reflectivity experiments, which were able also to discriminate the presence of cations and anions in the various layers.^{178,179} Finally, it is worth noting that the structure inside the first adsorbed layer was shown to differ from the one in the bulk. In particular, using sum-frequency generation spectroscopy, Baldelli and co-workers were able to demonstrate the existence of specific orientational effects.^{180–183}

Going back to the simulation studies, the first important result with respect to the Gouy–Chapman theory was that the layering extends over a length scale noticeably larger than the Debye length. This is easily explained by the fact that the Debye length is shorter than the size of ions for the large ionic concentrations used in supercapacitors. The nature of the species involved in the adsorbed layers varies according to the presence/absence of solvent in the electrolyte. In ionic liquids, close to the point of zero charge (PZC), the layers contain equimolar concentrations of both ions. The PZC is defined as the electrode potential for which the electrode is neutral. In simulations, for symmetry reasons, this is the case when no potential difference is applied between two identical electrodes. Note that when the electrolyte is dissolved in an organic solvent, such as acetonitrile, solvent molecules can also be present in the adsorbed layers.¹⁸³

When a finite voltage is applied between the two electrodes, the latter accumulate a net charge. This is accompanied by a reorganization of the adsorbed liquid. In the absence of collective ordering transitions (see below), the main effect is the exchange of anions/cations between the first adsorbed layer and the following ones.^{184–188} For small voltages, as predicted in theoretical works from Kornyshev and co-workers, 161,168 overscreening effects are observed: The charge in the first layer of liquid is larger than the electrode charge, so that it has to be compensated in the second layer, and the effect sometimes extends over several layers. On the basis of this observation, Feng et al. proposed a counter-charge layer framework to analyze the structure of adsorbed liquids.¹⁸⁹ Upon increasing the potential, the overscreening effects vanish and they are replaced by lattice saturation.¹⁹⁰ The first adsorbed layer saturates in counterions, and the following layers start to exchange ions with the bulk. However, it is not clear whether these effects really occur in experiments because the corresponding potentials may be outside the electrochemical window of the systems, i.e., the electric potential range over which none of the components of the electrolyte are neither oxidized nor reduced. This is true even in ionic liquids that generally display larger windows than

organic solvents. In parallel to these concentration changes, the orientation of the ionic species with respect to the surface was also shown to vary with the applied potential.

The multilayered structure may however be less pronounced if the surface of the electrode is not completely flat. By simulating the atomically corrugated prismatic face of graphite, Vatamanu et al. showed a qualitatively different packing of the electrolyte, accompanied by changes in the differential capacitance, compared to the case where the graphite is facing the liquid through its basal plane.¹⁹¹ By using ideal structures, they were able to further study the effect of the surface roughness and concluded on a noticeable improvement in the stored energy in the double layer when its typical length matched the ionic dimensions,¹⁹² an effect which is reminiscent of the case of nanoporous carbons (see the next section). The curvature effect was also investigated by simulating interfaces of carbon nanotubes^{193,194} or onion-like carbons¹⁹⁵ with ionic liquids. For such systems, a systematic increase of the capacitance was observed. The authors proposed to include the effect by introducing the radius of the electrode in analytical models.

Flat surfaces were also extensively investigated using cDFT. Jiang et al. were able to reproduce some results of Kornyshev.¹⁹⁶ In this work, the electrolyte is described by the so-called restricted primitive model (RPM), in which cations and anions are identical hard spheres of opposite charge immersed in a solvent described as a continuum dielectric medium. Electrodes are described as ideal hard walls bearing a homogeneous surface charge density. Thus, the molecular nature of the solvent and the complex structure of the electrodes are ignored. In this study, the electrostatic correlations of eq 4 are approximated using a Taylor expansion up to second order around the one of the homogeneous fluid.^{72,197} The second-order direct correlation of the homogeneous fluid required to express the quadratic term is computed using the mean spherical approximation (MSA), for which analytical expressions are available in the case of the primitive model.¹⁹⁸ Jiang et al. computed the differential capacitance as a function of the applied surface potential for electrolytes with bulk packing fraction ranging from 0.01 to 0.5 and recovered the transition from camel shape to bell shape as predicted by Kornyshev.¹⁶¹ They also compared cationic and anionic density profiles at high (0.5) and low (0.01) packing fractions for different values of the applied potential. At high concentration, they observed a strong oscillatory ordering for both ion profiles as in various MD simulations. At high potential they also observed the overscreening effect where the electrode charge is overcompensated by the adsorbed ions. When the curve is bell-shaped, the potential at which the capacitance reaches a maximum is shifted toward the positive potentials when cations have radii larger than anions. This can be explained by noting the "camel shape" curves at high density become asymmetric, with a large peak at positive potentials and a small one at negative potentials, a behavior that was also predicted by Kornyshev.¹⁶¹

The primitive model is known to freeze at low temperature for realistic IL densities,¹⁹⁹ so that the liquid state behavior reported in ref 196 in fact corresponds to a metastable state. Lu *et al.* proposed using a more realistic model in ref 200. The model is asymmetric because the charges are displaced from the center of the hard spheres. Electrodes are still described as infinite flat walls bearing a uniform charge, but the polarization is accounted for using mirror charges. The predicted differential capacitance and density profiles are in qualitative agreement with MC simulations and the "camel-shape" of the capacitance is also



Figure 8. Two-dimensional structural transitions at the surface of planar electrodes. (A) Average anion—anion structure factor in the first adsorbed layer of BMIM-PF₆ ionic liquid adsorbed on graphite electrodes, as a function of the norm of the in-plane wave vector, for a null applied voltage. (B) Representative snapshot of the adsorbed layer in the ordered phase (a coarse-grained model is used; green spheres, (PF_6^-) anions; red spheres, (BMIM⁺) cations). (C) Representative snapshot of the adsorbed layer on the electrodes, as a function of the electrode voltage. The probability is reported on a logarithmic scale, with lines separated by a difference of 0.5. Three distinct basins emerge from the analysis. Reproduced with permission from ref 162. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society. (E) Schematic overview of the anion and cation reorganizations within the adsorbed layer during the surface discharging/charging. The energy diagram shows the activation barriers involved during these processes. Reproduced with permission from ref 203. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

properly described. This group also investigated the effect of ion pairing and clustering using the same ionic liquid models.^{201,202} To do so, they described the solution as a mixture of free ions, ion pairs, and clusters with a fixed ratio between the species. They found that while the short-ranged structure adjacent to surfaces is almost unaffected by the degree of ion association, this is not the case for the differential capacitance. According to cDFT predictions, clustering reduces the differential capacitance, especially at low potential. Cluster dissociation could thus be an explanation for the experimentally observed increase of capacitance at higher temperature.

3.3. Two-Dimensional Structural Transitions

Among the studied electrolytes, some ionic liquids may also display intriguing results at planar interfaces.²⁰⁴ In non-

electrochemical contexts, several experimental studies showed the formation of one or several ordered layers of ions at the liquid/vapor interface²⁰⁵ or upon adsorption on ionic surfaces such as mica.²⁰⁶ In the case of electrochemical interfaces, *in situ* scanning tunneling microscopy investigations of the adsorption of an ionic liquid on a planar gold electrode displayed the formation of an ordered AlCl₄⁻ adlayer.²⁰⁷ Using a chloroaluminate ionic liquid also led to the observation of moiré-like patterns at potentials in a specific potential range, which were attributed to the formation of a two-dimensionally ordered adlayer of PF₆⁻ anions²⁰⁸ with a ($\sqrt{3} \times \sqrt{3}$) structure. In a further study, the formation of ordered layers of butylmethylimidazolium cations was correlated with the presence of a sharp peak in the capacitance–voltage curve.²⁰⁹

Tracking these structural transitions using molecular simulations is not an easy task. They are collective transformations by nature, and one often needs to involve complex reaction coordinates and/or resort to improved sampling techniques in order to simulate them. However, in the case of the electrochemical double layer, several two-dimensional transitions could be observed using MD simulations. A first example was obtained in the case of a high-temperature molten salt (LiCl) in contact with an aluminum electrode.^{210,21} Depending on the nature of the surface and on the applied potential, the liquid adopts different ordered/disordered structures. When a potential-induced transition occurs, it is accompanied by a jump in the electrode surface charge,²¹¹ which should be reflected in a peak of the differential capacitance. However, the latter could not be characterized in the study because of sampling difficulties.

It was later noted that the differential capacitance can be determined from the fluctuations of the total charge of an electrode in constant applied potential simulations¹¹⁷ (a result which was further refined to account for the global electroneutrality constraint²¹²) and that these fluctuations (among others) can be efficiently sampled using importance sampling methods, considering voltage itself as a bias which can be unbiased using, for example, histogram reweighting. This was used in a study of the adsorption of 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium (EMIM)-PF₆ ionic liquid on carbon electrodes, which was already known to adopt an ordered structure.^{95,213} By determining quantities such as an in-plane structure factor, the orientation, and the number of ions in the first adsorbed layer, the existence of an order-disorder transition was evidenced.¹⁶² Figure 8A shows typical anion-anion structure factors for the ordered and disordered structures, while the corresponding snapshots illustrating such structures are displayed in panels B and C of Figure 8, respectively. In the ordered structure, the anion-anion structure factor reaches a maximum at a wave vector denoted by k^* evidenced by the vertical dashed line in Figure 8A. In Figure 8D is displayed the probability distribution of the anion–anion structure factor at the maximum, $S(k^*)$, as a function of the applied voltage. Large values of $S(k^*)$ indicate an ordered structure, while low values reflect disordered structures. The left (right) side of the figure corresponds to negative (positive) potentials. Red and blue areas correspond to basins of stability and energy barriers, respectively. Close to zero applied potential, the disordered structure is the most stable. When the potential is increased around 0.25 V, an ordered structure becomes stable at the anode before becoming unstable again as the potential is further increased. This transition results in an anomalous response in the charging induced on the electrode surface as evidenced by the presence of a peak in the differential capacitance similar to the experimental results reported by Su et al.²⁰⁹

The presence of ordered structures was further established in other simulation studies. For example, when changing the electrode charge density in constant-charge simulations, a transition toward a surface-frozen monolayer of densely packed counterions, with a moiré-like structure, was established.²¹⁴ At very high charge density the second layer was also shown to adopt a layered structure, yielding a herringbone structure (*i.e.*, the superposition of two ordered monolayers). It is interesting that such a structure was also observed in experiments performed on gold, but in that case, it is the electrode materials which underwent structural transitions at the surface.^{215,216} Concomitant structural changes on the two sides of the solid–

liquid interfaces still remain to be studied from computer simulations; such studies should in particular involve reactive force fields for the metallic or carbonaceous species, which are difficult to parametrize in this context.

Collective transitions in liquid are often associated with high free energy barriers, which result in slow kinetics (and strong finite-size effects in molecular simulations). Although such a link could not be made because of the lack of available structural data on the interface, many experimental studies pointed to the existence of slow capacitive processes when performing impedance spectroscopy^{216–218} and of strong hysteresis effects in cyclic voltammetry studies,^{219,220} which would not be expected from a simple limitation due to diffusion effects.¹⁴⁰ It is only very recently that the hysteresis could be reproduced in simulations by simulating a system over the two potential scan directions for a system made of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium (BMIM), hexafluorophosphate (PF_6), and a Au(111) electrode.²⁰³ The presence of two long-lived interfacial structures led to marked differences in the capacitive response of the system as schematized in Figure 8E. Further investigation of the complex interplay between the dynamics, the thermodynamics, and the structure would be necessary, but these analyses are difficult because they involve understanding finite-size effects and the impact of the scan rate on the kinetics of barrier crossing.

Using cDFT with two modified primitive models shown schematically in Figure 9A,B, Lu et al. were able to predict a



Figure 9. Modified primitive models. (A) Aspherical primitive model. (B) Wall-penetrating primitive model. Reproduced from ref 149. Copyright 2021 Royal Society of Chemistry under CC BY 3.0 (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

structural phase transition.^{149,200} For both models, the anion is modeled by a negatively charged hard sphere. The first model is called aspherical because the cation charge is offset from the center of the hard sphere, while the second model is defined as "wall-penetrating" as the cationic charge is allowed to come closer than one ionic radius from the electrode. The phase transition originates from the ability of the cationic charge to approach the electrode interface closer than the anionic one, and it is accompanied by a divergence of the differential capacitance at the potential where the two phases coexist. It should be noted that because the calculation is pseudo-1D in the sense that it is invariant by translation parallel to the electrode plane, the lateral correlations between charges are ignored. This phase transition is not two-dimensional but rather corresponds to two different layerings of the cations and anions. With such limitations, it is hard to link this theoretical model with experimental work.



Figure 10. Ionic liquid adsorption in confined materials. (A) Typical snapshot showing the adsorption of tetraethylammonium (blue balls) and tetrafluoroborate (BF_4^- , green balls) dissolved in propylene carbonate (sticks) within a carbon nanotube forest (turquoise balls). *R* represents the pore radius. Reproduced with permission from ref 253. Copyright 2009 American Chemical Society. (B) Typical snapshots of the adsorption of EMIM-BF₄ ionic liquid (red balls, EMIM⁺ center of mass; blue balls, BF_4^- center of mass) within the interior of carbon nanotubes in (*n*, *n*) armchair configurations (sticks). The corresponding *n* values are associated with each snapshot. Reproduced with permission from ref 254. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society.

4. MOLECULAR ORIGIN(S) OF SUPERCAPACITIVE EFFECTS

4.1. An Anomalous Increase of the Capacitance

Porous carbon materials have long been established as the materials with the best overall properties for the development of supercapacitor devices.² Decades of intense experimental research lead to important improvements in the synthesis of such carbons and in the use of dopants or surface modifications to improve their properties.¹¹ In the absence of Faradaic effects, it clearly appeared that activated carbon offered excellent performance, in particular when combined with organic electrolytes.²²¹

The rise of nanomaterials provided new directions for improvement to the field. Several groups started to investigate the impact of the nanotexture of the materials on the performance²²² or to use better-defined carbon structures such as carbon nanotubes.^{28,223} However, materials displaying porosity at the nanoscale are more difficult to characterize using standard gas adsorption techniques. For example, analyses based on the Brunauer–Emmett–Teller theory²²⁴ cannot access the pore size distribution.²²⁵ Indeed, in a nanopore the confinement effects become very important and the liquids may not adopt their traditional layered structure, contrary to the case of mesopores. In addition, simple estimates based on the size of the solvated ions suggested that they would not be able to enter into nanometric pores.

The use of CDCs, for which a typical structure is shown in Figure 3, as electrode materials drastically changed the situation. Because of their high tunability (through the use of different synthesis temperatures), they allowed for the efficient study of the link between the pore size and ion dimension, leading to the conclusion that the two had to match in order to obtain maximized performances in organic electrolytes.⁴⁶ This increase in capacitance for pores smaller than 1 nm was originally called "anomalous" because it challenged the consensus at the time that pores smaller than the size of solvated electrolyte could not contribute to charge storage. The superior performance of nanopores for capacitance was also established in the case of aqueous electrolytes.²²⁶ Using different ionic species,²²⁷ it was shown that, contrary to the case of mesopores in which the structure of the liquid remains mostly intact, in nanopores the ions tend to (at least partially) desolvate, resulting in a smaller

effective radius. This interpretation was also supported by earlier extended X-ray absorption fine structure (EXAFS) results on the adsorption of aqueous Rb⁺ ions in nanopores,²²⁸ for which a decrease in the coordination number was observed compared to the bulk. The importance of matching the average pore size with the ionic dimensions was further demonstrated in ionic liquid electrolytes.²²⁹

These results had a deep impact on the field.³⁷ Going beyond electrochemical measurements, the structure of electrolytes in nanopores was studied by a huge variety of analysis and spectroscopy techniques, such as X-ray scattering, $^{230-237}$ neutron scattering, $^{238-240}$ nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR), ${}^{47,241-247}_{7,241-247}$ electrochemical quartz crystal microbalance (EQCM), ${}^{248-250}_{248-250}$ infrared (IR), ${}^{251,252}_{251}$ etc. They have also triggered a large number of simulation studies, which are much better suited to the case of nanopores rather than mesopores. Indeed, their main practical limitations are either the number of molecules that can be put in a simulation cell in MD and MC or the number of grid points to be included in cDFT. These numbers typically correspond to dimensions smaller than 10 nm. In parallel with the many intriguing results obtained on planar electrodes, it quickly appeared that characterizing the adsorption of the ions, their solvation under confinement, and the interplay of these structural characteristics with the capacitance of the electrodes would bring important benefits to the understanding of supercapacitors.

4.2. Ion Layering Inside Nanotubes and Nanometric Slit-Pores and Curvature Effects

The first simulation studies aiming at understanding the anomalous increase of the capacitance in nanopores focused on simple electrode geometries, such as carbon nanotubes, considering the adsorption of the ions both outside²⁵³ and inside.²⁵⁴ In the first case (ions outside the tubes), the simulated system consisted of a single nanotube immersed in the electrolyte, but the porosity was introduced by varying the size of the simulation cell. Because of the use of periodic boundary conditions, the liquid was thus confined between successive nanotubes as illustrated in Figure 10A. The liquid structure was characterized by strong adsorption peaks, relatively similar to the ones obtained on planar electrodes, and the simulations yielded capacitances in qualitative agreement with the experiments, although the structure of the simulated electrode was much



Figure 11. Electrode curvature effects on IL-based supercapacitor performance. (A) Schematic setup for a supercapacitor with two identical porous electrodes and the spherical shell model that is used in cDFT to study the effect of curvature. (B) Charge density on the concave (outer) and convex (inner) surfaces as a function of the inner radius of the spherical shell obtained with a pore thickness D = 4.0 nm at a surface potential $\Psi = 1.5 V$. (C) Integral capacitance of the convex surface as a function of the pore width D for different values of the inner radius R. (D) Same as panel C for the concave surface. Reproduced with permission from ref 263. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.

more ordered than the experimental one. In the second case (ions inside the tubes), by varying the size of the nanotubes, Shim and Kim showed that the ions transition from a structure in which both counterions and co-ions adsorbed together in multilayers in the largest ones to a situation where the tubes are filled with aligned counterions only under stronger confinement,²⁵⁴ as shown in Figure 10B. The capacitance reaches a maximum for nanotubes of diameter ~1 nm, which is also the diameter where the structural transition occurs. This is similar to the maximum of capacitance experimentally measured in CDC with pore sizes comparable to ionic diameters.⁴⁶ However, the computed capacitances were substantially smaller. This can be attributed to the limitations of studying a single pore while the experimental carbons have a much denser structure characterized by multiple connected pores.

Switching from a one-dimensional to a bidimensional structure, numerous simulation studies considered slit pores.²⁵⁵⁻²⁵⁸ Compared to nanotubes, they are likely to be more representative of the structure of complex porous carbons, and they should in principle suffer less strongly from crowding effects on the dynamics. In particular, Feng and Cummings simulated such nanopores ranging in size from 0.67 to 1.8 nm.²⁵ Their result was even more complex than the picture drawn from experiments, because they showed an oscillatory behavior characterized by two maxima of the capacitance instead of one. Although the first maximum was easily attributed to the formation of a monolayer, the second one arose in the regime where the ions form multiple layers. The authors therefore interpreted this effect by the formation of wave interference, that is, the superposition of the adsorption peaks from the two electrode walls that are either constructive or destructive.

Because of the computational cost of MD simulations, it was not possible to go beyond 1.8 nm in this study, but similar systems were also investigated with cDFT, leading to a generalization of the oscillatory behavior of the capacitance with the slit pore size.

For instance, Jiang *et al.* carried out a systematic study of the influence of the pore width on the capacitance, from 2 to 30 ionic diameters.^{260,261} The pore was modeled by two symmetric hard walls of equal surface charge. The capacitance oscillates with an overall decaying envelope. This oscillatory behavior is explained by a constructive superposition of the ionic densities in the EDL on both walls. Interestingly, when the solvent is explicitly modeled by a hard-sphere dimer of opposite charges, this oscillatory behavior of the capacitance vanishes.^{261,262} Examining the density profiles, the authors indeed observed a desolvation of counterion concomitant with the capacitance peak.

Lian *et al.* analyzed the effect of the pore curvature on the capacitance of an ionic liquid-based supercapacitor.²⁶³ The electrodes are now represented as two spherical surfaces sharing the same center, as illustrated in Figure 11A. The inner sphere radius is labeled *R*, while the pore width is labeled *D*; thus, the outer sphere has a radius R + D. The ionic liquid, modeled with the restricted primitive model, can access the volume depicted in white in Figure 11A, comprised between the small sphere and the large one. The electrode potential is held constant at the same value for the inner and outer surfaces of the shell. The authors observed an oscillatory behavior of the integral capacitance with the pore width as in the case of the slit pore²⁶⁰ (see Figure 11C,D). While the capacitance at the concave interface is comparable to the slit pore one, the capacitance at the convex interface is increased by up to 50% for

the smallest pore (R = 1 nm). This can be rationalized by considering the effect of the curvature on the charge density at each surface of the shell presented in Figure 11B. When the inner radius increases, the charge on the concave surface increases greatly while that of the convex surface remains almost unchanged.

Another group studied three different electrode geometries using cDFT:¹¹² the first one is an infinite wall, while the two others separately display spherical and cylindrical shapes. On the basis of polymer DFT, they developed an ionic liquid model²⁶⁴ that is more realistic than the frequently used RPM. Here, organic anions are described by tangentially connected hard beads as illustrated in Figure 12. Some beads are charged while



1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium or [C₆MIM⁺]

Figure 12. Coarse-grained models of ionic liquids describing a series of 1-alkyl-3-methyl imidazoliums $(C_n \text{MIM}^+)$ cations and bis-(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide (TFSI) anion. Colored spheres are charged, blank ones are neutrals. Reproduced with permission from ref 112. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society.

others are neutral, and the electrode bears a constant charge. For a given electrolyte, the larger the curvature, the higher and "flatter" the capacitance; that is, the capacitance increases when passing from planar to a cylinder and then to a sphere. Regarding the influence of the alkyl chain of the cation, a longer hydrocarbon chain also gives rise to a lower magnitude for the differential capacitance because the neutral beads diminish the ability to screen the surface charge.

4.3. Mechanisms for Charging Nanopores

In bulk liquids, ions of the same sign strongly repel each other, which results in well-established Coulomb ordering effects. Thus, the structures formed inside carbon nanotubes of small dimensions, *i.e.*, a single line of similarly charged ions as obtained in the study of Shim and Kim²⁵⁴ (Figure 10B), are intriguing. This result was rationalized using a mean-field theory,²⁶⁵ which was further confirmed using MC simulations,²⁶⁶ through the

Review

The question then arose of whether such a superionic state could be formed only under specific geometries such as nanotubes or slit pores. By performing MD simulations on a realistic system made of a BMIM-PF₆ ionic liquid and nanoporous CDC electrodes, the formation of like ion pairs was shown to be a generic effect inside electrified nanopores.²⁶⁷ In this study, large capacitances in agreement with experimental works were further obtained, showing the importance of the superionic effect on the performance of the devices. It was only several years later that an experimental confirmation was provided. By performing X-ray scattering experiments to determine the structure of the EMIM-bis(trifluoromethane)sulfonimide (TFSI) ionic liquid inside CDC structures, Futamura et al. observed a reduction of the Coulombic ordering, only for pore sizes that could accommodate no more than a single layer of ions.²³⁷ Furthermore, the proportion of equally charged ion pairs was shown to increase when a potential was applied to the electrodes because of the induction of a surface charge of opposite sign in the carbon pore walls. The presence of a superionic state under strong confinement only was further analyzed by computing the induced surface charge under two conditions, corresponding to monolayer and bilayer ionic liquid structures. In the monolayer case, the highly charged domains are more extended and more correlated. From the energetic point of view, the confined structure is more stabilized because of an enhancement of the ion-electrode Coulombic interactions.237

Another important piece of information was obtained from both computational and *in situ* spectroscopic studies, namely, that in generic electrolytes, nanopores are initially filled by the liquid at null applied voltage. The electrode surface does not have any net charge, which implies that as many cations as anions are adsorbed in order to maintain the electroneutrality. This rules out charging mechanisms based on counterion adsorption only (unless specific ionophobic effects could be induced as discussed below) and opens the possibility for ion exchange as well as co-ion desorption to occur when a voltage is applied between the electrodes, as summarized in Figure 13. In a perspective article, Forse *et al.* therefore introduced a charging mechanism parameter in order to discriminate the various effects.⁴⁷ By analyzing data from MD,^{257,267,268} NMR,^{243,246,269} X-ray,²³¹ EQCM^{249,270} and IR,²⁷¹ they concluded that ion exchange is the dominant mechanism, even though depending on the conditions the other effects can become important.

4.4. Ionic Interactions Across Pores

Although most of these studies focused on single slit pores, it is also important to investigate the impact of adjacent pores inside the electrode. In practice, for a slit geometry this corresponds to the case of graphene-based capacitors, which have also been studied experimentally despite the difficulty of obtaining a dense structure without restacking the graphene planes together.^{16,272–274} Several cases of graphene "transparency" were reported in the literature. For example, when a metallic or a semiconductor substrate is coated with thin layers of graphene (below 6 planes), the intrinsic wettability of the assembly is not



Figure 13. Schematics of the various possible charging mechanisms in a carbon nanopore (black surface, carbon nanopore; blue circles, anions; red circles, cations; green circles, solvent molecules). At 0 V, the pore is already filled with electrolyte, and electroneutrality is conserved. Upon application of a non-null voltage, three mechanisms can occur: counterion adsorption, ion exchange, or co-ion desorption. A charging mechanism parameter was introduced to discriminate between the three based on simulation and/or *in situ* experimental techniques. Reproduced with permission from ref 47. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.



Figure 14. Adsorption of a typical electrolyte in CDC-based supercapacitors. (A) Typical snapshots of the four different adsorption modes identified in CDC electrodes (gray sticks, C–C bonds; red spheres, BMIM⁺ cations; green spheres, PF_6^- anions; blue spheres, acetonitrile molecules; gray spheres, C atoms which are in the coordination sphere of the central molecule). (B) Concentration of the various species in the four different adsorption modes at null voltage. (C) Counter-charge accumulated at the surface of the electrode (per ion) as a function of the degree of confinement of the ion for an applied voltage of 1 V. Reproduced with permission from ref 268. Copyright 2013 Nature Publishing Group.

significantly modified with respect to that of the initial substrate.²⁷⁵ A similar observation was made when nucleating ZnO nanocrystals on a surface coated with graphene. The structure of the synthesized crystals was similar to that of the substrate located on the other side of the graphene.²⁷⁶ It is therefore of interest to check whether such effects may occur in the case of graphene-based supercapacitors.

Unfortunately, it is difficult to find an experimental observable allowing for the detection of such an effect. MD simulations

were therefore performed on electrode materials made of perforated graphene sheets.²⁷⁷ The spacing between the graphene planes was fixed to a series of values corresponding to either monolayer or bilayer adsorption, as discussed previously. When the liquid adopts a monolayer structure, ions of the same sign tend to adsorb in front of each other on the two sides of the graphene plane. This was attributed to the polarization of the surface. Because of the adsorption of the first ion, the neighboring carbon atoms tend to adopt opposite



Figure 15. Simulated capacitance with respect to the charge storage per carbon atom descriptor for a series of carbons with regular pore geometry. Typical snapshots for two of the structures are also shown. Carbon atoms are colored according to their charge, with blue indicating negative and red indicating positive charge, scaled from -0.01e to 0.01e. The green sphere corresponds to the BF₄⁻ anions, and the orange spheres correspond to the BMIM cations; the transparent linear molecules are the solvent. Reproduced with permission from ref 281. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society.

charges which then attract a second ion of the same sign on the other side. In these simulations, the effect was more pronounced for PF_6^- anions than for BMIM⁺ cations, which was attributed to the more widespread charge of the latter. In the case of a bilayer of liquid, a very different situation is observed. The correlations between like and unlike ions from one pore to another almost completely vanish. It is not easy to determine whether this observation is due to a lesser localization of the surface charge of the electrode or to the formation of a structure which minimizes the overall Coulombic interactions by optimizing the packing of the ions.

Although these results were obtained using a coarse-grained model for the ionic liquid, they were then confirmed in all-atom simulations of the (2-methoxyethyl)triethylphosphonium TFSI ionic liquid in aligned graphene slit pores.²⁷⁸ The use of classical MD could also be a source of error in such a case involving very specifically the local response of the metallic electrode. Nevertheless, an electronic DFT study of the adsorption of lithium ions on the two sides of carbon nanotubes confirmed this picture. The electronic structure calculations showed that the carbon surface screens the electrostatic interaction between the ions and that the presence of an ion inside the nanotube favored the adsorption of the second ion outside.²⁷⁹

The effect of this new type of ion ordering on the electrode capacitance was investigated in more detail by combining a mean-field theory with MC simulations.²⁸⁰ By introducing a coupling constant that could be either positive or negative, the authors showed that important variations of the amount of energy stored could occur. The interpore thickness may therefore be another important parameter that needs to be tuned to design efficient capacitors.

4.5. Beyond Pore Size Effects

The formation of a liquid monolayer, in which a superionic state is induced by the screening of the Coulombic interaction because of the charge of the electrode surface, gives an almost complete picture of the origin of supercapacitance in simple nanoporous carbon geometries. However, as discussed previously, the materials employed in most experiments as well as in commercial devices are much more disordered. By performing MD simulations of realistic supercapacitors, it was possible to provide a detailed analysis of the various environments experienced by the ions.²⁶⁸ Four different adsorption types were identified, as shown on Figure 14A. They are labeled as edge, planar, hollow, and pocket sites and correspond to situations in which the coordination of the ions by carbon surface atoms increases. The concentration of the ions in each of the adsorption sites was determined (Figure 14B), demonstrating a positive correlation between the local charge stored on the electrode and the degree of confinement (Figure 14C). This led to the conclusion that concave structural motifs were necessary to increase the performance of the device. This conclusion was further confirmed in an aqueous electrolyte through the use of *in situ* X-ray scattering analyzed by a reverse MC approach.²³³

The interplay between the local structure and the capacitance of the material was further studied using a library of zeolitetemplated carbons, which are ordered nanoporous materials.²⁸¹ Because of their well-defined pore shape, it was possible to study the impact of various geometrical descriptors. Even though the average degree of confinement was not a good indicator of the performance of the overall material, the authors confirmed the importance of the local charge. As shown in Figure 15, a small radius of curvature in the carbon surface resulted in a larger amount of charge stored per carbon atom and a larger capacitance.

As mentioned previously, graphene-based materials have attracted a lot of interest from the community because they should in principle allow for the precise control of the pore size distribution. However, in such a structure only planar adsorption sites will be present. In order to test whether graphene-based supercapacitors could enhance the capacitance of the devices, MD simulations were performed using the same BMIM-PF₆ electrolyte model as for realistic CDC structures.²⁸² Although the simulations confirmed the better performance of monolayer over bilayer adsorption, it was shown that whatever the proposed metric (*i.e.*, expressing the capacitance normalized by the mass or by the volume of the electrode), the graphenebased materials yielded lower performance than the CDCs. This was attributed to a beneficial effect of having pores of different sizes in the structure. In CDCs, the small pores accommodate the counterions as discussed before, but the few larger pores also play an important role by allowing co-ions to adopt positions far from the surface in order to maximize the capacitance. This conclusion differs from the results of an earlier work focusing on the effect of pore size and dispersity on the stored energy,² which is likely due to the use of too crude hypotheses in the theory used in the latter study. In particular, the peculiar ionic adsorption structure in larger pores, with co-ions sitting in the middle and counterions closer to the surface, could not be included.

A recent study went further in analyzing the effects of interpore connectivity in complex nanoporous carbon structures.²⁸⁴ The latter were modeled using the method of Gaussian random fields, in order to mimic the structure of various CDCs and activated carbons. A probe-specific effective porosity was introduced in order to account for the ion sizes. It was shown that reduced percolation effects could lead to a substantial decrease of the stored energy density, which highlights the importance of optimizing the pore connectivity when developing new electrode materials.

Finally, an interesting feature of simulations is that they allow for the investigation of situations that have not been previously explored experimentally. In this respect, a series of works suggested tuning the wettability of the pores, introducing in particular the concept of "ionophobic" pores^{285–287} in analogy to the well-known hydrophobic effect. It is based on the fact that beyond a given voltage, pores may be filled with counterions only. Charging becomes more difficult, resulting in a fading of the capacitance, which is detrimental in terms of energy density. By using ionophobic pores, which would charge only when the driving force (the voltage) is large enough to overcome the repulsion between the electrode and the pore, it would therefore be possible to significantly enhance the energy density.²⁸⁶ However, to date, the concept remains to be realized experimentally.

4.6. Effect of the Electrolyte on the Capacitance

Compared to batteries, in which the electrolyte plays the passive role of a Li⁺ ion charge carrier, in supercapacitors it becomes an essential ingredient. Three main families of liquid electrolytes are usually considered in the literature: ionic liquids, aqueous electrolytes, and organic electrolytes, the latter being mainly based on acetonitrile or on propylene carbonate.²⁸⁸ The major bulk properties differing strongly from one family to another are the electrochemical window, which limits the operating voltage of the device and thus its specific energy, and the ionic conductivity, which directly impacts the power that can be delivered. The electrochemical window increases when passing from water to organic solvents and then to ionic liquids, while the trend is the opposite concerning the conductivity. Organic solvents are also relatively cheap, and they enable long cycle-life; therefore, they are traditionally chosen for commercial applications, but ionic liquids have attracted a lot of attention because of their high versatility.²⁹ Consequently, most molecular simulation studies have focused on these two families of electrolytes, but aqueous systems were nevertheless studied in the framework of blue energy and water desalination, as discussed in section 5.

Although some variations in the interfacial capacitance were observed in molecular simulations when changing the nature of the ions and/or of the solvents, no real trend could be extracted from the various simulation studies. In fact, most of the differences very likely arise from the use of different methods for treating the electrodes (geometry, use of electrochemical conditions) as well as the electrolyte (choice of coarse-grained models vs all-atom ones, parametrization of the force field), *etc.* In this subsection we will therefore focus on dedicated studies in which several electrolytes were studied using a common framework to allow for proper comparisons.

A first important question is whether ionic liquids and organic solvents should display different capacitances. This was expected with the rise of ionic liquids for energy applications because they should allow for the accumulation of more ions at the

interface.^{32,289} However, no such effect was observed in the literature, so a combined experimental/simulation technique was performed to specifically address this point.²⁹⁰ To this end, supercapacitors based on a generic CDC electrode and a series of electrolytes composed of a 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate (EMIM-BF₄) mixed with acetonitrile at mass fractions ranging from 0% to 67% were studied using cyclic voltammetry and MD. Despite the large variations in the number of adsorbed ions inside the electrodes at null potential, the capacitance was shown to vary only slightly: A smaller capacitance was obtained in experiments for the pure ionic liquid, but this was attributed to the much more sluggish dynamics of this system at room temperature (preventing thermodynamic equilibrium for being reached). This constant trend was attributed to an increasing difficulty of separating oppositely charged ions as they become more concentrated. In the organic solvent, this separation is facilitated because of the screening of the Coulombic interactions. The charging mechanism parameter introduced above (Figure 13) was also calculated. In the dilute electrolyte, the smaller concentration of ions leads to a mechanism dominated by counterion adsorption; ion exchanges then become progressively more important when the composition tends toward the pure ionic liquid.

Systematically comparing several solvents by MD is a complex multidimensional problem, which can be drastically simplified using cDFT. Jiang et al. studied the role of the solvent²⁹¹ by systematically varying its polarity between 0.85 and 4.5 D. For a low-polarity solvent (\leq 1.7 D), the capacitance exhibits oscillations as a function of the pore size, similar to the case of pure ionic liquids.²⁶⁰ For an intermediate polarity solvent, one recovers the behavior previously reported in ref 260, with a damping of the oscillations after the first peak. Highly polar solvents (4.5 D) exhibit another behavior with the appearance of a second maximum at three ionic diameters, which is actually larger than the first peak occurring at a distance corresponding to one ionic diameter. Examining the density profiles, the authors propose that this new behavior might be due to the presence of antialigned dipoles. Finally, plotting the value of the capacitance in a 4 nm pore as a function of the solvent polarity, a volcanoshape trend is observed, where the capacitance increases with the polarity until it reaches a maximum at around 4 D before decreasing.

The same group also studied with cDFT the impact of impurities on the performance of the supercapacitor.²⁹² The electrolyte is still modeled by a restricted primitive model, and 1% impurity is added. The impurities are neutral hard spheres with radii identical to that of the ions, r = 5 Å. Their interaction with the narrow slit pore of width H = 6 Å is modeled by a square potential of depth ω . If $\omega > 0$, the pore tends to repel the impurities from the surface, while if $\omega < 0$, impurity adsorption is favored. Within this model, the capacitance and the energy stored by the device remain unchanged when the impurities are not attracted by the pore ($\omega > 0$). However, when $\omega < 0$, the capacitance versus potential curve changes from bell shape to camel shape, and the more the impurities are attracted by the pore, the more energy is stored by the capacitor. These effects are rationalized by looking at the density profiles. When the impurities have no affinities with the pore ($\omega \ge 0$), the charging mechanism solely consists of co-ion/counterion exchange as in the absence of impurities. The more ω is negative, the more the pore is filled by impurities at null potential. At very negative ω , the charging mechanism involves replacement of neutral impurities by counterions. At intermediate values of ω the



Figure 16. Illustration of the capacitive mixing (CapMix) concept. (A) Illustration of the steps of the CapMix cycle, described in the text. (B) Illustration of the CapMix cycle in the charge/voltage plane. The area of the closed dashed region is equal to the energy than can theoretically be extracted per cycle. Adapted with permission from ref 298. Copyright 2012 Royal Society of Chemistry under CC BY 3.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

mechanism consists of both co-ion-counterion exchange and counterion insertion.

Since Fedorov *et al.* initially related the camel shape of the capacitance to the presence of neutral tails of ions in ionic liquids,¹⁸⁶ Wu *et al.* explored the effect of the asphericity of ions²⁹³ by modeling the cation as a dimer made of one charged and one neutral sphere. Using MD simulations, they found that the shape of the differential capacitance transforms continuously from a double hump to a single hump as the electrolyte concentration is increased for both the spherical and non-spherical cations. They concluded that the transition from bell shape to camel shape is thus mainly due to concentration effects.

Finally, Neal *et al.*²⁹⁴ studied with cDFT the properties of a double-layer capacitor filled with mixtures of two ionic liquids, namely, a symmetric salt in which both ions have the same diameter (0.5 nm) and an asymmetric one made of the same cation and a smaller anion (0.3 nm). They computed the capacitance as a function of the molar fractions of the ionic liquid for different values of the applied potential. The capacitance of the asymmetric salt is larger than the symmetric one. More interestingly, the capacitance reaches a maximum when the ionic liquid is a mixture of both anion sizes. The electrolyte composition corresponding to the maximum capacitance varies with the surface potential. The increased capacitance is attributed to an optimal ion packing near the charged surface: the small anions intercalate into the layer-by-layer structure formed between the larger cations and anions.

5. BLUE ENERGY HARVESTING AND WATER DESALINATION USING CAPACITORS

As mentioned in the Introduction, capacitive effects can be exploited in thermodynamic cycles to harvest (so-called "osmotic" or "blue") energy from salinity gradients or conversely to desalinate water. The potential of salinity gradients as energy sources was recognized almost 70 years ago.⁴ The mixing free energy of salty seawater with fresh river water, which can be estimated from the ideal, entropic contribution, is of the order of 2.8 kJ/L of each solution (equivalent to the change in potential energy through a 280 m waterfall), and it is estimated that a power of ~1 TW could be harnessed on the global scale.²⁹⁵ However, recovering this yet untapped energy source remains a great challenge for membrane-based technologies, which dissipate a large fraction of the potentially extractable energy

(conversely, membrane-based technologies to desalinate water are energy intensive), and many efforts have been dedicated to improving their efficiency. Alternative approaches, based on nanofluidics in 1D nanotubes or 2D materials, have demonstrated the possibility of achieving much larger powers than with conventional membrane-based technologies.^{9,296} Porous carbon electrodes such as the one used in supercapacitors for energy storage may contribute to the development of these new approaches to convert ionic currents in the device to electronic ones usable in an electric circuit. Here, we focus instead on another strategy to extract blue energy using a capacitor (capacitive mixing, CapMix^{10,297,298}), or conversely to desalinate water (capacitive deionization, CDI^{299–301}). After describing the basic principle of these processes, we highlight some challenges for modeling and the insights gained from molecular simulations and DFT.

5.1. Capacitive Mixing and Capacitive Deionization

The principle of the CapMix cycle, proposed by Brogioli in 2009,¹⁰ is shown in Figure 16A. It consists of four steps, involving the charge/discharge of a capacitor consisting of (porous carbon) electrodes and an electrolyte with high/low salt concentration: (1) The capacitor is charged with the high-concentration electrolyte. (2) The circuit is open, and the capacitor is flushed with the low-concentration electrolyte. (3) The capacitor is flushed with the high-concentration electrolyte. During this cycle, the charge accumulated on the electrolyte. During this cycle, the charge accumulated on the electrodes and the potential difference between them change, as shown schematically in Figure 16B. The area enclosed within the loop is equal to the energy that can theoretically be extracted per cycle and is equal to

$$\Delta E_{\text{cycle}} = \left(\frac{1}{C_1} + \frac{1}{C_2}\right) (C_1 - C_2) \frac{\Delta \Psi^2}{2}$$
(8)

where C_1 and C_2 are the capacitances in the presence of the high/low salt concentration electrolyte and $\Delta \Psi$ is the voltage between the electrodes at the end of steps 1 and 3. Other thermodynamic cycles have been proposed, ^{302,303} but in all cases the process crucially relies on the fact that the capacitance depends on the concentration of the electrolyte. In CDI, the cycle is reversed and the corresponding energy must be spent to desalinate water. In order to optimize both processes, many



Figure 17. Models for CapMix devices. (A) A full device consists of two macroscopic porous electrodes maintained at different potentials. Inside each electrode, the confined fluid can exchange particles with the bulk electrolyte reservoir, and the exchange of ions leading to charge storage occurs mainly in nanopores. Reproduced with permission from ref 304. Copyright 2015 IOP Publishing. (B) Two standard approaches used in the contexts of CapMix and CDI (see text for more details): GCS theory and modified Donnan (mD) model, thought to apply better in the limits of nonoverlapping and overlapping electric double layer regimes, respectively. The lines represent the potential distribution at the interface or inside the pore. cDFT can provide a more accurate description of the ionic and potential distribution in the same model geometries, including at larger concentrations. Adapted with permission from ref 299. Copyright 2015 Royal Society of Chemistry under CC BY 3.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/). (C) Molecular simulation of a capacitor consisting of two nanoporous carbon electrodes maintained at a constant potential difference and a 1 M aqueous NaCl solution (top). The charge of each electrode atom fluctuates (color scale in the middle part of the panel) in response to the instantaneous microscopic configuration of the electrolyte (bottom). Reproduced with permission from ref 305. Copyright 2018 American Physical Society under CC BY 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

efforts on the theoretical side have been devoted to the prediction of the capacitance as a function of salt concentration (in the range of a few 10 mM typical of fresh river water to a few 100 mM typical of salty seawater) and of the nature of the electrode (porosity, pore size, chemical defects, *etc.*).

5.2. Challenges for Modeling

As for energy storage applications, the challenges for modeling are numerous, and various strategies have been proposed to predict the capacitance and the salt adsorption capacity (mass of salt adsorbed inside the electrode per unit mass of electrode, which is more important for CDI than for CapMix). Figure 17A illustrates the concept underlying most theoretical approaches: A potential difference is imposed between two macroscopic porous electrodes separated by a bulk electrolyte, which acts as a salt reservoir exchanging ions with the fluid confined inside each electrode. The ion exchange occurs mainly in the nanopores, whose surfaces are maintained at the same potential (one value for each electrode). At equilibrium, the chemical potential of each species is equal in all "phases", and one can deduce properties inside the pore from that of the reservoir and from the potential difference between the electrodes. The properties of the whole device are computed from predictions at the pore level and from global structural properties, such as the porosity and the specific surface area.

Molecular-scale information on the confined electrolyte can be obtained from in situ X-ray and neutron experiments.^{233,306} On the theoretical side, pore-level predictions are typically obtained from a simplified description of the interface using Poisson-Boltzmann (GCS) theory, possibly also introducing excluded volume effects or using cDFT. For nanoporous materials, an alternative approach successfully used to model experimental data in the context of CDI, the so-called modified Donnan (mD) model, considers instead the equilibrium between ions inside the micropore treated as homogeneous (beyond ions adsorbed in a Stern layer) and the bulk reservoir.³⁰⁷ The mD model requires introducing parameters such as an attractive chemical potential or a Stern layer capacitance; the resulting expressions are rather simple, and the parameters can be fitted to successfully describe experimental results. The PB/GCS and mD approaches are generally thought to better apply in the limits of nonoverlapping and overlapping EDLs, respectively. They are illustrated in Figure 17B, which shows schematized potential profiles at the interface and within the pore in relation to the distribution of ions.

cDFT provides a more accurate theory valid not only in both limit cases but also in intermediate regimes and at higher concentrations thanks to a better account of excluded volume effects. Some results will be presented in section 5.4. In order to go beyond the idealized slit pore geometry typically considered

10881

in PB or cDFT studies, it is possible to use constant-potential molecular simulations with a realistic pore structure, as illustrated in Figure 17C. While MD simulations provide in principle the most accurate description of the molecular interactions among ions, solvent molecules, and electrodes, their computational cost prevents their systematic use to make predictions. In particular, the system sizes that can be simulated are small, and concentrations lower than 0.1 M are difficult to handle because the corresponding number of ions in the simulation box is too small to obtain statistically converged results within typical simulation times. This is obviously an issue to make direct predictions for the low-concentration electrolyte involved in CapMix or CDI, typically on the order of a few tens of mM.

5.3. Molecular Dynamics

The possibility to use nanoporous carbon electrodes (such as the CDCs used with organic electrolytes and ionic liquids in supercapacitors) for CapMix or CDI^{308–310} and the known limitations of PB-like approaches to predict their properties due to the breakdown of the underlying approximations in such materials, together with the previous success of constant-potential MD simulations for supercapacitors, motivated Simoncelli *et al.* to investigate the predictive power of this latter approach with aqueous electrolytes.³⁰⁵ The setup used in these simulations is shown in Figure 17C. Compared to previous work on supercapacitors using coarse-grained models of ionic liquids dissolved in acetonitrile,²⁶⁸ the use of an all-atom model for water was necessary, which together with the smaller size of water molecules resulted in a significant increase in the total number of atoms.

MD simulations were performed for one CDC structure and for two concentrations, 0.5 and 1 M, *i.e.*, only in the highconcentration regime for CapMix and CDI. The predicted capacitances, on the order of ~110–120 F·g⁻¹, were in good agreement with experiments, and their slight increase with concentration was correctly captured. As expected (because the corresponding representation of the interface is too simple when the molecular nature of the ions and the solvent play an essential role), this was not the case with Debye–Hückel or PB theory, even when introducing a modified solvent permittivity due to confinement^{311–315} or a maximum ion concentration to account for excluded volume effects.^{161,168,316,317} Using parameters from the literature, fitted to experimental data for similar materials (at lower salt concentrations),^{308,318} the modified Donnan model underestimated the order of magnitude of the capacitance but correctly predicted a slight increase with concentration.

In order to make predictions for lower concentrations relevant for CapMix and CDI, for which it was not possible to perform MD simulations, Simoncelli *et al.* parametrized a modified Donnan model on their simulation results at high concentrations. The values of the capacitance extrapolated at lower concentration using this model were in relatively good agreement with the experiments, available down to 50 mM. The mD model parametrized to reproduce the MD capacitance at high concentration also allowed for the consideration of the salt adsorption capacity (relevant for CDI) over the whole concentration range, after checking that it reasonably predicted the ones determined from the MD simulations at high concentration.

MD simulations further provide microscopic insights into the structure of the electrolyte inside the nanopores. It was found in ref 305 that the desolvation of the ions was quite limited

compared to observations with organic ions dissolved in acetonitrile.²⁶⁸ The same conclusion was reached in a later study by Ganfoud *et al.*, who observed that only ~10% of Na⁺ cations lose 1 molecule of their first solvation shell inside the nanopores of CDC, while desolvation is more pronounced with Cl^- anions, which may lose 1–2 molecules in order to make direct contact with the carbon surface.³¹⁹ Such a desolvation was found to be even more limited on graphite surfaces, which can serve as model of carbon materials with wider pores.^{282,319}

Overall, the results from these studies confirmed both the potential of CDC electrodes for CapMix and CDI applications and that of classical MD to investigate aqueous electrolytes in these materials. Because the electrolyte (sea or river water) cannot be changed as for energy storage applications, it might be useful to study the influence on other parameters, e.g., the role of surface functionalization³²⁰ to optimize the performance of the processes. However, as mentioned above, the computational cost of such MD simulations prevents their use for systematic studies or to make predictions at low concentrations. In order to go beyond the parametrization of a modified Donnan on MD at high concentration to extrapolate to the low concentration regime relevant for CapMix and CDI, one needs descriptions capturing the molecular details of the electrolyte and its interactions with the disordered nanoporous electrodes. As in the previously discussed case of supercapacitors, cDFT proves to be an appropriate alternative.

5.4. Density Functional Theory

The first investigation of the CapMix process with cDFT was carried out by Boon and van Roij, using a simple functional with a mean-field treatment of electrostatics and a lattice-gas-like treatment of the steric effects,³⁰² a level of theory equivalent to the modified PB method.¹⁶¹ The porous electrode is modeled by two parallel walls bearing the same uniform charge density, and the gap between them is filled by the inhomogeneous electrolyte immersed in an implicit dielectric solvent (see Figure 17A). As described previously, taking into account the steric effect corrects some known defects of the GC model. For example, at high surface charge density it prevents the too large condensation of counterions, and the surface potential increases much more strongly with the surface charge density than the logarithmic behavior predicted by the GC model.

Using thermodynamic arguments, they draw an analogy between the electrical work produced by the EDL capacitors and the mechanical work produced by a heat engine. With this analogy in mind, they proposed that a Carnot-like cycle would be more efficient than the one proposed by Brogioli, producing more work per ion exchanged from the sea to the river. This cycle consists of replacing branches 2 and 4 of the original cycle displayed in Figure 16B, which are flushing of the solution at a constant electrode charge, with the same operations at a constant number of ions. They then carried out a detailed study of the energetic performance of the Brogioli and of the Carnotlike cycles using cDFT, considering high and low salt concentrations of 0.6 and 0.024 M, respectively, and several pairs of high and low surface charge. Note that such a dilute concentration is out of reach for MD and MC simulation. The analysis confirms that the Carnot-like cycle provides more work per exchanged ion than the original Brogioli cycle, even though the latter offers more work per cycle. It is however difficult to make quantitative comparisons because at comparable electrostatic potentials, the charge density in Brogioli's experiments is

almost 2 orders of magnitude smaller than the theoretical estimates.

Härtel *et al.* studied the same system with a more evolved functional for the restricted primitive model,³⁰⁴ *i.e.*, identical charged hard spheres of opposite charge immersed in a dielectric medium. The excess functional now takes the form of eqs 3 and 4 with the electrostatic correlations described using the solution of the Ornstein–Zernike equation supplemented with the mean spherical approximation (MSA) closure.^{72,197} A detailed comparison of the performance of this functional with respect to Brownian dynamics in the context of electrode/electrolyte interfaces can be found in ref 321. The electrode potential is imposed as a boundary condition for the Poisson equation, which is solved alongside functional minimization to determine the ionic density profiles and the electrode charge.

The voltage rise at fixed electrode charge, $\Delta \Psi(Q)$, between the dilute and the concentrated electrolytes for a given electrode charge Q is directly related to the amount of blue energy that can be harvested. This quantity reaches a plateau at high electrode charge density for the two pore sizes investigated, 2 and 8 Å. This plateau is properly captured by all the different level of theories considered in this study, ranging from PB to cDFT with MSA treatment of electrostatic correlations. When steric effects are included, the value of the plateau rises by 30%. Interestingly, when the dependency of the solvent dielectric constant on the salt concentration is taken into account, the evolution of the voltage rise with the electrode charge is no longer monotonic and a maximum is reached at intermediate charges. In the context of CapMix or CDI, this means that devices could be optimized by an adequate choice of the operating voltage.

Another direction is to exploit the effect of temperature. Van Roij *et al.* explored this idea in a series of publications combining thermodynamic considerations and cDFT calculations.^{322–324} These studies predict in particular³¹⁴ an increase by a factor of 2 of the energy extracted by the CapMix device if the dilute source is heated from 10 to 50 °C. The authors therefore proposed to take advantage of this effect to build a heat-to-current converter to harvest waste energy.³²³ As opposed to CapMix, in such a process it is no longer necessary to change the solution filling the cell and the same sealed device is charged and discharged at different temperatures.

Kong et al. also used cDFT to describe the CapMix device, considering a smooth hard slit pore of width H filled by an electrolyte modeled by the primitive model.³²⁵ The functional includes correlation through FMT to describe the steric effect and MSA to account for the electrostatic correlations.³²⁶ In this study, the effects of the pore size H and the charging potential Ψ on the extracted energy per cycle and per exchanged ion are investigated systematically. The predictions of Gouy-Chapman and cDFT agree well for large pores, but it is no longer the case when the width of the pore becomes smaller than 2 nm. The discrepancy increases with the applied potential. Interestingly, the efficiency and the extracted energy predicted by cDFT reaches a maximum at intermediate applied potential values for pores smaller than ~ 2 nm. For a given pore size, the potential maximizing the extracted energy per ion exchanged and the one maximizing the extracted energy per cycle differ. These optimal charging potentials are also very sensitive to the pore size. For this system, the optimal pore size is around 2 nm because the overall maximum value of the extracted energy per cycle is reached for this width.

Lian *et al.* analyzed the effect of the electrode hydrophilicity on the CapMix cycle using the same functional in ref 327. The hydrophilicity of the electrode surface is accounted for by modifying the dielectric constant in the vicinity of the electrode 314 as

$$\varepsilon(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } z < z^{\text{DDS}} \\ \varepsilon_b & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(9)

where z is the distance to the closest electrode plane and $z^{\text{DDS}} = 0.5\sigma$ or 0.52σ for a hydrophilic or hydrophobic surface, respectively, with σ the ion diameter (the DDS superscript refers to dielectric dividing surface³¹⁴). The predicted surface charge as a function of the applied potential is reduced when the electrode becomes more hydrophobic. Regarding the differential capacitance, the predicted shapes are the same regardless of the hydrophilicity of the electrode, but the magnitude is reduced in the case of the hydrophobic surface. The same trend is observed for the work extracted by the CapMix cycle as a function of the electrode charge. The curves have the same shape with a maximum located at the same position, but hydrophilic electrodes allow for the extraction of more energy than the hydrophobic ones. This is in agreement with experiments³²⁸ and a possible route for optimizing the process.

The same group investigated the capacitive energy extraction using electrodes consisting of several (from 1 to 6) layers of graphene.³²⁹ The graphene electrodes are still modeled by hard slit pores, and their molecular nature is fully neglected, while the ions are described as charged hard spheres and the solvent as an explicit dipolar hard dimer,³³⁰ using the MSA functional to capture electrostatic correlations. In addition, a quantum calculation is done alongside the cDFT one, using an implicit solvation model to estimate the quantum capacitance of the electrodes.³³¹ The charge on the electrode is fixed, and two independent calculations are performed: cDFT to obtain the potential drop across the EDL and electronic DFT to obtain the one due to the quantum capacitance. The total capacitance of the interface, C_{tot} is then obtained according to eq 5. The EDL capacitance is not affected by the number of layers of graphene, while the quantum capacitance increases with the number of layers. This results in a change of the shape of the differential capacitance as a function of the charging potential when the number of layers of graphene increases. For the single-layer graphene, C_Q is small compared to C_{EDL} , so that the total capacitance resembles the quantum one and the profile is "Vshaped". When the number of graphene layers increases, C_{O} becomes larger than C_{EDL} , and the total capacitance resembles the latter, leading to a camel shape. Overall the total capacitance increases with the number of layers and tends to converge beyond 4-5 layers. The potential rise when salty water is replaced by dilute water reaches a maximum for an optimal value of applied voltage whatever the number of graphene layers. The maximum value of potential rise hardly depends on this number, but the applied potential at which it is reached does. Adding layers decreases the optimal potential, again with a convergence with 4-5 layers. Similar conclusions are drawn for the amount of extracted energy: it reaches a maximum at intermediate charging potential, and the corresponding potential decreases when the number of layers increases. More interestingly, the maximum value of the extracted work increases by 60% when the number of graphene layers increases from 1 to 6.

6. DYNAMICAL PROCESSES IN SUPERCAPACITORS

Because the main advantage of supercapacitors compared to batteries is their ability to deliver large power and their corresponding fast charge/discharge,³⁴ several theoretical strategies have also been developed to understand the dynamical processes occurring inside the electrodes. As for thermodynamic and structural properties, these approaches include continuous models, cDFT, and molecular simulations so as to cover the relevant range of length and time scales. In order to make the link with electrochemical experiments, usually quantified by the electrochemical impedance of the cell as a function of frequency, $Z(\omega)$, several studies also tried to bridge scales by devising equivalent circuit models from their results at a given scale and level of description.

6.1. Continuous Models

The dynamics of EDLs in capacitors can be described at the mean-field level within the framework of Poisson–Nernst–Planck (PNP) theory. This description couples the Poisson equation for the electric potential ψ :

$$\nabla^2 \psi = -\frac{\rho_{\rm el}}{\epsilon_0 \epsilon_{\rm r}} \tag{10}$$

with $\rho_{\rm el} = \sum_i z_i e \rho_i$ the local charge density, expressed here from the concentrations ρ_i of the ionic species with valencies z_i , and ϵ_r the dielectric constant of the solvent, with a conservation law for the ionic species, taking into account their diffusion due to local concentration gradients and their migration under the effect of the local electric field:

$$\frac{\partial \rho_i}{\partial t} = \nabla \cdot \left[D_i \nabla \rho_i + \frac{D_i z_i e}{k_{\rm B} T} \rho_i \nabla \psi \right] \tag{11}$$

with D_i the ionic diffusion coefficients. At equilibrium, this reduces to PB theory. Bazant, Thornton, and Ajdari provided in ref 332 a thorough discussion of the diffuse-charge dynamics in parallel-plate capacitors based on the above PNP equations, including a historical review and the link with equivalent circuit models—in particular, the RC circuit with capacitors describing the EDL in series with a resistance describing the bulk electrolyte. They emphasized in particular the role of the characteristic time $\tau_{\rm c} \propto \sqrt{L\lambda_{\rm D}}/D$, with L the distance between the electrodes, λ_D the Debye screening length, and *D* the ionic diffusivity, which corresponds to the RC charging time in the limit of thin EDLs, and they provided a correction to this limit expression valid in the linear response regime (*i.e.*, small applied voltages). They further discussed nonlinear effects and set directions beyond the assumptions considered in their work, namely, 1D geometry, binary symmetric electrolytes with identical diffusivities, and no Faradaic reactions at the surface of the electrodes. The effect of curvature was recently investigated at the same level of description by Janssen in ref 333, who considered spherical and cylindrical electrodes and showed in particular that the ionic relaxation time scales depend explicitly on the radii of both electrodes and not only on their difference.

The case of porous electrodes, relevant for supercapacitors as well as for blue energy and desalination, was investigated under the assumption of thin double layers compared to the pore size by Biesheuvel and Bazant in ref 334. This assumption allows for a simplified treatment of transport inside the pores, where the thin layers are introduced as boundary terms for the mass and charge fluxes inside the pores (again in the case of binary symmetric electrolytes with identical diffusivities and no Faradaic reactions), supplemented by a GCS model of the double layer and overall mass and charge conservation equations. The authors evidenced two limiting regimes associated with different time scales. On the one hand, for small voltages and/or early times, they discuss a so-called "supercapacitor" regime, in which charge evolves diffusively and can be described by the transmission line model (TLM) often used to model charge dynamics in porous media,^{2,335} with a corresponding rescaled *RC* time. On the other hand, for large voltages and long times, a so-called "desalination" regime is used, where the salt concentration within the porous medium deviates significantly from its initial value. Recently, the link between electrolyte dynamics in porous media and the TLM has also been investigated in simplified 1D geometries by Janssen, who considered the effect of the finite length of the pore,³³⁶ and by Lian et al., who explicitly considered stacks of slabs with finite width.³³⁷ This last study found for example that at high voltage, the charging slows down and deviates from the TLM (which describes well the behavior at low voltage), with two relaxation time scales: one is related to the RC time and the number of stacked electrodes, and the other is related to the diffusive adsorption of salt from the bulk electrolyte to the porous electrodes.

The work of Biesheuvel and Bazant³³⁴ inspired various extensions coupling conservation equations and constitutive equations corresponding, e.g., to the modified Donnan model presented in section 5 for the exchange of ions between micropores and larger pores acting as reservoirs. This simplified description of the system pragmatically captures the essential features and can be parametrized to reproduce in particular the evolution of the adsorbed salt and the electrode charge during CDI as a function of the half-cycle time.^{307,339,340} The theory can also take into account electrochemical reactions at the surface of the electrodes and their kinetics via the Frumkin-Butler-Volmer equation.^{341,342} The flexibility of this approach offers a convenient framework to analyze experimental data in complex processes such as CDI beyond the traditional equivalent circuit models such as the TLM used for supercapacitors, even though such models remain an important component even in the context of CDI.299

While the PNP equations neglect the coupling with the solvent dynamics, which results in so-called electrokinetic effects, such coupling can be captured at the same level of theory by coupling the PNP equations, including an advection term $\rho_k \mathbf{u}$, with \mathbf{u} the local velocity of the fluid, in the ionic fluxes and describing the evolution of u via the Navier-Stokes equation, including the local electric force density $-\rho_{\rm el}\nabla\psi$. This PNP-Stokes framework is the cornerstone for the study of electrokinetic effects such as electro-osmosis, i.e., the fluid flow induced by an applied electric field due to the net charge within EDLs, which develops even in charge-neutral regions far from the surfaces because of momentum diffusion. Fluid flow usually does not play a major role in the charge/discharge of capacitors because of the geometry of electrochemical cells, with electrodes imposing a vanishing normal component of the fluid velocity at their surface. In more complex geometries, electrokinetic effects in capacitors can be investigated by solving the PNP-Stokes equations numerically or by using other numerical approaches, such as lattice Boltzmann simulations capturing electrokinetic couplings as well as other phenomena such as adsorption/ desorption on surfaces.^{343–349} A recent study by Asta *et al.* introduced a modification of the electrostatic boundary conditions in such lattice Boltzmann electrokinetics simulations to investigate the charging dynamics in nanoscale capacitors in various geometries, as well as electro-osmotic flows induced by



Figure 18. Charging dynamics of parallel plate EDLCs. (A) Evolution of surface charge density with time for different cell widths. Blue, red, and black curves correspond to the normal charging scenario; the purple and yellow curves exhibit a non-monotonic charging, whereas there is a charge inversion for the cyan curve. (B) Equilibrium surface charge density versus the cell width predicted by TDcDFT. The blue dotted line is the asymptotic limit of the effective surface charge density at infinite electrode separation. Adapted with permission from ref 338. Copyright 2014 American Chemical Society.

additional applied electric fields parallel to the electrode surfaces in charged capacitors.³⁵⁰ Such an approach is in fact not limited, at least in principle, to the PNP–Stokes description of the electrolyte solution, because it relies on a more general nonequilibrium thermodynamics formulation of the evolution of the composition due to local thermodynamic gradients, which we now describe briefly to illustrate its applications to the charging dynamics in supercapacitors.

6.2. Time-Dependent cDFT

cDFT, already presented in the previous sections for the study of structural and thermodynamic properties, can also be extended to describe the evolution of the density fields. Such a time-dependent cDFT (TDcDFT) is generally expressed in the simple form of a conservation equation:³⁵¹

$$\frac{\partial \rho_i}{\partial t} = \nabla \cdot \left[M_i \rho_i \nabla \left(\frac{\delta F}{\delta \rho_i} \right) \right] \tag{12}$$

where M_i is the mobility of species *i* and the functional derivative on the right-hand side expresses the local chemical potential $\mu_i(\mathbf{r})$, which can be computed for a given choice of the free energy functional. For sufficiently dilute solutions, the mobility can be taken as $M_i = D_i/k_{\rm B}T$, with D_i the diffusion coefficient, and the free energy functional can be limited to the ideal and mean-field electrostatic contributions. Equation 12 then reduces to the PNP eqs 10 and 11. TDcDFT provides a generic framework to go beyond this simple approximation by introducing more physical ingredients, such as excluded volume, via the free energy functional—and in principle also in the mobility, even though this other aspect is typically less explored.

Jiang *et al.*³³⁸ used TDcDFT to investigate the charging properties of RTIL-based parallel plate capacitors with various interelectrode distances, ranging from a few to a few tens of molecular diameters. Using a functional for restricted primitive models, the authors studied the evolution of the electrode charge in response to an applied voltage, as well as the corresponding evolution of the ionic density profiles. They found the charging dynamics to be highly sensitive to the interelectrode distance: The evolution of the charge can be monotonic as for the usual equivalent *RC* circuit model, but also non-monotonic, reaching a maximum before decaying exponentially toward the equilibrium value. More surprisingly, in some

cases, the ionic density profiles lead to an effective surface charge density with a sign opposite to the one expected from the applied voltage. The different behaviors are illustrated in Figure 18A. A systematic analysis of the influence of the interelectrode distance L showed that the type of charging dynamics can be correlated with the value of the steady-state surface charge density (*i.e.*, after the transient regime), Q_L , with respect to the one for an infinite separation, Q_{∞} , represented as a dotted blue line in Figure 18B. The charging dynamics is monotonic when $Q_L > Q_{\infty}$ and is nonmonotonic otherwise.

The same group also studied the effect of dispersion interactions for sufficiently large pores (20 ionic diameters) to avoid the above-mentioned effect of the interelectrode distance.³⁵² In this regime, the charging dynamics are monotonic in the absence of dispersion. Including dispersion interactions between ions leads to a nonmonotonic charging dynamics, with a quick rise to a maximum followed by an exponential decay toward the equilibrium value. In contrast, dispersion interactions between ions and the electrode walls do not alter the monotonic nature of the charging dynamics (at least over the range of considered values).

Finally, the potential profiles obtained from cDFT can also be combined with the Stokes equation to predict the stationary electro-osmotic flow in simple geometries and then be introduced in an effective medium approximation to capture the effects of the pore size distribution and network connectivity. In agreement with earlier work by Obliger et al. based on lattice Boltzmann simulations corresponding to the PNP-Stokes description of the fluid (see section 6.1) combined by a pore network model approach,³⁴⁸ the cDFT-Stokes study of Lian et al.³⁵³ emphasized the difference between the transport through a single pore and that between a porous network. Even though this possibility has not been explored in the context of supercapacitors, one can go beyond such a coupling between cDFT (for the ionic and potential profiles) and Stokes equation (for hydrodynamics) to treat both consistently at the level of kinetic theory (and corresponding implementation in lattice Boltzmann algorithms).354,355

6.3. Molecular Dynamics

Mean-field and cDFT-based techniques thus provide most of the key dynamic properties of EDLCs and blue energy/ desalination devices for generic electrolytes and well-controlled



Figure 19. Equivalent circuit models. (A) Typical snapshot of a simulation cell, with the corresponding equivalent circuit model. Blue, acetonitrile molecules; red, BMIM⁺ cations; green, PF_6^- anions; and turquoise, carbon electrodes. In the equivalent circuit model, R_{bulk} is the resistance of the electrolyte in the bulk region, while R_1 and C_1 are the resistance and the capacitance inside the electrodes, respectively. (B) Total charge accumulated on the positive electrode during a charge–discharge–charge cycle obtained directly from MD simulations (black) and using the equivalent circuit model (red). Reproduced with permission from ref 356. Copyright 2016 Elsevier.

(simplified) electrode geometries. However, they cannot capture molecular-scale effects occurring when the ionic adsorption properties and their interplay with diffusion become dominant, which is typically the case in complex nanoporous carbons. Yet, compared to the structural observables, dynamical ones are much more difficult to compute using classical MD (and impossible in the case of MC because of the absence of time). It typically requires much longer sampling times to obtain converged properties. In addition, compared to bulk liquids in which it is possible to efficiently compute properties such as the diffusion coefficient, the electrical conductivity, or the viscosity from equilibrium simulations using suitable time-correlation functions (*e.g.*, via Green–Kubo relations), in EDLC simulations the presence of the two phases and of interfaces makes such approaches much more difficult.

As a consequence of these difficulties, the earliest MD studies on the dynamics of liquids inside nanoporous electrodes employed primitive or coarse-grained models for the ions in order to reduce the simulation times and obtain longer trajectories.^{285,357} It is first interesting to focus on the case of slit-like pores. Kondrat et al. observed drastic variations in the composition (and thus in the structure) of the liquid depending on the applied voltage.²⁸⁵ At both null and large potentials, the ions tend to order inside the pore, which results in very slow dynamics, while for intermediate voltages, the structure is fluidlike. Intriguingly, the diffusion coefficients could then reach values larger (by 1 order of magnitude) than in the bulk electrolyte, because of the drastic change in the ionic concentrations. In addition to these structural changes, dynamical properties are affected by collective effects, such as overfilling/defilling events. This behavior was further confirmed by performing computer simulations of cyclic voltammetry experiments.³⁵⁸ In this study, in which a coarse-grained model was used for the ionic liquid instead of a primitive one, it was shown that charge storage at high scan rates is dominated by counterions while the contribution by co-ions is marginal or negative because of crowding effects. At low scan rates, the charging mechanism is less affected, resulting in a larger charge accumulated at the surface of the electrode.

In a further study focusing on the effect of the slit-pore length on the structure of the adsorbed fluid, the latter was shown to depend on the charging method in MD simulations.³⁵⁹ Applying abruptly a voltage or increasing its value linearly did not lead to the same charging dynamics. Indeed, the first case resulted in large amounts of co-ions trapped at the entrance of the pore, an effect prevented when the voltage changes more smoothly. This approach was investigated further, and an optimal voltage sweep was deduced, resulting in an overall much faster charging dynamics for the system.³⁶⁰ This effect is not reversible because in the case of the discharge, an abrupt change of potential resulted in faster dynamics. This approach was verified experimentally.³⁶¹ Finally, these authors proposed the use of nonlinear voltage sweeps to further increase the power density of the devices.

The importance of the rate at which the voltage is increased was also confirmed using a more elaborate atomistic model for the ionic liquid EMIM-BF₄.³⁶² Again in a slit-shape porous structure, Pak and Hwang have indeed shown by adjusting the voltage scan rate that the final amount of accumulated charge depends on the extent of crowding effects. In particular, upon rapid charging, the formation of a dense neutral region at the entrance of the pore hinders the fast accumulation of counterions.

We next move on to the case of complex nanoporous electrodes, for which the variations are much less pronounced, probably because of the disorder of the structure. In a first study performed on three different CDC structures,¹⁰⁵ highly heterogeneous charging dynamics were observed, with some pores charging very quickly and others much more progressively.³⁵⁷ The variation of the charge with time was used to parametrize an equivalent circuit model using four physical parameters, namely, the resistivity in the bulk liquid and inside the pores and the capacitance of two successive layers of the porous electrodes (see a simulation snapshot and the corresponding circuit in Figure 19A). This approach allowed for extrapolation of the molecular simulation results to macroscale devices, yielding charging times of the order of a second for a typical electrode width of 100 μ m. Although in good agreement with experiments, this comparison remained indirect, so that further simulations were performed on a system in parallel to experiments.³⁶³ In-pore diffusivities were computed for the ions, from which the resistivity of the liquid was determined (and not fitted as in the equivalent circuit model mentioned above). The latter was directly compared to results extracted from electrochemical impedance measurements, yielding almost quantitative agreement. When injecting back the calculated parameters into the equivalent circuit model, the latter showed very good agreement with previous charging simulations in which the potential was abruptly turned on to a finite value as shown in Figure 19B, further confirming the validity of the corresponding model.³⁵⁶



Figure 20. Electrolytes and electrode structures investigated in a recent study of MXene-based supercapacitors. In particular, the surface termination of the electrode material (with F, O, or OH groups) may impact the energy storage properties. Reproduced with permission from ref 365. Copyright 2020 Elsevier.

The analysis of charging mechanisms then showed that it was characterized by a hierarchy of time scales arising from ion confinement, solvation, and electrosorption effects. For the adsorption, the importance of the nature of the electrolyte (organic vs ionic liquid) and of the local confinement of the ions on the carbon structure was also investigated by computing site-dependent adsorption lifetimes.³⁶⁴

7. CONCLUDING REMARKS

The scientific approach to studying EDLCs has greatly evolved over the past decades. Although materials synthesis and electrochemical characterization remain at the core of this research field, they are now complemented by a wide range of *in* situ spectroscopic techniques as well as theoretical and simulation methods. This combination has led to a much better understanding of the physical phenomena at play and thus to the selection of systems with more efficient storage mechanisms.³⁷ This review focused on microscopic-scale descriptions, for which the most used techniques are molecular dynamics and Monte Carlo simulations and classical density functional theory. A large body of work was dedicated over the years to adapt these techniques to the case of electrochemical interfaces. They now allow much structural, dynamical, and thermodynamical information to be obtained. Some properties, such as the interfacial capacitance, are directly comparable to experiments, but some are otherwise inaccessible to most experimental techniques.

Comparison with experiments allows for the (in)validation of theoretical approaches. In most cases, the agreement is at least qualitative, thus validating the choice of the models and of the underlying approximations or assumptions. Quantitative agreement could even be obtained in some studies. This requires a careful parametrization of the simulations and entails a high computational cost. The main added-value of the simulations is to provide an accurate picture of the microscopic structure of the liquid adsorbed at the surface and its link with the charge accumulated on the electrode. Simulations have thus not only allowed for the rationalization of previous experimental results, such as the increase of the capacitance in nanoporous carbons,⁴ but also suggested conditions to optimize the performance, such as the choice of particular pore geometries,²⁶⁸ the use of ionophobic pores,²⁸⁵ or the application of different charging protocols.³⁶¹ Although these suggestions may not easily be realized experimentally, they provide interesting methods for future improvements.

Despite theses successes, many challenges are still ahead for a complete modeling of EDLC devices in future years. In the case of carbon-based EDLCs, the accessible system size does not allow for the simulation of many experimental structures. Enhancing the cDFT models based on MD studies could provide a strategy to bridge this dimensional gap. In practice, there are two difficulties to address. First, the current functionals allow simulating generic electrolytes because they are mainly based on the primitive model. In order to gain more insight into specific effects linked to the chemical nature of the ions, additional molecular ingredients need to be included in the functionals. Second, from a technical point of view, the main difficulty for simulating extended systems (such as the realistic structures of nanoporous carbons shown above) will be the reduction of the memory. In contrast to MD, which involves large CPU resources but for which software is now tuned to reduce the memory footprint, cDFT is a grid-based method, so this is currently a strong bottleneck.

In the case of MD, even though significant effort has been devoted to accurately simulating the electrodes, some limitations remain. For example, better accounting for the electronic structure would certainly yield improved capacitance prediction, while introducing the flexibility of the bonds in electrode models would enable the study of mechanical aspects involved during the charge/discharge of the devices. The advanced models based on the Thomas-Fermi representation^{130,133} or on the tight-binding approximation^{134,135} provide promising leads in that direction, but to date, very little progress has been made in order to parametrize accurate van der Waals interactions in force fields for the electrodes. On the liquid side, the models were enhanced over the years, shifting from coarsegrained or simplified force fields to polarizable ones. In the case where the polarization is handled using induced dipoles, there is a need for accessible MD software allowing the coupling between the self-consistent calculation of the dipoles of the liquid and the fluctuating charge models for the electrodes. Finally, even though very few chemical reactions are supposed to occur in EDLCs, they can be at the origin of the capacitance fading over time, but modeling them is completely beyond the range of current methods. Many studies are currently devoted to the modeling of the formation of the solid electrolyte interphase at the surface of battery electrodes.^{366,367} Research on supercapacitors can benefit from these advances by adapting the approach to the typical electrolytes involved in such devices.

However, the main challenges concern the simulation of more complex materials, which generally display pseudocapacitive signatures.³⁶⁸ Although this review focused on the study of carbon-based systems, a few recent studies have already considered other nanoporous materials, such as metal-organic frameworks³⁶⁹ or other 2D materials such as MoS₂.³⁷⁰ Among the new families of materials, MXenes appear to be very promising because of their excellent electrochemical properties.³⁷¹ Many different compounds may be obtained by changing the synthesis method. Besides the change of composition, it is for example possible to tune the surface chemistry³⁷² by changing the surface elements, as shown in Figure 20. Nevertheless, simulations on such multicomponent compounds employed so far similar methods as the ones presented here for carbon materials. The peculiar effects due to the different chemical nature of the atoms were not taken into account explicitly; therefore, further model refinements would certainly lead to improved accuracy. Taking the simple example of MoS_{2} the partial charges carried by the Mo and S atoms, as well as their ability to fluctuate to maintain the constant potential, should be different in order to reproduce correctly the interactions with the liquid electrolyte. In the case of metal-organic frameworks or MXenes, some atomic species should even not participate in the metallic character, which renders the adaptation of constant potential methods even more challenging.

Even more complex is the case of transition metal oxides (MnO_2, RuO_2) because they employ aqueous electrolytes and their redox properties are strongly affected by proton transfer reactions occurring at the surface. For such systems, classical MD is probably not well-adapted and it is necessary to use more involved methods such as DFT-based MD (in which the atomic forces are obtained from a DFT calculation at each time step). First steps were made in that direction.³⁷³⁻³⁷⁵ In these calculations, the interface is polarized using the same finitefield method mentioned above for controlling the potential of classical electrodes using three-dimensional periodic boundary conditions.^{139,140} However, the size of the systems will again be a strongly limiting factor because DFT-based MD can be used only for systems of a few hundred atoms (i.e., a few thousand electrons), which is much smaller than the dimensions of the classical MD cells employed to simulate supercapacitors. A possibility to overcome this difficulty could be the use of machine-learned force fields with DFT accuracy for the electrolytes, but these are still in their infancy.³⁷⁶

Recent experimental improvements have also been reported on the electrolyte side. For example, the introduction of waterin-salts,³⁷⁷ which are highly concentrated aqueous electrolytes, opens the way toward aqueous devices with better performance. They are characterized by the formation of complex nanostructures in the liquid state,^{378,379} and an interesting interplay between these structures and the porosity of EDLC electrodes has been observed experimentally,³⁸⁰ which remains to be investigated using molecular simulations. Biredox ionic liquids also are a promising lead for devices with increased energy densities.³⁸¹ In such systems, the difficulty for simulations is to consider explicitly the redox reactions³⁸² and to simulate the oxidized and reduced species of the couple with similar accuracy.³⁸³ Conventional MD methods do not allow accounting for such reactive events easily, so that approaches based on the surface-hopping methodology have been proposed to tackle this problem.^{384,385} In conclusion, the study of EDLCs will certainly remain an exciting field with significant room for

methological developments of microscopic simulations over the next decade.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

Guillaume Jeanmairet – Sorbonne Université, CNRS, Physicochimie des Électrolytes et Nanosystèmes Interfaciaux, PHENIX, F-75005 Paris, France; Réseau sur le Stockage Electrochimique de l'Energie (RS2E), FR CNRS 3459, 80039 Amiens, France; orcid.org/0000-0003-3560-9273; Email: guillaume.jeanmairet@sorbonne-universite.fr

- Benjamin Rotenberg Sorbonne Université, CNRS, Physicochimie des Electrolytes et Nanosystèmes Interfaciaux, PHENIX, F-75005 Paris, France; Réseau sur le Stockage Électrochimique de l'Énergie (RS2E), FR CNRS 3459, 80039 Amiens, France; orcid.org/0000-0001-5198-4650; Email: benjamin.rotenberg@sorbonne-universite.fr
- Mathieu Salanne Sorbonne Université, CNRS, Physico-chimie des Electrolytes et Nanosystèmes Interfaciaux, PHENIX, F-75005 Paris, France; Institut Universitaire de France (IUF), 75231 Paris, France; Réseau sur le Stockage Electrochimique de l'Energie (RS2E), FR CNRS 3459, 80039 Amiens, France; orcid.org/0000-0002-1753-491X; Email: mathieu.salanne@sorbonne-universite.fr

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.1c00925

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Guillaume Jeanmairet is a CNRS researcher at Sorbonne University (Paris). He graduated in Chemistry from the École Normale Supérieure in 2011 and received his Ph.D. in 2014 from the Université Pierre et Marie Curie (now Sorbonne University). He then spent two years as a postdoctoral researcher at the Max Planck Institute FKF (Stuttgart) with Ali Alavi before joining Sorbonne University for another postdoctoral contract after which he became a CNRS researcher. His research focuses on developing classical density functional theory to study solvation in molecular solvents and especially water. Lately, his interest shifted to the development of functionals able to describe aqueous electrolytes to study electrochemical devices.

Benjamin Rotenberg is a CNRS senior researcher at Sorbonne University (Paris). He graduated in Chemistry from the Ecole Normale Supérieure in 2004 and received his Ph.D. in 2007 from the Université Pierre et Marie Curie. He then joined the FOM Institute for Atomic and Molecular Physics (Amsterdam) as a postdoctoral fellow before starting as a CNRS researcher in 2008. He was a visiting professor/scholar at the Universities of Barcelona, Berkeley, and Freiburg, as well as in the Helmholtz Zentrum Berlin. He has received several awards, including the Grand Prix MG Schlumberger from the French Academy of Sciences in 2013, the Bronze medal of CNRS in 2015, and a Bessel research award from the Alexander von Humboldt foundation in 2017. His research focuses on multiscale modeling of charged interfaces, in particular in the fields of energy and the environment, as well as methodological developments for numerical simulations.

Mathieu Salanne is professor at Sorbonne University (Paris) and a junior member of the Institut Universitaire de France (2020–2025). He graduated in chemical engineering from Chimie ParisTech in 2004. He obtained his Ph.D. in 2006 at Sorbonne University, under the supervision of Pierre Turq and in strong collaboration with Paul

Madden (University of Oxford). His research focuses on the molecular simulation of electrochemical systems. These are typically molten salts in the framework of their use in the future generation of nuclear reactors or supercapacitors which are high-power energy storage devices. To this end, he develops methods to allow realistic simulations of the systems, and he is the main developer of the molecular dynamics software MetalWalls.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project has received funding from the European Research Council under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (Grant Agreement Nos. 771294 and 863473). This work was supported by the French National Research Agency (Labex STORE-EX, Grant ANR-10-LABX-0076). We thank Michele Simoncelli for providing Figure 1.

ABBREVIATIONS

EDL	electric double layer
EDLC	electrochemical double-layer capacitor
CDC	carbide-derived carbon
cDFT	classical density functional theory
FMT	fundamental measure theory
CapMix	capacitive mixing
CDI	capacitive deionization
MF	mean field
GCS	Gouy–Chapman-Stern
MD	molecular dynamics
MC	Monte Carlo
PB	Poisson–Boltzmann
RPM	restricted primitive model
MSA	mean spherical approximation
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
EQCM	electrochemical quartz crystal microbalance
IR	infrared
mD	modified Donnan
PNP	Poisson-Nernst-Planck
TLM	transmission line model
TDODT	time demandant classical density functional t

TDcDFT time-dependent classical density functional theory

REFERENCES

(1) Service, R. F. New 'Supercapacitor' Promises to Pack More Electrical Punch. *Science* **2006**, *313*, 902–905.

(2) de Levie, R. On Porous Electrodes in Electrolyte Solutions: I. Capacitance Effects. *Electrochim. Acta* **1963**, *8*, 751–780.

(3) Papadopoulou, E.; Zavadlav, J.; Podgornik, R.; Praprotnik, M.; Koumoutsakos, P. Tuning the Dielectric Response of Water in Nanoconfinement through Surface Wettability. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 20311–20318.

(4) Pattle, R. E. Production of Electric Power by mixing Fresh and Salt Water in the Hydroelectric Pile. *Nature* **1954**, *174*, 660.

(5) Norman, R. S. Water Salination: A Source of Energy. *Science* **1974**, *186*, 350–352.

(6) Weinstein, J. N.; Leitz, F. B. Electric Power from Differences in Salinity: The Dialytic Battery. *Science* **1976**, *191*, 557–559.

(7) Olsson, M.; Wick, G. L.; Isaacs, J. D. Salinity Gradient Power: Utilizing Vapor Pressure Differences. *Science* **1979**, *206*, 452–454.

(8) Yip, N. Y.; Brogioli, D.; Hamelers, H. V. M.; Nijmeijer, K. Salinity Gradients for Sustainable Energy: Primer, Progress, and Prospects. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, 12072–12094.

(9) Siria, A.; Poncharal, P.; Biance, A.-L.; Fulcrand, R.; Blase, X.; Purcell, S. T.; Bocquet, L. Giant Osmotic Energy Conversion Measured in a Single Transmembrane Boron Nitride Nanotube. *Nature* **2013**, *494*, 455–458.

(10) Brogioli, D. Extracting Renewable Energy from a Salinity Difference Using a Capacitor. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2009**, *103*, 058501.

(11) Frackowiak, E.; Béguin, F. Carbon Materials for the Electrochemical Storage of Energy in Capacitors. *Carbon* **2001**, *39*, 937–950.

(12) Béguin, F.; Presser, V.; Balducci, A.; Frackowiak, E. Carbons and Electrolytes for Advanced Supercapacitors. *Adv. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 2219–2251.

(13) Gogotsi, Y.; Nikitin, A.; Ye, H.; Zhou, W.; Fischer, J. E.; Yi, B.; Foley, H. C.; Barsoum, M. W. Nanoporous Carbide-Derived Carbon with Tunable Pore Size. *Nat. Mater.* **2003**, *2*, 591–594.

(14) Simon, P.; Gogotsi, Y. Materials for Electrochemical Capacitors. *Nat. Mater.* **2008**, *7*, 845–854.

(15) Wu, Y.; Zhao, X.; Shang, Y.; Chang, S.; Dai, L.; Cao, A. Application-Driven Carbon Nanotube Functional Materials. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 7946–7974.

(16) Stoller, M.; Park, S.; Zhu, Y.; An, J.; Ruoff, R. Graphene-Based Ultracapacitors. *Nano Lett.* **2008**, *8*, 3498–3502.

(17) Conway, B. E. Transition from 'Supercapacitor' to 'Battery' Behavior in Electrochemical Energy Storage. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* **1991**, 138, 1539–1548.

(18) Toupin, M.; Brousse, T.; Bélanger, D. Charge Storage Mechanism of MnO_2 Electrode Used in Aqueous Electrochemical Capacitor. *Chem. Mater.* **2004**, *16*, 3184–3190.

(19) Augustyn, V.; Come, J.; Lowe, M. A.; Kim, J. W.; Taberna, P.-L.; Tolbert, S. H.; Abruna, H. D.; Simon, P.; Dunn, B. High-Rate Electrochemical Energy Storage Through Li⁺ Intercalation Pseudocapacitance. *Nat. Mater.* **2013**, *12*, 518–522.

(20) Kuai, X.; Li, K.; Chen, J.; Wang, H.; Yao, J.; Chiang, C.-L.; Liu, T.; Ye, H.; Zhao, J.; Lin, Y.-G.; Zhang, L.; Nicolosi, V.; Gao, L. Interfacial Engineered Vanadium Oxide Nanoheterostructures Synchronizing High-Energy and Long-Term Potassium-Ion Storage. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 1502–1510.

(21) Lukatskaya, M. R.; Mashtalir, O.; Ren, C. E.; Dall'Agnese, Y.; Rozier, P.; Taberna, P.-L.; Naguib, M.; Simon, P.; Barsoum, M. W.; Gogotsi, Y. Cation Intercalation and High Volumetric Capacitance of Two-dimensional Titanium Carbide. *Science* **2013**, *341*, 1502–1505.

(22) Li, S.; et al. Assembly of Nanofluidic MXene Fibers with Enhanced Ionic Transport and Capacitive Charge Storage by Flake Orientation. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 7821–7832.

(23) Chen, H.; Ma, H.; Li, C. Host–Guest Intercalation Chemistry in MXenes and Its Implications for Practical Applications. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 15502–15537.

(24) Lu, C.; Chen, X. Nanostructure Engineering of Graphitic Carbon Nitride for Electrochemical Applications. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 18777– 18793.

(25) Salunkhe, R. R.; Kaneti, Y. V.; Yamauchi, Y. Metal–Organic Framework-Derived Nanoporous Metal Oxides toward Supercapacitor Applications: Progress and Prospects. *ACS Nano* **2017**, *11*, 5293–5308.

(26) Sheberla, D.; Bachman, J. C.; Elias, J. S.; Sun, C.-J.; Shao-Horn, Y.; Dinca, M. Conductive MOF Electrodes for Stable Supercapacitors with High Areal Capacitance. *Nat. Mater.* **2017**, *16*, 220–224.

(27) Mastragostino, M.; Arbizzani, C.; Soavi, F. Conducting Polymers as Electrode Materials in Supercapacitors. *Solid State Ion* **2002**, *148*, 493–498.

(28) Frackowiak, E.; Khomenko, V.; Jurewicz, K.; Lota, K.; Béguin, F. Supercapacitors Based on Conducting Polymers/Nanotubes Composites. *J. Power Sources* **2006**, *153*, 413–418.

(29) Balducci, A. Electrolytes for High Voltage Electrochemical Double Layer Capacitors: a Perspective Article. *J. Power Sources* **2016**, 326, 534–540.

(30) Brandt, A.; Isken, P.; Lex-Balducci, A.; Balducci, A. Adiponitrile-Based Electrochemical Double Layer Capacitor. *J. Power Sources* **2012**, 204, 213–219.

(31) Pohlmann, S.; Olyschlager, T.; Goodrich, P.; Vicente, J. A.; Jacquemin, J.; Balducci, A. Azepanium-Based Ionic Liquids as Green Electrolytes for High Voltage Supercapacitors. *J. Power Sources* **2015**, 273, 931–936.

(32) McEwen, A. B.; Ngo, H. L.; LeCompte, K.; Goldman, J. L. Electrochemical Properties of Imidazolium Salt Electrolytes for

Electrochemical Capacitor Applications. J. Electrochem. Soc. 1999, 146, 1687–1695.

(33) Salanne, M. Ionic Liquids for Supercapacitor Applications. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **2017**, 375, 63.

(34) Lin, Z.; Goikolea, E.; Balducci, A.; Naoi, K.; Taberna, P.-L.; Salanne, M.; Yushin, G.; Simon, P. Materials for Supercapacitors: When Li-Ion Battery Power Is Not Enough. *Mater. Today* **2018**, *21*, 419–436.

 (35) Le Bideau, J.; Viau, L.; Vioux, A. Ionogels, Ionic Liquid Based Hybrid Materials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2011, 40, 907–925.

(36) Vioux, A.; Coasne, B. From Ionogels to Biredox Ionic Liquids: Some Emerging Opportunities for Electrochemical Energy Storage and Conversion Devices. *Adv. Ener. Mat* **2017**, *7*, 1700883.

(37) Salanne, M.; Rotenberg, B.; Naoi, K.; Kaneko, K.; Taberna, P.-L.; Grey, C. P.; Dunn, B.; Simon, P. Efficient Storage Mechanisms for Building Better Supercapacitors. *Nat. Energy* **2016**, *1*, 16070.

(38) Brousse, T.; Belanger, D.; Long, J. W. To Be or Not to Be Pseudocapacitive? J. Electrochem. Soc. 2015, 162, A5185-A5189.

(39) Kim, J. W.; Augustyn, V.; Dunn, B. The Effect of Crystallinity on the Rapid Pseudocapacitive Response of Nb_2O_5 . *Adv. Ener. Mater.* **2012**, *2*, 141–148.

(40) Stern, O. Zur Theorie der Elektrolytischen Doppelschicht. Z. Elektrochem. Angew. P. **1924**, 30, 508–516.

(41) Hansen, J.-P.; Löwen, H. Effective Interactions Between Electric Double Layers. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2000**, *51*, 209–242.

(42) Levin, Y. Electrostatic Correlations: from Plasma to Biology. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* **2002**, *65*, 1577–1632.

(43) Scalfi, L.; Salanne, M.; Rotenberg, B. Molecular Simulation of Electrode-Solution Interfaces. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2021**, *72*, 189–212.

(44) Goodwin, Z. A. H.; de Souza, J. P.; Bazant, M. Z.; Kornyshev, A. A. Mean-Field Theory of the Electrical Double Layer in Ionic Liquids. In *Encyclopedia of Ionic Liquids*; Zhang, S., Ed.; Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd., 2021.

(45) Zhan, C.; Lian, C.; Zhang, Y.; Thompson, M. W.; Xie, Y.; Wu, J.; Kent, P. R. C.; Cummings, P. T.; Jiang, D.-E.; Wesolowski, D. J. Computational Insights into Materials and Interfaces for Capacitive Energy Storage. *Adv. Sci.* **2017**, *4*, 1700059.

(46) Chmiola, J.; Yushin, G.; Gogotsi, Y.; Portet, C.; Simon, P.; Taberna, P. L. Anomalous Increase in Carbon Capacitance at Pore Sizes Less Than 1 Nanometer. *Science* **2006**, *313*, 1760–1763.

(47) Forse, A. C.; Merlet, C.; Griffin, J. M.; Grey, C. P. New Perspectives on the Charging Mechanisms of Supercapacitors. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 5731–5744.

(48) Roy, D.; Maroncelli, M. An Improved Four-Site Ionic Liquid Model. J. Phys. Chem. B 2010, 114, 12629–12631.

(49) Merlet, C.; Salanne, M.; Rotenberg, B. New Coarse-Grained Models of Imidazolium Ionic Liquids for Bulk and Interfacial Molecular Simulations. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2012**, *116*, 7687–7693.

(50) Salanne, M. Simulations of Room Temperature Ionic Liquids: from Polarizable to Coarse-Grained Force Fields. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *17*, 14270–14279.

(51) Metropolis, N.; Rosenbluth, A. W.; Rosenbluth, M. N.; Teller, A. H.; Teller, E. Equation of State Calculations by Fast Computing Machines. J. Chem. Phys. **1953**, 21, 1087–1092.

(52) Adams, D. J. Chemical Potential of Hard-Sphere Fluids by Monte. Carlo Methods. *Mol. Phys.* **1974**, *28*, 1241–1252.

(53) Botan, A.; Rotenberg, B.; Marry, V.; Turq, P.; Noetinger, B. Carbon Dioxide in Montmorillonite Clay Hydrates: Thermodynamics, Structure, and Transport from Molecular Simulation. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2010**, *114*, 14962–14969.

(54) Coudert, F.-X.; Fuchs, A. H. Computational Characterization and Prediction of Metal-Organic-Framework Properties. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *307*, 211–236.

(55) Shi, W.; Maginn, E. J. Continuous Fractional Component Monte Carlo: An Adaptive Biasing Method for Open System Atomistic Simulations. J. Chem. Theory Comput. **2007**, *3*, 1451–1463.

(56) Mermin, N. D. Thermal Properties of the Inhomogeneous Electron Gas. *Phys. Rev.* **1965**, *137*, A1441–A1443.

(57) Evans, R. The Nature of the Liquid-Napour Interface and Other Topics in the Statistical Mechanics of Non-Uniform, Classical Fluids. *Adv. Phys.* **1979**, *28*, 143.

(58) Lutsko, J. F. Classical Density Functional Theory in the Canonical Ensemble. *arXiv* **2021**, 2109.05787.

(59) Hansen, J.-P.; McDonald, I. *Theory of Simple Liquids*, 3rd ed.; Academic Press, 2006.

(60) Evans, R.; Sluckin, T. A Density Functional Theory for Inhomogeneous Charged Fluids. *Mol. Phys.* **1980**, *40*, 413–435.

(61) Groot, R. D. Density Functional Theory for Inhomogeneous Electrolytes. *Phys. Rev. A* **1988**, *37*, 3456–3464.

(62) Rosenfeld, Y. Free-Energy Model for the Inhomogeneous Hard-Sphere Fluid Mixture and Density-Functional Theory of Freezing. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1989**, *63*, 980–983.

(63) Kierlik, E.; Rosinberg, M. L. Free-energy density functional for the inhomogeneous hard-sphere fluid: Application to interfacial adsorption. *Phys. Rev. A* **1990**, *42*, 3382–3387.

(64) Roth, R.; Evans, R.; Lang, A.; Kahl, G. Fundamental Measure Theory for Hard-Sphere Mixtures Revisited: the White Bear Version. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2002**, *14*, 12063.

(65) Voukadinova, A.; Valiskó, M.; Gillespie, D. Assessing the Accuracy of Three Classical Density Functional Theories of the Electrical Double Layer. *Phys. Rev. E* 2018, *98*, 012116.

(66) Yang, G.; Liu, L. A Systematic Comparison of Different Approaches of Density Functional Theory for the Study of Electrical Double Layers. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *142*, 194110.

(67) Biben, T.; Hansen, J. P.; Rosenfeld, Y. Generic Density Functional for Electric Double Layers in a Molecular Solvent. *Phys. Rev. E* **1998**, *57*, R3727–R3730.

(68) Oleksy, A.; Hansen, J.-P. Towards a Microscopic Theory of Wetting by Ionic Solutions. I. Surface Properties of the Semi-Primitive Model. *Mol. Phys.* **2006**, *104*, 2871–2883.

(69) Oleksy, A.; Hansen, J.-P. Microscopic Density Functional Theory of Wetting and Drying of a Solid Substrate by an Explicit Solvent Model of Ionic Solutions. *Mol. Phys.* **2009**, *107*, 2609–2624.

(70) Oleksy, A.; Hansen, J.-P. Wetting of a Solid Substrate by a "Civilized" Model of Ionic Solutions. J. Chem. Phys. 2010, 132, 204702–204702–13.

(71) Oleksy, A.; Hansen, J.-P. Wetting and Drying Scenarios of Ionic Solutions. *Mol. Phys.* **2011**, *109*, 1275–1288.

(72) Kierlik, E.; Rosinberg, M. L. Density-Functional Theory for Inhomogeneous Fluids: Adsorption of Binary Mixtures. *Phys. Rev. A* **1991**, 44, 5025–5037.

(73) Rosenfeld, Y. Free Energy Model for Inhomogeneous Fluid Mixtures: Yukawa-Charged Hard Spheres, General Interactions, and Plasmas. J. Chem. Phys. **1993**, *98*, 8126–8148.

(74) Yu, Y.-X.; Wu, J.; Gao, G.-H. Density-Functional Theory of Spherical Electric Double Layers and ζ Potentials of Colloidal Particles in Restricted-Primitive-Model Electrolyte Solutions. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2004**, *120*, 7223–7233.

(75) Roth, R.; Gillespie, D. Shells of Charge: a Density Functional Theory for Charged Hard Spheres. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2016**, *28*, 244006.

(76) McCallum, C.; Pennathur, S.; Gillespie, D. Two-Dimensional Electric Double Layer Structure with Heterogeneous Surface Charge. *Langmuir* **2017**, *33*, 5642–5651.

(77) Jorgensen, W. L.; Maxwell, D. S.; Tirado-Rives, J. J. Development and Testing of the OPLS All-Atom Force Field on Conformational Energetics and Properties of Organic Liquids. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1996**, *118*, 11225.

(78) MacKerell, A. D.; et al. All-Atom Empirical Potential for Molecular Modeling and Dynamics Studies of Proteins. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **1998**, *102*, 3586–3616.

(79) Cornell, W. D.; Cieplak, P.; Bayly, C. I.; Gould, I. R.; Merz, K. M. J.; Ferguson, D. M.; Spellmeyer, D. C.; Fox, T.; Caldwell, J. W.; Kollman, P. A. A Second Generation Force Field for the Simulation of Proteins, Nucleic Acids, and Organic Molecules. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1995**, *117*, 5179–5197.

(80) Sun, H. COMPASS: An Ab Initio Force-Field Optimized for Condensed-Phase Applications Overview with Details on Alkane and Benzene Compounds. J. Phys. Chem. B **1998**, 102, 7338–7364.

(81) Canongia Lopes, J. N.; Deschamps, J.; Pádua, A. A. H. Modeling Ionic Liquids Using a Systematic All-Atom Force Field. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2004**, *108*, 2038–2047.

(82) Canongia Lopes, J. N.; Pádua, A. A. H. CL&P: A generic and systematic force field for ionic liquids modeling. *Theor. Chem. Acc.* **2012**, *131*, 1129.

(83) Bedrov, D.; Piquemal, J.-P.; Borodin, O.; MacKerell, A. D., Jr.; Roux, B.; Schröder, C. Molecular Dynamics Simulations of Ionic Liquids and Electrolytes Using Polarizable Force Fields. *Chem. Rev.* **2019**, *119*, 7940–7995.

(84) Schröder, C. Comparing Reduced Partial Charge Models with Polarizable Simulations of Ionic Liquids. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2012**, *14*, 3089–3102.

(85) Jacucci, G.; McDonald, I. R.; Singer, K. Introduction of the Shell Mode of Ionic Polarizability into Molecular Dynamics Calculations. *Phys. Lett. A* **1974**, *50*, 141–143.

(86) Cieplak, P.; Dupradeau, F.-Y.; Duan, Y.; Wang, J. Polarization Effects in Molecular Mechanical Force Fields. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2009**, *21*, 333102.

(87) Schröder, C.; Steinhauser, O. Simulating Polarizable Molecular Ionic Liquids with Drude Oscillators. J. Chem. Phys. **2010**, *133*, 154511.

(88) Schmidt, J. R.; Yu, K.; McDaniel, J. G. Transferable Next-Generation Force Fields from Simple Liquids to Complex Materials. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2015**, *48*, 548–556.

(89) Aguado, A.; Madden, P. A. Ewald summation of electrostatic multipole interactions up to the quadrupolar level. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2003**, *119*, 7471–7483.

(90) McDaniel, J. G.; Choi, E.; Son, C. Y.; Schmidt, J. R.; Yethiraj, A. Ab Initio Force Fields for Imidazolium-Based Ionic Liquids. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2016**, *120*, 7024–7036.

(91) Salanne, M.; Siqueira, L. J. A.; Seitsonen, A. P.; Madden, P. A.; Kirchner, B. From molten salts to room temperature ionic liquids: Simulation studies on chloroaluminate systems. *Faraday Discuss.* **2012**, *154*, 171–188.

(92) Goloviznina, K.; Canongia Lopes, J. N.; Costa Gomes, M.; Pádua, A. A. H. Transferable, Polarizable Force Field for Ionic Liquids. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2019**, *15*, 5858–5871.

(93) Goloviznina, K.; Gong, Z.; Costa Gomes, M. F.; Pádua, A. A. H. Extension of the CL&Pol Polarizable Force Field to Electrolytes, Protic Ionic Liquids, and Deep Eutectic Solvents. *J. Chem. Theory Comput.* **2021**, *17*, 1606–1617.

(94) Heid, E.; Szabadi, A.; Schröder, C. Quantum Mechanical Determination of Atomic Polarizabilities of Ionic Liquids. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *20*, 10992–10996.

(95) Merlet, C.; Salanne, M.; Rotenberg, B.; Madden, P. A. Imidazolium Ionic Liquid Interfaces with Vapor and Graphite: Interfacial Tension and Capacitance from Coarse-Grained Molecular Simulations. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2011, *115*, 16613–16618.

(96) Bousige, C.; Ghimbeu, C. M.; Vix-Guterl, C.; Pomerantz, A. E.; Suleimenova, A.; Vaughan, G.; Garbarino, G.; Feygenson, M.; Wildgruber, C.; Ulm, F.-J.; Pellenq, R. J.-M.; Coasne, B. Realistic Molecular Model of Kerogen's Nanostructure. *Nat. Mater.* **2016**, *15*, 576–582.

(97) McGreevy, R. L.; Pusztai, L. Reverse Monte Carlo Simulation: A New Technique for the Determination of Disordered Structures. *Mol. Simul.* **1988**, *1*, 359–367.

(98) Pikunic, J.; Clinard, C.; Cohaut, N.; Gubbins, K. E.; Guet, J.-M.; Pellenq, R. J.-M.; Rannou, I.; Rouzaud, J.-N. Structural Modeling of Porous Carbons: Constrained Reverse Monte Carlo Method. *Langmuir* **2003**, *19*, 8565–8582.

(99) Brenner, D. W. Empirical Potential for Hydrocarbons for Use in Simulating the Chemical Vapor Deposition of Diamond Films. *Phys. Rev. B* **1990**, *42*, 9458.

(100) Jain, S. K.; Pellenq, R. J.-M.; Pikunic, J. P.; Gubbins, K. E. Molecular Modeling of Porous Carbons Using the Hybrid Reverse Monte Carlo Method. *Langmuir* **2006**, *22*, 9942–9948.

(101) Farmahini, A. H.; Opletal, G.; Bhatia, S. K. Structural Modelling of Silicon Carbide- Derived Nanoporous Carbon by Hybrid Reverse Monte Carlo Simulation. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2013**, *117*, 14081–14094.

(102) Monti, S.; Barcaro, G.; Goddard, W. A., III; Fortunelli, A. Diverse Phases of Carbonaceous Materials from Stochastic Simulations. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 6369–6385.

(103) Shi, Y.; Brenner, D. W. Simulated Thermal Decomposition and Detonation of Nitrogen Cubane by Molecular Dynamics. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2007**, *127*, 134503.

(104) Shi, Y. A Mimetic Porous Carbon Model by Quench Molecular Dynamics Simulation. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2008**, *128*, 234707.

(105) Palmer, J. C.; Llobet, A.; Yeon, S.-H.; Fischer, J. E.; Shi, Y.; Gogotsi, Y.; Gubbins, K. E. Modeling the Structural Evolution of Carbide-Derived Carbons Using Quenched Molecular Dynamics. *Carbon* 2010, 48, 1116–1123.

(106) Bousige, C.; Botan, A.; Ulm, F.-J.; Pellenq, R. J.-M.; Coasne, B. Optimized Molecular Reconstruction Procedure Combining Hybrid Reverse Monte Carlo and Molecular Dynamics. *J. Chem. Phys.* 2015, 142, 114112.

(107) Thompson, M. W.; Dyatkin, B.; Wang, H.-W.; Turner, C. H.; Sang, X.; Unocic, R. R.; Iacovella, C. R.; Gogotsi, Y.; van Duin, A. C. T.; Cummings, P. T. An Atomistic Carbide-Derived Carbon Model Generated Using ReaxFF-Based Quenched Molecular Dynamics. *C* **2017**, *3*, 32.

(108) Srinivasan, S. G.; van Duin, A. C. T.; Ganesh, P. Development of a ReaxFF Potential for Carbon Condensed Phases and Its Application to the Thermal Fragmentation of a Large Fullerene. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2015**, *119*, 571–580.

(109) Marks, N. A. Generalizing the Environment-Dependent Interaction Potential for Carbon. *Phys. Rev. B* **2000**, *63*, 035401.

(110) de Tomas, C.; Suarez-Martinez, I.; Vallejos-Burgos, F.; Lopez, M. J.; Kaneko, K.; Marks, N. A. Structural Prediction of Graphitization and Porosity in Carbide-Derived Carbons. *Carbon* **201**7, *119*, 1–9.

(111) Rowe, P.; Deringer, V. L.; Gasparotto, P.; Csányi, G.; Michaelides, A. An Accurate and Transferable Machine Learning Potential for Carbon. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *153*, 034702.

(112) Ma, K.; Woodward, C. E.; Forsman, J. Classical Density Functional Study on Interfacial Structure and Differential Capacitance of Ionic Liquids near Charged Surfaces. J. Phys. Chem. C 2014, 118, 15825–15834.

(113) Norskov, J. K.; Rossmeisl, J.; Logadottir, A.; Lindqvist, L. R. K. J.; Kitchin, J. R.; Bligaard, T.; Jonsson, H. Origin of the Overpotential for Oxygen Reduction at a Fuel-Cell Cathode. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2004**, *108*, 17886–17892.

(114) Groß, A. Reactions at Surfaces Studied by Ab Initio Dynamics Calculations. *Surf. Sci. Rep.* **1998**, *32*, 291–340.

(115) Ers, H.; Lembinen, M.; Misin, M.; Seitsonen, A. P.; Fedorov, M. V.; Ivanistsev, V. Graphene–Ionic Liquid Interfacial Potential Drop from Density Functional Theory-Based Molecular Dynamics Simulations. J. Phys. Chem. C 2020, 124, 19548–19555.

(116) Price, D. L.; Halley, J. W. Molecular Dynamics, Density Functional Theory of the Metal – Electrolyte Interface. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1995**, *102*, 6603–6612.

(117) Limmer, D. T.; Merlet, C.; Salanne, M.; Chandler, D.; Madden, P. A.; van Roij, R.; Rotenberg, B. Charge Fluctuations in Nanoscale Capacitors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2013**, *111*, 106102.

(118) Gong, Z.; Pádua, A. A. H. Effect of Side Chain Modifications in Imidazolium Ionic Liquids on the Properties of the Electrical Double Layer at a Molybednum Disulfide Electrode. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 084504.

(119) Walbran, S.; Mazzolo, A.; Halley, J. W.; Price, D. L. Model for the Electrostatic Response of the Copper – Water Interface. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1998**, *109*, 8076–8080.

(120) Calhoun, A.; Voth, G. A. Electron Transfer Across the Electrode/Electrolyte Interface: Influence of Redox Ion Mobility and Counterions. J. Phys. Chem. **1996**, 100, 10746–10753.

(121) Wernersson, E.; Kjellander, R. On the Effect of Image Charges and Ion-Wall Dispersion Forces on Electric Double Layer Interactions. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, *125*, 154702.

(122) Petersen, M. K.; Kumar, R.; White, H. S.; Voth, G. A. A Computationally Efficient Treatment of Polarizable Electrochemical Cells Held at a Constant Potential. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2012**, *116*, 4903–4912.

(123) Son, C. Y.; Wang, Z.-G. Image-charge effects on ion adsorption near aqueous interfaces. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 2021, 118, No. e2020615118.

(124) Siepmann, J. I.; Sprik, M. Influence of Surface-Topology and Electrostatic Potential on Water Electrode Systems. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1995**, *102*, 511–524.

(125) Car, R.; Parrinello, M. Unified Approach for Molecular Dynamics and Density-Functional Theory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1985**, *55*, 2471–2474.

(126) Reed, S. K.; Lanning, O. J.; Madden, P. A. Electrochemical Interface Between an Ionic Liquid and a Model Metallic Electrode. *J. Chem. Phys.* **200**7, *126*, 084704.

(127) Rappe, A. K.; Goddard, W. A., III Charge Equilibration for Molecular Dynamics Simulations. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1991**, *95*, 3358–3363.

(128) Nakano, H.; Sato, H. A Chemical Potential Equalization Approach to Constant Potential Polarizable Electrodes for Electrochemical-Cell Simulations. J. Chem. Phys. **2019**, 151, 164123.

(129) Buraschi, M.; Sansotta, S.; Zahn, D. Polarization Effects in Dynamic Interfaces of Platinum Electrodes and Ionic Liquid Phases: A Molecular Dynamics Study. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2020**, *124*, 2002–2007.

(130) Scalfi, L.; Dufils, T.; Reeves, K. G.; Rotenberg, B.; Salanne, M. A Semiclassical Thomas–Fermi Model to Tune the Metallicity of Electrodes in Molecular Simulations. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *153*, 174704.

(131) Thomas, L. The Calculation of Atomic Fields. *Proc. Cambridge Philos. R. Soc.* **1927**, *23*, 542–548.

(132) Fermi, E. Un Metodo Statistico per la Determinazione di Alcuna Priorieta Dell'Atome. *Rend. Accad. Naz. Lincei* **1927**, *6*, 602–607.

(133) Schlaich, A.; Jin, D.; Bocquet, L.; Coasne, B. Wetting Transition of Ionic Liquids at Metal Surfaces: A Computational Molecular Approach to Electronic Screening Using a Virtual Thomas-Fermi Fluid. *Nat. Mater.* **2022**, *21*, 237–245.

(134) Pastewka, L.; Järvi, T. T.; Mayrhofer, L.; Moseler, M. Charge-Transfer Model for Carbonaceous Electrodes in Polar Environments. *Phys. Rev. B* **2011**, *83*, 165418.

(135) Oshiki, J.; Nakano, H.; Sato, H. Controlling Potential Difference Between Electrodes Based on Self-Consistent-Charge Density Functional Tight Binding. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *154*, 144107.

(136) Ewald, P. Evaluation of Optical and Electrostatic Lattice Potentials. Ann. Phys. 1921, 64, 253.

(137) Ahrens-Iwers, L. J. V.; Meißner, R. H. Constant Potential Simulations on a Mesh. J. Chem. Phys. 2021, 155, 104104.

(138) Yeh, I. C.; Berkowitz, M. L. Ewald Summation for Systems with Slab Geometry. J. Chem. Phys. **1999**, 111, 3155–3162.

(139) Dufils, T.; Jeanmairet, G.; Rotenberg, B.; Sprik, M.; Salanne, M. Simulating Electrochemical Systems by Combining the Finite Field Method with a Constant Potential Electrode. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2019**, *123*, 195501.

(140) Dufils, T.; Sprik, M.; Salanne, M. Computational Amperometry of Nanoscale Capacitors in Molecular Simulations. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2021**, *12*, 4357–4361.

(141) Coretti, A.; Scalfi, L.; Bacon, C.; Rotenberg, B.; Vuilleumier, R.; Ciccotti, G.; Salanne, M.; et al. Mass-Zero Constrained Molecular Dynamics for Electrode Charges in Simulations of Electrochemical Systems. J. Chem. Phys. **2020**, 152, 194701.

(142) Geada, I. L.; Ramezani-Dakhel, H.; Jamil, T.; Sulpizi, M.; Heinz, H. Insight Into Induced Charges at Metal Surfaces and Biointerfaces using a Polarizable Lennard–Jones Potential. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 716.

(143) Iori, F.; Corni, S. Including Image Charge Effects in the Molecular Dynamics Simulations of Molecules on Metal Surfaces. J. Comput. Chem. 2008, 29, 1656–1666.

(144) Pensado, A. S.; Pádua, A. A. H. Solvation and Stabilization of Metallic Nanoparticles in Ionic Liquids. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 8683–8687.

(145) Tyagi, S.; Süzen, M.; Sega, M.; Barbosa, M.; Kantorovich, S. S.; Holm, C. An Iterative, Fast, Linear-Scaling Method for Computing Induced Charges on Arbitrary Dielectric Boundaries. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *132*, 154112.

(146) Arnold, A.; Breitsprecher, K.; Fahrenberger, F.; Kesselheim, S.; Lenz, O.; Holm, C. Efficient Algorithms for Electrostatic Interactions Including Dielectric Contrasts. *Entropy* **2013**, *15*, 4569–4588.

(147) Wu, P.; Huang, J.; Meunier, V.; Sumpter, B. G.; Qiao, R. Voltage Dependent Charge Storage Modes and Capacity in Sub-nanometer Pores. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2012**, *3*, 1732–1737.

(148) Raghunathan, A. V.; Aluru, N. R. Self-Consistent Molecular Dynamics Formulation for Electric-Field-Mediated Electrolyte Transport Through Nanochannels. *Phys. Rev. E* **2007**, *76*, 011202.

(149) Lu, H.; Stenberg, S.; Woodward, C. E.; Forsman, J. Structural Transitions at Electrodes, Immersed in Simple Ionic Liquid Models. *Soft Matter* **2021**, *17*, 3876–3885.

(150) Jeanmairet, G.; Rotenberg, B.; Borgis, D.; Salanne, M. Study of a Water-Graphene Capacitor with Molecular Density Functional Theory. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2019**, *151*, 124111.

(151) Stengel, M.; Spaldin, N. A.; Vanderbilt, D. Electric Displacement as the Fundamental Variable in Electronic-Structure Calculations. *Nat. Phys.* **2009**, *5*, 304–308.

(152) Zhang, C.; Sayer, T.; Hutter, J.; Sprik, M. Modelling Electrochemical Systems with Finite Field Molecular Dynamics. *J. Phys. Ener.* **2020**, *2*, 032005.

(153) Cole, M. W.; Klein, J. R. The Interaction Between Noble Gases and the Basal Plane Surface of Graphite. *Surf. Sci.* **1983**, *124*, 547–554. (154) Werder, T.; Walther, J. H.; Jaffe, R. L.; Halicioglu, T.; Koumoutsakos, P. On the Water-Carbon Interaction for Use in Molecular Dynamics Simulations of Graphite and Carbon Nanotubes. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2003**, *107*, 1345–1352.

(155) Heinz, H.; Vaia, R. A.; Farmer, B. L.; Naik, R. R. Accurate Simulation of Surfaces and Interfaces of Face–Centered Cubic Metals Using 12–6 and 9–6 Lennard-Jones Potentials. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2008, *112*, 17281–17290.

(156) Al-Hamdani, Y.; Alfè, D.; Michaelides, A. How Strongly do Hydrogen and Water Molecules Stick to Carbon Nanomaterials? *J. Chem. Phys.* **2017**, *146*, 094701.

(157) Brandenburg, J. G.; Zen, A.; Alfê, D.; Michaelides, A. Interaction Between Water and Carbon Nanostructures: How Good are Current Density Functional Approximations? *J. Chem. Phys.* 2019, 151, 164702.

(158) Ceperley, D. M.; Alder, B. J. Ground State of the Electron Gas by a Stochastic Method. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1980**, *45*, 566.

(159) Kornyshev, A. A.; Luque, N. B.; Schmickler, W. Differential Capacitance of Ionic Liquid Interface with Graphite: the Story of two Double Layers. *J. Solid State Electrochem.* **2014**, *18*, 1345–1349.

(160) Pean, C.; Daffos, B.; Merlet, C.; Rotenberg, B.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Salanne, M. Single Electrode Capacitances of Porous Carbons in Neat Ionic Liquid Electrolyte at 100°C: A Combined Experimental and Modeling Approach. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2015, 162, A5091–A5095.

(161) Kornyshev, A. A. Double-layer in Ionic Liquids: Paradigm Change? J. Phys. Chem. B 2007, 111, 5545–5557.

(162) Merlet, C.; Limmer, D. T.; Salanne, M.; van Roij, R.; Madden, P. A.; Chandler, D.; Rotenberg, B. The Electric Double Layer Has a Life of Its Own. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2014**, *118*, 18291–18298.

(163) Li, Z.; Jeanmairet, G.; Mendez-Morales, T.; Rotenberg, B.; Salanne, M. Capacitive Performance of Water-in-Salt Electrolytes in Supercapacitors: A Simulation Study. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2018**, *122*, 23917–23924.

(164) Pak, A. J.; Paek, E.; Hwang, G. S. Relative contributions of quantum and double layer capacitance toward the supercapacitor performance of carbon nanotubes in an ionic liquid. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2013**, *15*, 19741–19747.

(165) Paek, E.; Pak, A. J.; Hwang, G. S. Curvature Effects on the Interfacial Capacitance of Carbon Nanotubes in an Ionic Liquid. *J. Phys. Chem.* C **2013**, *117*, 23539–23546.

(166) Paek, E.; Pak, A. J.; Hwang, G. S. Large capacitance enhancement induced by metal-doping in graphene-based supercapacitors: A first principles-based assessment. ACS Applied Mater. Interfaces **2014**, *6*, 12168.

(167) Ji, H.; Zhao, X.; Qiao, Z.; Jung, J.; Zhu, Y.; Lu, Y.; Zhang, L. L.; MacDonald, A. H.; Ruoff, R. S. Capacitance of Carbon-Based Electrical Double-Layer Capacitors. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 3317.

(168) Bazant, M. Z.; Storey, B. D.; Kornyshev, A. A. Double Layer in Ionic Liquids: Overscreening versus Crowding. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2011**, *106*, 046102.

(169) Goodwin, Z. A. H.; Feng, G.; Kornyshev, A. A. Mean-Field Theory of Electrical Double Layer In Ionic Liquids with Account of Short-Range Correlations. *Electrochim. Acta* **2017**, *225*, 190–197.

(170) Pinilla, C.; Del Pópolo, M. G.; Kohanoff, J.; Lynden-Bell, R. M. Polarization Relaxation in an Ionic Liquid Confined Between Electrified Walls. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2007**, *111*, 4877–4884.

(171) Merlet, C.; Péan, C.; Rotenberg, B.; Madden, P. A.; Simon, P.; Salanne, M. Simulating Supercapacitors: Can We Model Electrodes As Constant Charge Surfaces? *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2013**, *4*, 264–268.

(172) Atkin, R.; Warr, G. G. Structure in Confined Room-Temperature Ionic Liquids. J. Phys. Chem. C 2007, 111, 5162–5168.

(173) Perkin, S.; Albrecht, T.; Klein, J. Layering and Shear Properties of an Ionic Liquid, 1-ethyl-3-Methylimidazolium Ethylsulfate, Confined to Nano-Films Between Mica Surfaces. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *12*, 1243–1247.

(174) Perkin, S. Ionic Liquids in Confined Geometries. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 2012, 14, 5052–5062.

(175) Elbourne, A.; McDonald, S.; Voïchovsky, K.; Endres, F.; Warr, G. G.; Atkin, R. Nanostructure of the Ionic Liquid – Graphite Stern Layer. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 7608–7620.

(176) Hayes, R.; Warr, G. G.; Atkin, R. Structure and Nanostructure in Ionic Liquids. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115*, 6357–6426.

(177) Zhou, S.; Panse, K. S.; Motevaselian, M. H.; Aluru, N. R.; Zhang, Y. Three-Dimensional Molecular Mapping of Ionic Liquids at Electrified Interfaces. *ACS Nano* **2020**, *14*, 17515–17523.

(178) Mezger, M.; Schröder, H.; Reichert, H.; Schramm, S.; Okasinski, J. S.; Schöder, S.; Honkimäki, V.; Deutsch, M.; Ocko, B. M.; Ralston, J.; Rohwerder, M.; Stratmann, M.; Dosch, H. Molecular Layering of Fluorinated Ionic Liquids at a Charged Sapphire (0001) Surface. *Science* **2008**, 322, 424–428.

(179) Mezger, M.; Roth, R.; Schröder, H.; Reichert, P.; Pontoni, D.; Reichert, H. Solid-Liquid Interfaces of Ionic Liquid Solutions – Interfacial Layering and Bulk Correlations. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *142*, 164707.

(180) Baldelli, S. Probing Electric Fields at the Ionic Liquid-Electrode Interface Using Sum Frequency Generation Spectroscopy and Electrochemistry. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 13049–13051.

(181) Baldelli, S. Surface Structure at the Ionic Liquid-Electrified Metal Interface. Acc. Chem. Res. 2008, 41, 421-431.

(182) Baldelli, S. Interfacial Structure of Room-temperature Ionic Liquids at the Solid-Liquid Interface as Probed by Sum Frequency Generation Spectroscopy. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2013**, *4*, 244–252.

(183) Merlet, C.; Salanne, M.; Rotenberg, B.; Madden, P. A. Influence of Solvation on the Structural and Capacitive Properties of Electrical Double Layer Capacitors. *Electrochim. Acta* **2013**, *101*, 262–271.

(184) Fedorov, M. V.; Kornyshev, A. A. Ionic liquid Near a Charged Wall: Structure and Capacitance of Electrical Double Layer. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2008, *112*, 11868–11872.

(185) Fedorov, M. V.; Kornyshev, A. A. Towards Understanding the Structure and Capacitance of Electrical Double Layer in Ionic Liquids. *Electrochim. Acta* **2008**, *53*, 6835–6840.

(186) Fedorov, M. V.; Georgi, N.; Kornyshev, A. A. Double Layer in Ionic Liquids: the Nature of the Camel Shape of Capacitance. *Electrochem. Commun.* **2010**, *12*, 296–299.

(187) Vatamanu, J.; Borodin, O.; Smith, G. D. Molecular Insights into the Potential and Temperature Dependences of the Differential Capacitance of a Room-Temperature Ionic Liquid at Graphite Electrodes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, *132*, 14825–14833. (188) Vatamanu, J.; Borodin, O.; Bedrov, D.; Smith, G. D. Molecular Dynamics Simulation Study of the Interfacial Structure and Differential Capacitance of Alkylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)imide [C_nmim][TFSI] Ionic Liquids at Graphite Electrodes. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2012**, *116*, 7940–7951.

(189) Feng, G.; Huang, J.; Sumpter, B. G.; Meunier, V.; Qiao, R. A "Counter-Charge Layer in Generalized Solvents" Framework for Electrical Double Layers in neat and Hybrid Ionic Liquid Electrolytes. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *13*, 14723–14734.

(190) Georgi, N.; Kornyshev, A. A.; Fedorov, M. V. The Anatomy of the Double Layer and Capacitance in Ionic Liquids with Anisotropic Ions: Electrostriction vs Lattice Saturation. *J. Electroanal. Chem.* **2010**, 649, 261–267.

(191) Vatamanu, J.; Cao, L.; Borodin, O.; Bedrov, D.; Smith, G. D. On the Influence of Surface Topography on the Electric Double Layer Structure and Differential Capacitance of Graphite/Ionic Liquid Interfaces. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. **2011**, *2*, 2267–2272.

(192) Vatamanu, J.; Hu, Z.; Bedrov, D.; Perez, C.; Gogotsi, Y. Increasing Energy Storage in Electrochemical Capacitors with Ionic Liquid Electrolytes and Nanostructured Carbon Electrodes. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2013**, *4*, 2829.

(193) Feng, G.; Qiao, R.; Huang, J.; Dai, S.; Sumpter, B. G.; Meunier, V. The Importance of Ion Size and Electrode Curvature on Electrical Double Layers in Ionic Liquids. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *13*, 1152–1161.

(194) Feng, G.; Li, S.; Atchison, J. S.; Presser, V.; Cummings, P. T. Molecular Insights into Carbon Nanotube Supercapacitors: Capacitance Independent of Voltage and Temperature. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2013, *117*, 9178–9186.

(195) Feng, G.; Jiang, D.; Cummings, P. T. Curvature Effect on the Capacitance of Electric Double Layers at Ionic Liquid/Onion-Like Carbon Interfaces. J. Chem. Theory Comput. **2012**, *8*, 1058–1063.

(196) Jiang, D. E.; Meng, D.; Wu, J. Density Functional Theory for Differential Capacitance of Planar Electric Double Layers in Ionic Liquids. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2011**, *504*, 153–158.

(197) Mier-y-Teran, L.; Suh, S. H.; White, H. S.; Davis, H. T. A Nonlocal Free-energy Density-Functional Approximation for the Electrical Double Layer. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1990**, *92*, 5087–5098.

(198) Waisman, E.; Lebowitz, J. L. Exact Solution of an Integral Equation for the Structure of a Primitive Model of Electrolytes. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1970**, *52*, 4307–4309.

(199) Frischknecht, A. L.; Halligan, D. O.; Parks, M. L. Electrical Double Layers and Differential Capacitance in Molten Salts from Density Functional Theory. J. Chem. Phys. **2014**, *141*, 054708.

(200) Lu, H.; Nordholm, S.; Woodward, C. E.; Forsman, J. Ionic Liquid Interface at an Electrode: Simulations of Electrochemical Properties using an Asymmetric Restricted Primitive Model. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2018**, *30*, 074004.

(201) Ma, K.; Forsman, J.; Woodward, C. E. Influence of Ion Pairing in Ionic Liquids on Electrical Double Layer Structures and Surface Force using Classical Density Functional Approach. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *142*, 174704.

(202) Ma, K.; Forsman, J.; Woodward, C. E. A Classical Density Functional Study of Clustering in Ionic Liquids at Electrified Interfaces. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2017**, *121*, 1742–1751.

(203) Voroshylova, I. V.; Ers, H.; Docampo-Álvarez, B.; Pikma, P.; Ivanistsev, V. B.; Cordeiro, M. N. D. S. Hysteresis in the MD Simulations of Differential Capacitance at the Ionic Liquid–Au Interface. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. **2020**, *11*, 10408–10413.

(204) Rotenberg, B.; Salanne, M. Structural Transitions at Ionic Liquid Interfaces. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 2015, 6, 4978–4985.

(205) Jeon, Y.; Vaknin, D.; Bu, W.; Sung, J.; Ouchi, Y.; Sung, W.; Kim, D. Surface Nanocrystallization of an Ionic Liquid. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2012**, *108*, 055502.

(206) Liu, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Wu, G.; Hu, J. Coexistene of Liquid and Solid Phases of Bmim-PF₆ Ionic Liquid on Mica Surfaces at Room Temperature. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 7456–7457.

(207) Pan, G.-B.; Freyland, W. 2D Phase Transition of PF₆ Adlayers at the Electrified Ionic Liquid/Au(1 1 1) Interface. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2006**, 427, 96–100.

(208) Freyland, W. Interfacial Phase Transitions in Conducting Fluids. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2008**, *10*, 923–936.

(209) Su, Y.-Z.; Fu, Y.-C.; Yan, J.-W.; Chen, Z.-B.; Mao, B.-W. Double Layer of Au(100)/Ionic Liquid Interface and its Stability in Imidazolium-based Ionic Liquids. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 5148–5151.

(210) Pounds, M.; Tazi, S.; Salanne, M.; Madden, P. A. Ion Adsorption at a Metallic Electrode: an *ab initio* based Simulation Study. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2009**, *21*, 424109.

(211) Tazi, S.; Salanne, M.; Simon, C.; Turq, P.; Pounds, M.; Madden, P. A. Potential-Induced Ordering Transition of the Adsorbed Layer at the Ionic Liquid/Electrified Metal Interface. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2010**, *114*, 8453–8459.

(212) Scalfi, L.; Limmer, D. T.; Coretti, A.; Bonella, S.; Madden, P. A.; Salanne, M.; Rotenberg, B. Charge Fluctuations From Molecular Simulations in the Constant-Potential Ensemble. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *22*, 10480–10489.

(213) Kislenko, S.; Samoylov, I.; Amirov, R. Molecular Dynamics Simulation of the Electrochemical Interface between a Graphite Surface and the Ionic Liquid [BMIM][PF₆]. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2009**, *11*, 5584–5590.

(214) Kirchner, K.; Kirchner, T.; Ivanistsev, V.; Fedorov, M. V. Electrical Double Layer in Ionic Liquids: Structural Transitions from Multilayer to Monolayer Structure at the Interface. *Electrochim. Acta* **2013**, *110*, 762–771.

(215) Aal, A. A.; Al-Salman, R.; Al-Zoubi, M.; Borissenko, N.; Endres, F.; Höfft, O.; Prowald, A.; Zein El Abedin, S. Interfacial Electrochemistry and Electrodeposition from some Ionic Liquids: In Situ Scanning Tunneling Microscopy, Plasma Electrochemistry, Selenium and Macroporous Materials. *Electrochim. Acta* **2011**, *56*, 10295–10305.

(216) Druschler, M.; Borisenko, N.; Wallauer, J.; Winter, C.; Huber, B.; Endres, F.; Roling, B. New Insights Into the Interface Between a Single-Crystalline Metal Electrode and an Extremely Pure Ionic Liquid: Slow Interfacial Processes and the Influence of Temperature on Interfacial Dynamics. *Phys. Chem. Phys.* **2012**, *14*, 5090–5099.

(217) Drüschler, M.; Huber, B.; Roling, B. On Capacitive Processes at the Interface between 1-Ethyl-3-methylimidazolium tris-(pentafluoroethyl)trifluorophosphate and Au(111). *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2011**, *115*, 6802–6808.

(218) Roling, B.; Drüschler, M.; Huber, B. Slow and Fast Capacitive Process taking Place at the Ionic Liquid/Electrode Interface. *Faraday Discuss.* **2012**, *154*, 303–311.

(219) Gore, T. R.; Bond, T.; Zhang, W.; Scott, R. W. J.; Burgess, I. J. Hysteresis in the Measurement of Double-Layer Capacitance at the Gold–Ionic Liquid Interface. *Electrochem. Commun.* **2010**, *12*, 1340–1343.

(220) Uysal, A.; Zhou, H.; Feng, G.; Lee, S. S.; Li, S.; Fenter, P.; Cummings, P. T.; Fulvio, P. F.; Dai, S.; McDonough, J. K.; Gogotsi, Y. Structural Origins of Potential Dependent Hysteresis at the Electrified Graphene/Ionic Liquid Interface. J. Phys. Chem. C 2014, 118, 569–574. (221) Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Fauvarque, J.-F. Electrochemical Characteristics and Impedance Spectroscopy Studies of Carbon-Carbon Supercapacitors. J. Electrochem. Soc. 2003, 150, A292–A300. (222) Vix-Guterl, C.; Frackowiak, E.; Jurewicz, K.; Friebe, M.; Parmentier, J.; Béguin, F. Relationship between the nanoporous texture of activated carbons and their capacitance properties in different electrolytes. Carbon 2005, 43, 1293–1302.

(223) Portet, C.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Flahaut, E. Influence of carbon nanotubes addition on carbon–carbon supercapacitor performances in organic electrolyte. *J. Power Sources* **2005**, *139*, 371–378.

(224) Brunauer, S.; Emmett, P. H.; Teller, E. Adsorption of Gases in Multimolecular Layers. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1938**, 60, 309–319.

(225) Thommes, M.; Kaneko, K.; Neimark, A. V.; Olivier, J. P.; Rodriguez-Reinoso, F.; Rouquerol, J.; Sing, K. S. W. Physisorption of Gases, with Special Reference to the Evaluation of Surface Area and Pore Size Distribution. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 1051–1069. (226) Raymundo-Piñero, E.; Kierzek, K.; Machnikowski, J.; Béguin, F. Relationship Between the Nanoporous Texture of Activated Carbons and Their Capacitance Properties in Different Electrolytes. *Carbon* **2006**, *44*, 2498–2507.

(227) Chmiola, J.; Largeot, C.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Gogotsi, Y. Desolvation of Ions in Subnanometer Pores and Its Effect on Capacitance and Double-Layer Theory. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2008**, 47, 3392–3395.

(228) Ohkubo, T.; Konishi, T.; Hattori, Y.; Kanoh, H.; Fujikawa, T.; Kaneko, K. Restricted Hydration Structures of Rb and Br Ions Confined in Slit-Shaped Carbon Nanospace. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2002**, *124*, 11860–11861.

(229) Largeot, C.; Portet, C.; Chmiola, J.; Taberna, P. L.; Gogotsi, Y.; Simon, P. Relation Between the Ion Size and Pore Size for an Electric Double-Layer Capacitor. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 2730–2731.

(230) Bagge-Hansen, M.; et al. Potential-Induced Electronic Structure Changes in Supercapacitor Electrodes Observed by In Operando Soft X-Ray Spectroscopy. *Adv. Mater.* **2015**, *27*, 1512–1518.

(231) Prehal, C.; Weingarth, D.; Perre, E.; Lechner, R. T.; Amenitsch, H.; Paris, O.; Presser, V. Tracking the Structural Arrangement of Ions in Carbon Supercapacitor Nanopores using in-situ small angle X-ray Scattering. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2015**, *8*, 1725.

(232) Prehal, C.; Koczwara, C.; Jäckel, N.; Amenitsch, H.; Presser, V.; Paris, O. A Carbon Nanopore Model to quantify Structure and Kinetics of Ion Electrosorption with in situ Small Angle X-ray Scattering. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2017**, *19*, 15549–15561.

(233) Prehal, C.; Koczwara, C.; Jäckel, N.; Schreiber, A.; Burian, M.; Amenitsch, H.; Hartmann, M. A.; Presser, V.; Paris, O. Quantification of Ion Confinement and Desolvation in Nanoporous Carbon Supercapacitors with Modelling and in Situ X-ray Scattering. *Nat. Energy* **2017**, *2*, 16215.

(234) Koczwara, C.; Rumswinkel, S.; Prehal, C.; Jäckel, N.; Elsaesser, M.; Amenitsch, H.; Presser, V.; Huesing, N.; Paris, O. In situ Measurement of Electrosorption-Induced Deformation Reveal the Importance of Micropores in Hierarchical Carbons. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **201**7, *9*, 23319–23324.

(235) Prehal, C.; Koczwara, C.; Amenitsch, H.; Presser, V.; Paris, O. Salt Concentration and Charging Velocity Determine Ion Charge Storage Mechanism in Nanoporous Supercapacitors. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 1–8.

(236) Koczwara, C.; Prehal, C.; Haas, S.; Boesecke, P.; Huesing, N.; Paris, O. Towards Real-Time Ion-Specific Structural Sensitivity in Nanoporous Carbon Electrodes Using In Situ Anomalous Small-Angle X-ray Scattering. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2019**, *11*, 42214–42220.

(237) Futamura, R.; Iiyama, T.; Takasaki, Y.; Gogotsi, Y.; Biggs, M. J.; Salanne, M.; Ségalini, J.; Simon, P.; Kaneko, K. Partial breaking of the Coulombic ordering of ionic liquids confined in carbon nanopores. *Nat. Mater.* **2017**, *16*, 1225–1232.

(238) Boukhalfa, S.; He, L.; Melnichenko, Y. B.; Yushin, G. Small-Angle Neutron Scattering for In Situ Probing of Ion Adsorption Inside Micropores. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 4618.

(239) Boukhalfa, S.; Gordon, D.; He, L.; Melnichenko, Y. B.; Nitta, N.; Magasinski, A.; Yushin, G. In-Situ Small Angle Neutron Scattering Revealing Ion Sorption in Microporous Carbon Electrical Double Layer Capacitors. *ACS Nano* **2014**, *8*, 2495–2503.

(240) Bañuelos, J. L.; Feng, G.; Fulvio, P. F.; Li, S.; Rother, G.; Dai, S.; Cummings, P. T.; Wesolowski, D. J. Densification of Ionic Liquid Molecules within a Hierarchical Nanoporous Carbon Structure Revealed by Small Angle Scattering and Molecular Dynamics Simulation. *Chem. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 1144–1153.

(241) Wang, H.; Koster, T. K. J.; Trease, N. M.; Segalini, J.; Taberna, P. L.; Simon, P.; Gogotsi, Y.; Grey, C. P. Real-Time NMR Studies of Electrochemical Double-Layer Capacitors. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 19270–19273.

(242) Wang, H.; Forse, A. C.; Griffin, J. M.; Trease, N. M.; Trognko, L.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Grey, C. In situ NMR Spectroscopy of Supercapacitors: Insight into the Charge Storage Mechanism. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 18968–18980.

(243) Deschamps, M.; Gilbert, E.; Azais, P.; Raymundo-Piñero, E.; Ammar, M. R.; Simon, P.; Massiot, D.; Béguin, F. Exploring Electrolyte Organization in Supercapacitor Electrodes with Solid-State NMR. *Nat. Mater.* **2013**, *12*, 351–358.

(244) Griffin, J. M.; Forse, A. C.; Wang, H.; Trease, N. M.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Grey, C. P. Ion Counting in Supercapacitor Electrodes using NMR Spectroscopy. *Faraday Discuss.* **2014**, *176*, 49–68.

(245) Ilott, A. J.; Trease, N. M.; Grey, C. P.; Jerschow, A. Multinuclear in situ Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Electrochemical Double-Layer Capacitors. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 4536.

(246) Forse, A. C.; Griffin, J. M.; Merlet, C.; Bayley, P. M.; Wang, H.; Simon, P.; Grey, C. P. NMR Study of Ion Dynamics and Charge Storage in Ionic Liquid Supercapacitors. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137*, 7231– 7242.

(247) Forse, A. C.; Griffin, J. M.; Merlet, C.; Carretero-González, J.; Raji, A.-R. O.; Trease, N. M.; Grey, C. P. Direct Observation of Ion Dynamics in Supercapacitor Electrodes using in situ Diffusion NMR Spectroscopy. *Nat. Energy* **2017**, *2*, 16216.

(248) Levi, M. D.; Salitra, G.; Levy, N.; Aurbach, D.; Maier, J. Application of a quartz-crystal microbalance to measure ionic fluxes in microporous carbons for energy storage. *Nat. Mater.* **2009**, *8*, 872–875.

(249) Tsai, W.-Y.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P. Electrochemical Quartz Crystal Microbalance (EQCM) Study of Ion Dynamics in Nanoporous Carbons. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2014**, *136*, 8722–8728.

(250) Jäckel, N.; Emge, S. P.; Krüner, B.; Roling, B.; Presser, V. Quantitative Information about Electrosorption of Ionic Liquids in Carbon Nanopores from Electrochemical Dilatometry and Quartz Crystal Microbalance Measurements. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2017, *121*, 19120–19128.

(251) Richey, F. W.; Elabd, Y. A. In Situ Molecular Level Measurements of Ion Dynamics in an Electrochemical Capacitor. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2012**, *3*, 3297–3301.

(252) Richey, F. W.; Dyatkin, B.; Gogotsi, Y.; Elabd, Y. A. Ion Dynamics in Porous Carbon Electrodes in Supercapacitors Using in situ Infrared Spectroelectrochemistry. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2013**, 135, 12818.

(253) Yang, L.; Fishbine, B. H.; Migliori, A.; Pratt, L. R. Molecular Simulation of Electric Double-Layer Capacitors Based on Carbon Nanotube Forests. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 12373–12376.

(254) Shim, Y.; Kim, H. J. Nanoporous Carbon Supercapacitors in an Ionic Liquid: A Computer Simulation Study. *ACS Nano* **2010**, *4*, 2345–2355.

(255) Rajput, N. N.; Monk, J. D.; Singh, R.; Hung, F. R. On the Influence of Pore Size and Pore Loading on Structural and Dynamical Heterogeneities of an Ionic Liquid Confined in a Slit Nanopore. *J. Phys. Chem.* C **2012**, *116*, 5169–5181.

(256) Rajput, N. N.; Monk, J. D.; Hung, F. R. Structure and Dynamics of an Ionic Liquid Confined Inside a Charged Slit Graphitic Nanopore. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2012**, *116*, 14504–14513.

(257) Xing, L.; Vatamanu, J.; Borodin, O.; Bedrov, D. On the Atomistic Nature of Capacitance Enhancement Generated by Ionic Liquid Electrolyte Confined in Subnanometer Pores. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2013**, *4*, 132–140.

(258) Vatamanu, J.; Vatamanu, M.; Bedrov, D. Non-Faradaic Energy Storage by Room Temperature Ionic Liquids in Nanoporous Electrodes. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 5999–6017.

(259) Feng, G.; Cummings, P. T. Supercapacitor Capacitance Exhibits Oscillatory Behavior as a Function of Nanopore Size. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2011**, *2*, 2859–2864.

(260) Jiang, D. E.; Jin, Z.; Wu, J. Oscillation of Capacitance inside Nanopores. *Nano Lett.* **2011**, *11*, 5373–5377.

(261) Jiang, D. E.; Wu, J. Microscopic Insights into the Electrochemical Behavior of Nonaqueous Electrolytes in Electric Double-Layer Capacitors. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. **2013**, *4*, 1260–1267.

(262) Jiang, D. E.; Jin, Z.; Henderson, D. J.; Wu, J. Solvent Effect on the Pore-Size Dependence of an Organic Electrolyte Supercapacitor. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2012**, *3*, 1727–1731.

(263) Lian, C.; Jiang, D.-E.; liu, H.; Wu, J. A Generic Model for Electric Double Layers in Porous Electrodes. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2016, 120, 8704–8710.

(264) Turesson, M.; Szparaga, R.; Ma, K.; Woodward, C. E.; Forsman, J. Classical density functional theory & simulations on a coarse-grained model of aromatic ionic liquids. *Soft Matter* **2014**, *10*, 3229–3237.

(265) Kondrat, S.; Kornyshev, A. A. Superionic State in Double-Layer Capacitors with Nanoporous Electrodes. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2011**, 23, 022201.

(266) Kondrat, S.; Georgi, N.; Fedorov, M. V.; Kornyshev, A. A. A Superionic State in Nano-Porous Double-Layer Capacitors: Insights from Monte Carlo simulations. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2011**, *13*, 11359–11366.

(267) Merlet, C.; Rotenberg, B.; Madden, P. A.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Gogotsi, Y.; Salanne, M. On the Molecular Origin of Supercapacitance in Nanoporous Carbon Electrodes. *Nat. Mater.* **2012**, *11*, 306–310.

(268) Merlet, C.; Péan, C.; Rotenberg, B.; Madden, P. A.; Daffos, B.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Salanne, M. Highly Confined Ions store Charge more Efficiently in Supercapacitors. *Nat. Commun.* **2013**, *4*, 2701.

(269) Griffin, J. M.; Forse, A. C.; Tsai, W.-Y.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Grey, C. P. In Situ NMR and Electrochemical Quartz Crystal Microbalance Techniques Reveal the Structure of the Electrical Double Layer in Supercapacitors. *Nat. Mater.* **2015**, *14*, 812–819.

(270) Levi, M. D.; Levy, N.; Sigalov, S.; Salitra, G.; Aurbach, D.; Maier, J. Electrochemical Quartz Crystal Microbalance (EQCM) Studies of Ions and Solvents Insertion into Highly Porous Activated Carbons. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, *132*, 13220–13222.

(271) Richey, F. W.; Tran, C.; Kalra, V.; Elabd, Y. A. Ionic Liquid Dynamics in Nanoporous Carbon Nanofibers in Supercapacitors Measured with in Operando Infrared Spectroelectrochemistry. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2014, *118*, 21846–21855.

(272) Liu, C.; Yu, Z.; Neff, D.; Zhamu, A.; Jang, B. Z. Graphene-Based Supercapacitor with an Ultrahigh Energy Density. *Nano Lett.* **2010**, *10*, 4863–4868.

(273) Zhu, R.; Murali, S.; Stoller, M. D.; Ganesh, K. J.; Cai, W.; Ferreira, P. J.; Pirkle, A.; Wallace, R. M.; Cychosz, K. A.; Thommes, M.; Su, D.; Stach, E. A.; Ruoff, R. S. Carbon-Based Supercapacitors Produced by Activation of Graphene. *Science* **2011**, 332, 1537–1541.

(274) Tsai, W.-Y.; Lin, R.; Murali, S.; Zhang, L. L.; McDonough, J. K.; Ruoff, R. S.; Taberna, P.-L.; Gogotsi, Y.; Simon, P. Outstanding Performance of Activated Graphene Based Supercapacitors in Ionic Liquid Electrolyte from -50 to 80 C. *Nano Ener* **2013**, *2*, 403-411.

(275) Rafiee, J.; Mi, X.; Gullapalli, H.; Thomas, H. V.; Yavari, F.; Shi, Y.; Ajayan, P. M.; Koratkar, N. A. Wetting Transparency of Graphene. *Nat. Mater.* **2012**, *11*, 217–222.

(276) Chae, S.; Jang, S.; Choi, W. J.; Kim, Y. S.; Chang, H.; Lee, T. I.; Lee, J.-O. Lattice Transparency of Graphene. *Nano Lett.* **2017**, *17*, 1711–1718.

(277) Mendez-Morales, T.; Burbano, M.; Haefele, M.; Rotenberg, B.; Salanne, M. Ion–Ion Correlations Across and Between Electrified Graphene Layers. J. Chem. Phys. 2018, 148, 193812.

(278) Pereira, G. F. L.; Pereira, R. G.; Salanne, M.; Siqueira, L. J. A. Molecular Dynamics Simulations of Ether-Modified Phosphonium Ionic Liquid Confined in Between Planar and Porous Graphene Electrode Models. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2019, *123*, 10816–10825.

(279) Juarez, F.; Dominguez-Flores, F.; Goduljan, A.; Mohammadzadeh, L.; Quaino, P.; Santos, E.; Schmickler, W. Defying Coulomb's Law: A Lattice-Induced Attraction between Lithium Ions. *Carbon* **2018**, *139*, 808–812.

(280) Kondrat, S.; Vasilyev, O. A.; Kornyshev, A. A. Feeling Your Neighbors across the Walls: How Interpore Ionic Interactions Affect Capacitive Energy Storage. J. Phys. Chem. Lett. **2019**, *10*, 4523–4527.

(281) Liu, Y. M.; Merlet, C.; Smit, B. Carbons with Regular Pore Geometry Yield Fundamental Insights into Supercapacitor Charge Storage. *ACS Cent. Sci.* **2019**, *5*, 1813–1823.

(282) Mendez-Morales, T.; Ganfoud, N.; Li, Z.; Haefele, M.; Rotenberg, B.; Salanne, M. Performance of Microporous Carbon Electrodes for Supercapacitors: Comparing Graphene with Disordered Materials. *Ener. Storage Mater.* **2019**, *17*, 88–92. (283) Kondrat, S.; Perez, C. R.; Presser, V.; Gogotsi, Y.; Kornyshev, A.
A. Effect of Pore Size and its Dispersity on the Energy Storage in Nanoporous Supercapacitors. *Energy Environ. Sci.* 2012, *5*, 6474–6479.
(284) Vasilyev, O. A.; Kornyshev, A. A.; Kondrat, S. Connections

Matter: On the Importance of Pore Percolation for Nanoporous Supercapacitors. ACS Appl. Energy Mater. 2019, 2, 5386–5390.

(285) Kondrat, S.; Wu, P.; Qiao, R.; Kornyshev, A. A. Accelerating Charging Dynamics in Subnanometre Pores. *Nat. Mater.* **2014**, *13*, 387–393.

(286) Kondrat, S.; Kornyshev, A. Pressing a Spring: What does it take to Maximize the Energy Storage in Nanoporous Supercapacitors? *Nanoscale Horiz* **2016**, *1*, 45–52.

(287) Lee, A. A.; Vella, D.; Goriely, A.; Kondrat, S. Capacitance-Power-Hysteresis Trilemma in Nanoporous Supercapacitors. *Phys. Rev.* X **2016**, *6*, 021034.

(288) Zhong, C.; Deng, Y.; Hu, W.; Qiao, J.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, J. A Review of Electrolyte Materials and Compositions for Electrochemical Supercapacitors. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 7484–7539.

(289) Armand, M.; Endres, F.; MacFarlane, D. R.; Ohno, H.; Scrosati, B. Ionic-Liquid Materials for the Electrochemical Challenges of the Future. *Nat. Mater.* **2009**, *8*, 621–629.

(290) Burt, R.; Breitsprecher, K.; Daffos, B.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Birkett, G.; Zhao, X. S.; Holm, C.; Salanne, M. Capacitance of Nanoporous Carbon-Based Supercapacitors Is a Trade-Off between the Concentration and the Separability of the Ions. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2016**, *7*, 4015–4021.

(291) Jiang, D.-e.; Wu, J. Unusual effects of solvent polarity on capacitance for organic electrolytes in a nanoporous electrode. *Nanoscale* **2014**, *6*, 5545–5550.

(292) Lian, C.; Liu, K.; Liu, H.; Wu, J. Impurity Effects on Charging Mechanism and Energy Storage of Nanoporous Supercapacitors. J. Phys. Chem. C 2017, 121, 14066.

(293) Wu, P.; Huang, J. S.; Meunier, V.; Sumpter, B. G.; Qiao, R. Complex Capacitance Scaling in Ionic Liquids-Filled Nanopores. *ACS Nano* **2011**, *5*, 9044–9051.

(294) Neal, J. N.; Wesolowski, D. J.; Henderson, D.; Wu, J. Electric Double Layer Capacitance for Ionic Liquids in Nanoporous Electrodes: Effects of Pore Size and Ion Composition. *J. Mol. Liq.* **2018**, *270*, 145– 150.

(295) Logan, B. E.; Elimelech, M. Membrane-Based Processes for Sustainable Power Generation Using Water. *Nature* **2012**, *488*, 313–319.

(296) Siria, A.; Bocquet, M.-L.; Bocquet, L. New Avenues for the Large-Scale Harvesting of Blue Energy. *Nat. Rev. Chem.* **2017**, *1*, 91.

(297) Brogioli, D.; Zhao, R.; Biesheuvel, P. M. A Prototype Cell for Extracting Energy from a Water Salinity Difference by Means of Double Layer Expansion in Nanoporous Carbon Electrodes. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2011**, *4*, 772–777.

(298) Brogioli, D.; Ziano, R.; Rica, R. A.; Salerno, D.; Kozynchenko, O.; Hamelers, H. V. M.; Mantegazza, F. Exploiting the Spontaneous Potential of the Electrodes Used in the Capacitive Mixing Technique for the Extraction of Energy from Salinity Difference. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2012**, *5*, 9870–9880.

(299) Suss, M. E.; Porada, S.; Sun, X.; Biesheuvel, P. M.; Yoon, J.; Presser, V. Water Desalination via Capacitive Deionization: What is it and What can we Expect from it? *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2015**, *8*, 2296–2319.

(300) Qin, M.; Deshmukh, A.; Epsztein, R.; Patel, S. K.; Owoseni, O. M.; Walker, W. S.; Elimelech, M. Comparison of Energy Consumption in Desalination by Capacitive Deionization and Reverse Osmosis. *Desalination* **2019**, *455*, 100–114.

(301) Gamaethiralalage, J. G.; Singh, K.; Sahin, S.; Yoon, J.; Elimelech, M.; Suss, M. E.; Liang, P.; Biesheuvel, P. M.; Zornitta, R. L.; de Smet, L. C. P. M. Recent Advances in Ion Selectivity with Capacitive Deionization. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2021**, *14*, 1095–1120.

(302) Boon, N.; van Roij, R. 'Blue Energy' from Ion Adsorption and Electrode Charging in Sea and River Water. *Mol. Phys.* **2011**, *109*, 1229–1241.

(303) Rica, R. A.; Ziano, R.; Salerno, D.; Mantegazza, F.; van Roij, R.; Brogioli, D. Capacitive Mixing for Harvesting the Free Energy of Solutions at Different Concentrations. *Entropy* **2013**, *15*, 1388–1407. (304) Härtel, A.; Janssen, M.; Samin, S.; van Roij, R. Fundamental Measure Theory for the Electric Double Layer: Implications for Blue-Energy Harvesting and Water Desalination. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* **2015**, *27*, 194129.

(305) Simoncelli, M.; Ganfoud, N.; Sene, A.; Haefele, M.; Daffos, B.; Taberna, P.-L.; Salanne, M.; Simon, P.; Rotenberg, B. Blue Energy and Desalination with Nanoporous Carbon Electrodes: Capacitance from Molecular Simulations to Continuous Models. *Phys. Rev. X* **2018**, *8*, 021024.

(306) Sharma, K.; Kim, Y. H.; Yiacoumi, S.; Gabitto, J.; Bilheux, H. Z.; Santodonato, L. J.; Mayes, R. T.; Dai, S.; Tsouris, C. Analysis and Simulation of a Blue Energy Cycle. *Renew. Energy* **2016**, *91*, 249–260.

(307) Biesheuvel, P. M.; Zhao, R.; Porada, S.; van der Wal, A. Theory of Membrane Capacitive Deionization Including the Effect of the Electrode Pore Space. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2011, 360, 239–248.

(308) Porada, S.; Weinstein, L.; Dash, R.; van der Wal, A.; Bryjak, M.; Gogotsi, Y.; Biesheuvel, P. Water Desalination Using Capacitive Deionization with Microporous Carbon Electrodes. *ACS Appl. Mater.* **2012**, *4*, 1194–1199.

(309) Porada, S.; Borchardt, L.; Oschatz, M.; Bryjak, M.; Atchison, J. S.; Keesman, K. J.; Kaskel, S.; Biesheuvel, P. M.; Presser, V. Direct Prediction of the Desalination Performance of Porous Carbon Electrodes for Capacitive Deionization. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2013**, *6*, 3700–3712.

(310) Porada, S.; Zhao, R.; van der Wal, A.; Presser, V.; Biesheuvel, P. M. Review on the Science and Technology of Water Desalination by Capacitive Deionization. *Prog. Mater. Scie.* **2013**, *58*, 1388–1442.

(311) Conway, B.; Bockris, J.; Ammar, I. The Dielectric Constant of the Solution in the Diffuse and Helmholtz Double Layers at a Charged Interface in Aqueous Solution. *Trans. Faraday Soc.* **1951**, 47, 756–766.

(312) Dzubiella, J.; Hansen, J.-P. Electric-Field-Controlled Water and Ion Permeation of a Hydrophobic Nanopore. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2005**, *122*, 234706.

(313) Bonthuis, D. J.; Gekle, S.; Netz, R. R. Dielectric Profile of Interfacial Water and its Effect on Double-Layer Capacitance. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2011**, *107*, 166102.

(314) Bonthuis, D. J.; Gekle, S.; Netz, R. R. Profile of the Static Permittivity Tensor of Water at Interfaces: Consequences for Capacitance, Hydration Interaction and Ion Adsorption. *Langmuir* **2012**, 28, 7679–7694.

(315) Schlaich, A.; Knapp, E. W.; Netz, R. R. Water Dielectric Effects in Planar Confinement. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2016**, *117*, 048001.

(316) Freise, V. Zur Theorie der Diffusen Doppelschicht. Z. Elektrochem. 1952, 56, 822–827.

(317) Goodwin, Z. A. H.; Kornyshev, A. A. Underscreening, Overscreening and Double-Layer Capacitance. *Electrochem. Commun.* **2017**, *82*, 129–133.

(318) Biesheuvel, P. M.; Porada, S.; Levi, M.; Bazant, M. Z. Attractive Forces in Microporous Carbon Electrodes for Capacitive Deionization. *J. Solid State Electrochem.* **2014**, *18*, 1365–1376.

(319) Ganfoud, N.; Sene, A.; Haefele, M.; Marin-Laflèche, A.; Daffos, B.; Taberna, P.-L.; Salanne, M.; Simon, P.; Rotenberg, B. Effect of the Carbon Microporous Structure on the Capacitance of Aqueous Supercapacitors. *Ener. Storage Mater.* **2019**, *21*, 190–195.

(320) Schweizer, S.; Landwehr, J.; Etzold, B. J. M.; Meißner, R. H.; Amkreutz, M.; Schiffels, P.; Hill, J.-R. Combined Computational and Experimental Study on the Influence of Surface Chemistry of Carbon-Based Electrodes on Electrode–Electrolyte Interactions in Supercapacitors. J. Phys. Chem. C 2019, 123, 2716–2727.

(321) Cats, P.; Sitlapersad, R. S.; den Otter, W. K.; Thornton, A. R.; van Roij, R. Capacitance and Structure of Electric Double Layers: Comparing Brownian Dynamics and Classical Density Functional Theory. J. Solution Chem. **2021** DOI: 10.1007/s10953-021-01090-7

(322) Janssen, M.; Härtel, A.; van Roij, R. Boosting Capacitive Blue-Energy and Desalination Devices with Waste Heat. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2014**, *113*, 268501.

10896

(323) Härtel, A.; Janssen, M.; Weingarth, D.; Presser, V.; van Roij, R. Heat-to-Current Conversion of Low-Grade Heat from a Thermocapacitive Cycle by Supercapacitors. *Energy Environ. Sci.* **2015**, *8*, 2396–2401.

(324) Janssen, M.; van Roij, R. Reversible Heating in Electric Double Layer Capacitors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **201**7, *118*, 096001.

(325) Kong, X.; Gallegos, A.; Lu, D.; Liu, Z.; Wu, J. A Molecular Theory for Optimal Blue Energy Extraction by Electrical Double Layer Expansion. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *17*, 23970–23976.

(326) Li, Z.; Wu, J. Density Functional Theory for Planar Electric Double Layers: Closing the Gap between Simple and Polyelectrolytes. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2006**, *110*, 7473–7484.

(327) Lian, C.; Kong, X.; Liu, H.; Wu, J. On the Hydrophilicity of Electrodes for Capacitive Energy Extraction. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matt.* **2016**, *28*, 464008.

(328) Iglesias, G. R.; Fernàndez, M. M.; Ahualli, S.; Jiménez, M. L.; Kozynchenko, O. P.; Delgado, A. V. Materials Selection for Optimum Energy Production by Double Layer Expansion Methods. *J. Power Sources* **2014**, *261*, 371–377.

(329) Lian, C.; Zhan, C.; Jiang, D. E.; Liu, H.; Wu, J. Capacitive Energy Extraction by Few-Layer Graphene Electrodes. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2017**, *121*, 14010–14018.

(330) Henderson, D.; Jiang, D. E.; Jin, Z.; Wu, J. Application of Density Functional Theory To Study the Double Layer of an Electrolyte with an Explicit Dimer Model for the Solvent. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2012, *116*, 11356–11361.

(331) Zhan, C.; Neal, J.; Wu, J.; Jiang, D. E. Quantum Effects on the Capacitance of Graphene-Based Electrodes. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2015, *119*, 22297–22303.

(332) Bazant, M. Z.; Thornton, K.; Ajdari, A. Diffuse-Charge Dynamics in Electrochemical Systems. *Phys. Rev. E* 2004, *70*, 021506.

(333) Janssen, M.; Bier, M. Transient Dynamics of Electric Double-Layer Capacitors: Exact Expressions Within the Debye-Falkenhagen Approximation. *Phys. Rev. E* **2018**, *97*, 052616.

(334) Biesheuvel, P. M.; Bazant, M. Z. Nonlinear Dynamics of Capacitive Charging and Desalination by Porous Electrodes. *Phys. Rev.* E 2010, *81*, 031502.

(335) de Levie, R. On porous electrodes in electrolyte solutions—IV. *Electrochim. Acta* **1964**, *9*, 1231–1245.

(336) Janssen, M. Transmission Line Circuit and Equation for an Electrolyte-Filled Pore of Finite Length. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2021**, *126*, 136002.

(337) Lian, C.; Janssen, M.; Liu, H.; van Roij, R. Blessing and Curse: How a Supercapacitor's Large Capacitance Causes its Slow Charging. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2020**, *124*, 076001.

(338) Jiang, J.; Cao, D.; Jiang, D. E.; Wu, J. Kinetic Charging Inversion in Ionic Liquid Electric Double Layers. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2014**, *5*, 2195–2200.

(339) Rica, R. A.; Brogioli, D.; Ziano, R.; Salerno, D.; Mantegazza, F. Ions Transport and Adsorption Mechanisms in Porous Electrodes During Capacitive-Mixing Double Layer Expansion (CDLE). *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2012, *116*, 16934–16938.

(340) Kim, T.; Dykstra, J.; Porada, S.; van der Wal, A.; Yoon, J.; Biesheuvel, P. Enhanced Charge Efficiency and Reduced Energy Use in Capacitive Deionization by Increasing the Discharge Voltage. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2015**, *446*, 317–326.

(341) Biesheuvel, P. M.; Fu, Y.; Bazant, M. Z. Diffuse Charge and Faradaic Reactions in Porous Electrodes. *Phys. Rev. E* **2011**, *83*, 061507.

(342) Biesheuvel, P. M.; Fu, Y.; Bazant, M. Z. Electrochemistry and Capacitive Charging of Porous Electrodes in Asymmetric Multicomponent Electrolytes. *Russ. J. Electrochem.* **2012**, *48*, 580–592.

(343) Capuani, F.; Pagonabarraga, I.; Frenkel, D. Discrete Solution of the Electrokinetic Equations. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2004**, *121*, 973–986.

(344) Pagonabarraga, I.; Rotenberg, B.; Frenkel, D. Recent Advances in the Modelling and Simulation of Electrokinetic Effects: Bridging the Gap Between Atomistic and Macroscopic Descriptions. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2010**, *12*, 9566–9580. (345) Rotenberg, B.; Pagonabarraga, I.; Frenkel, D. Coarse-Grained Simulations of Charge, Current and Flow in Heterogeneous Media. *Faraday Discuss.* **2010**, *144*, 223–243.

(346) Obliger, A.; Duvail, M.; Jardat, M.; Coelho, D.; Békri, S.; Rotenberg, B. Numerical Homogenization of Electrokinetic Equations in Porous Media Using Lattice-Boltzmann Simulations. *Phys. Rev. E* **2013**, *88*, 013019.

(347) Levesque, M.; Duvail, M.; Pagonabarraga, I.; Frenkel, D.; Rotenberg, B. Accounting for Adsorption and Desorption in Lattice Boltzmann Simulations. *Phys. Rev. E* **2013**, *88*, 013308.

(348) Obliger, A.; Jardat, M.; Coelho, D.; Bekri, S.; Rotenberg, B. Pore Network Model of Electrokinetic Transport through Charged Porous Media. *Phys. Rev. E* **2014**, *89*, 043013.

(349) Asta, A.; Levesque, M.; Rotenberg, B. Moment Propagation Method for the Dynamics of Charged Adsorbing/Desorbing Species at Solid-Liquid Interfaces. *Mol. Phys.* **2018**, *116*, 2965–2976.

(350) Asta, A. J.; Palaia, I.; Trizac, E.; Levesque, M.; Rotenberg, B. Lattice Boltzmann Electrokinetics Simulation of Nanocapacitors. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2019**, *151*, 114104.

(351) te Vrugt, M.; Löwen, H.; Wittkowski, R. Classical Dynamical Density Functional Theory: from Fundamentals to Applications. *Adv. Phys.* **2020**, *69*, 121–247.

(352) Lian, C.; Zhao, S.; Liu, H.; Wu, J. Time-Dependent Density Functional Theory for the Charging Kinetics of Electric Double Layer Containing Room-Temperature Ionic Liquids. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2016**, *145*, 204707.

(353) Lian, C.; Su, H.; Li, C.; Liu, H.; Wu, J. Non-Negligible Roles of Pore Size Distribution on Electroosmotic Flow in Nanoporous Materials. *ACS Nano* **2019**, *13*, 8185–8192.

(354) Melchionna, S.; Marconi, U. M. B. Electro-osmotic flows under nanoconfinement: A self-consistent approach. *EPL* **2011**, *95*, 44002.

(355) Marini Bettolo Marconi, U.; Melchionna, S. Charge Transport in Nanochannels: A Molecular Theory. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28*, 13727– 13740.

(356) Pean, C.; Rotenberg, B.; Simon, P.; Salanne, M. Multi-scale Modelling of Supercapacitors: From molecular Simulations to a Transmission Line Model. *J. Power Sources* **2016**, *326*, 680–685.

(357) Péan, C.; Merlet, C.; Rotenberg, B.; Madden, P. A.; Taberna, P.-L.; Daffos, B.; Salanne, M.; Simon, P. On the Dynamics of Charging in Nanoporous Carbon-Based Supercapacitors. *ACS Nano* **2014**, *8*, 1576–1583.

(358) He, Y.; Huang, J.; Sumpter, B. G.; Kornyshev, A. A.; Qiao, R. Dynamic Charge Storage in Ionic Liquids-filled Nanopores: Insight from a Computational Cyclic Voltammetry Study. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2015**, *6*, 22–30.

(359) Breitsprecher, K.; Abele, M.; Kondrat, S.; Holm, C. The effect of finite pore length on ion structure and charging. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2017**, *147*, 104708.

(360) Breitsprecher, K.; Holm, C.; Kondrat, S. Charge Me Slowly, I Am in a Hurry: Optimizing Charge–Discharge Cycles in Nanoporous Supercapacitors. *ACS Nano* **2018**, *12*, 9733–9741.

(361) Breitsprecher, K.; Janssen, M.; Srimuk, P.; Mehdi, B. L.; Presser, V.; Holm, C.; Kondrat, S. How to Speed up Ion Transport in Nanopores. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 6085.

(362) Pak, A. J.; Hwang, G. S. Charging Rate Dependence of Ion Migration and Stagnation in Ionic Liquid-Filled Carbon Nanopores. J. Phys. Chem. C 2016, 120, 24560–24567.

(363) Pean, C.; Daffos, B.; Rotenberg, B.; Levitz, P.; Haefele, M.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P.; Salanne, M. Confinement, Desolvation, And Electrosorption Effects on the Diffusion of Ions in Nanoporous Carbon Electrodes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2015**, 137, 12627.

(364) Pean, C.; Rotenberg, B.; Simon, P.; Salanne, M. Understanding the different (dis)charging steps of supercapacitors: influence of potential and solvation. *Electrochim. Acta* **2016**, 206, 504–512.

(365) Xu, K.; Shao, H.; Lin, Z.; Merlet, C.; Feng, G.; Zhu, J.; Simon, P. Computational Insights into Charge Storage Mechanisms of Supercapacitors. *Energy Environ. Mater.* **2020**, *3*, 235–246.

(366) Okuno, Y.; Ushirogata, K.; Sodeyama, K.; Tateyama, Y. Decomposition of the Fluoroethylene Carbonate Additive and the Glue

pubs.acs.org/CR

Effect of Lithium Fluoride Products for the Solid Electrolyte Interphase: an Ab Initio Study. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2016**, *18*, 8643–8653.

(367) Alzate-Vargas, L.; Blau, S. M.; Spotte-Smith, E. W. C.; Allu, S.; Persson, K. A.; Fattebert, J.-L. Insight into SEI Growth in Li-Ion Batteries using Molecular Dynamics and Accelerated Chemical Reactions. J. Phys. Chem. C 2021, 125, 18588–18596.

(368) Simon, P.; Gogotsi, Y. Perspectives for Electrochemical Capacitors and Related Devices. *Nat. Mater.* **2020**, *19*, 1151–1163.

(369) Bi, S.; Banda, H.; Chen, M.; Niu, L.; Chen, M.; Wu, T.; Wang, J.; Wang, R.; Feng, J.; Chen, T.; Dinca, M.; Kornyshev, A. A.; Feng, G. Molecular Understanding of Charge Storage and Charging Dynamics in Supercapacitors with MOF Electrodes and Ionic Liquid Electrolytes. *Nat. Mater.* **2020**, *19*, 552–558.

(370) Liang, Z.; Zhao, C.; Zhao, W.; Zhang, Y.; Srimuk, P.; Presser, V.; Feng, G. Molecular Understanding of Charge Storage in MoS₂ Supercapacitors with Ionic Liquids. *Energy Environ. Mater.* **2021**, *4*, 631–637.

(371) Vahidmohammadi, A.; Rosen, J.; Gogotsi, Y. The World of Two-Dimensional Carbides and Nitrides (MXenes). *Science* **2021**, *372*, No. eabf1581.

(372) Liu, L.; Orbay, M.; Luo, S.; Duluard, S.; Shao, H.; Harmel, J.; Rozier, P.; Taberna, P.-L.; Simon, P. Exfoliation and Delamination of $Ti_3C_2T_x$ MXene Prepared via Molten Salt Etching Route. *ACS Nano* **2022**, *16*, 111–118.

(373) Zhang, C.; Hutter, J.; Sprik, M. Coupling of Surface Chemistry and Electric Double Layer at TiO₂ Electrochemical Interfaces. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2019**, *10*, 3871–3876.

(374) Jia, M.; Zhang, C.; Cox, S. J.; Sprik, M.; Cheng, J. Computing Surface Acidity Constants of Proton Hopping Groups from Density Functional Theory-Based Molecular Dynamics: Application to the $SnO_2(110)/H_2O$ Interface. J. Chem. Theory Comput. **2020**, 16, 6520– 6527.

(375) Jia, M.; Zhang, C.; Cheng, J. Origin of Asymmetric Electric Double Layers at Electrified Oxide/Electrolyte Interfaces. *J. Phys. Chem. Lett.* **2021**, *12*, 4616–4622.

(376) Shao, Y.; Knijff, L.; Dietrich, F. M.; Hermansson, K.; Zhang, C. Modelling Bulk Electrolytes and Electrolyte Interfaces with Atomistic Machine Learning. *Batteries & Supercaps* **2021**, *4*, 585–595.

(377) Suo, L.; Borodin, O.; Gao, T.; Olguin, M.; Ho, J.; Fan, X.; Luo, C.; Wang, C.; Xu, K. Water-in-Salt" Electrolyte Enables High-voltage Aqueous Lithium-ion Chemistries. *Science* **2015**, *350*, 938–943.

(378) Borodin, O.; et al. Liquid Structure with Nano-Heterogeneity Promotes Cationic Transport in Concentrated Electrolytes. *ACS Nano* **2017**, *11*, 10462–10471.

(379) Horwitz, G.; Härk, E.; Steinberg, P. Y.; Cavalcanti, L. P.; Risse, S.; Corti, H. R. The Nanostructure of Water-in-Salt Electrolytes Revisited: Effect of the Anion Size. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 11564–11572.

(380) Wang, X.; Mathis, T. S.; Sun, Y.; Tsai, W.-Y.; Shpigel, N.; Shao, H.; Zhang, D.; Hantanasirisakul, K.; Malchik, F.; Balke, N.; Jiang, D.-E.; Simon, P.; Gogotsi, Y. Titanium Carbide MXene Shows an Electrochemical Anomaly in Water-in-Salt Electrolytes. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 15274–15284.

(381) Mourad, E.; Coustan, L.; Lannelongue, P.; Zigah, D.; Mehdi, A.; Vioux, A.; Freunberger, S. A.; Favier, F.; Fontaine, O. Biredox ionic liquids with solid-like redox density in the liquid state for high-energy supercapacitors. *Nat. Mater.* **2017**, *16*, 446–453.

(382) Reeves, K. G.; Serva, A.; Jeanmairet, G.; Salanne, M. A First-Principles Investigation of the Structural and Electrochemical Properties of Biredox Ionic Species in Acetonitrile. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2020**, *22*, 10561–10568.

(383) Berthin, R.; Serva, A.; Reeves, K. G.; Heid, E.; Schröder, C.; Salanne, M. Solvation of Anthraquinone and TEMPO Redox-Active Species in Acetonitrile Using a Polarizable Force Field. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2021**, *155*, 074504.

(384) Ouyang, W.; Saven, J. G.; Subotnik, J. E. A Surface Hopping View of Electrochemistry: Non-Equilibrium Electronic Transport through an Ionic Solution with a Classical Master Equation. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2015, *119*, 20833–20844. (385) Dwelle, K. A.; Willard, A. P. Constant Potential, Electrochemically Active Boundary Conditions for Electrochemical Simulation. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2019, *123*, 24095–24103.

Recommended by ACS

Understanding the Electric Double-Layer Structure, Capacitance, and Charging Dynamics

Jianzhong Wu. MAY 20, 2022 CHEMICAL REVIEWS

Exceptionally High Electric Double Layer Capacitances of Oligomeric Ionic Liquids

Michio Matsumoto, Takuzo Aida, et al. OCTOBER 11, 2017

JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN CHEMICAL SOCIETY READ

Combined Computational and Experimental Study on the Influence of Surface Chemistry of Carbon-Based Electrodes on Electrode-Electrolyte Interactions in ...

Sabine Schweizer, Jörg-Rüdiger Hill, et al. JANUARY 11, 2019 THE JOURNAL OF PHYSICAL CHEMISTRY C

107111 11/2019	
IE JOURNAL OF PHYSICAL CHEMISTRY C	READ 🗹

Enhancing Lithium Insertion with Electrostatic Nanoconfinement in a Lithography Patterned Precision Cell

Sylvia Xin Li, Mark A. Reed, et al. JULY 05, 2019 ACS NANO

Get More Suggestions >

READ 🗹

READ 🗹